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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited was incorporated on 13 March 2003 in the Cayman lIslands as an
exempted company with limited liability under The Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and is the holding
company of all the cement and concrete operations of the China Resources Group.

The Company was listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 29 July 2003 by way
of introduction. In 2006, the Company was privatized as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Smooth Concept Investments
Limited (currently known as CRH (Cement) Limited) by China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited and the listing
of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange was withdrawn on 26 July 2006.

The Company was re-listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange on 6 October 2009 by way of a global offering.
As at the date of this report, the total number of issued shares of the Company was 6,982,937,817 shares, of which
China Resources Group is holding approximately 68.72% of the issued shares of the Company.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

In this annual report, the following expressions shall have the following
meanings unless the context indicates otherwise:

“AR”

“associated corporation”

“Board”

“China Resources Group”

“Chinese Mainland”

“CG Code”

“Co-Processing”

“Company”

“CR Holdings”

“CR Power Group”

“CRC”

“CRH (Cement) Limited”

”

“Director(s)

Autonomous Region, PRC

has the same meaning as provided in the
SFO

board of Directors

CR Holdings and its subsidiaries

PRC excluding Hong Kong and Macao
SAR

Corporate Governance Code set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules

co-processing by use of cement kilns

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited, a company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability, the Company’s
intermediate holding company

China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited, its subsidiaries and its
associates

China Resources Co., Limited, a company
established in PRC with limited liability,
an intermediate holding company of CR
Holdings

CRH (Cement) Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
with limited liability, the Company’s
immediate holding company

director(s) of the Company
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“EAJ

“Fujian”

“GDP”

“Greater Bay Area”

“Group”

“Guangdong”

“Guangxi”

“Guizhou”

“Hainan”

“Hong Kong”

“Inner Mongolia”

“Listing Rules”

“Model Code”

“Outline”

“PRC” or “China”

environment, health and safety

fixed asset investments

Fujian Province, China

gross domestic products

Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater
Bay Area

the Company and its subsidiaries

Guangdong Province, China

Guangxi Zhuang AR

Guizhou Province, China

Hainan Province, China

the Hong Kong SAR

the Inner Mongolia AR

the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange

Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules

Outline Development Plan for the
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater

Bay Area

The People’s Republic of China
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DEFINITIONS

(e ] e HEEERE “R&D” research and development

[R5 4 B HemEBHAEEAR  “RunYang Intelligent DongGuan RunYang United Intelligent
~A] Manufacturing” Manufacturing Company Limited

MERfTHIE] 8 PEFIITERR “SAR” Special Administrative Region, PRC

[#%=tEl] g ARFRESEN_TZTNF  “Scheme” the share award scheme of the Company
JLA Z B AR ) 528D adopted by the Directors on 2 September
e WEEER T — 2009 and amended by the Directors as
TF+—A+EHESRA a cash award scheme on 17 November
—IgIR & SR E 2010

[EHMEE 8 TEEPIES/IEBAER “SFO” Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter

1651 BB (A 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

[H78] 8 FEILFEE “Shanxi” Shanxi Province, China

[t B AQTRRAHERAEEB “Share(s)” share(s) of HK$0.10 each in the share
0.107 TTHI R (9 capital of the Company

[P E2ER | B BEER EA BEk “Southern China” encompasses Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian
jistea) and Hainan

Razidl e BABEXZAABMRAR  “Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

ERIRZERER AR

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited




DEFINITIONS
[EFE] 8 HEEEE “Yunnan” Yunnan Province, China
[%&t] B B BEEATEE “HK$” Hong Kong Dollars, the lawful currency of
Hong Kong
AR B ARERL HBXEERE  “RMB” Renminbi Yuan, the lawful currency of
China
Evl 8 FE EBUEEER “Us$” United States Dollars, the lawful currency

of the United States of America

[% ] ¥ Aok “%" per cent
[F] B TREE2 “Kkeal” kilocalorie
N & AT “kg" kilogram
[RE ] B RE “km” kilometer
[FFUk & ToE “kwh” kilowatt-hour
[S775K] B UAK “m3” cubic meter
[F7K] K “mz2” square meter
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited is the largest and the most
competitive cement, clinker and concrete producer in Southern China.
Our operations range from the excavation of limestone to the production,
sale and distribution of cement, clinker and concrete. Our products are
mainly sold in Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian, Hainan, Yunnan, Guizhou
and Shanxi through our well-established waterway, railway and road
logistics networks. Our products are primarily used in the construction
of infrastructure projects such as railways, highways, subways, bridges,
airports, ports, dams, hydroelectric power stations and nuclear
power stations, as well as the construction of high-rise buildings and
development of suburban and rural areas.

As at 31 December 2018, we had ninety five cement grinding lines and
forty five clinker production lines in operation, with annual production
capacity of 83.3 million tons of cement and 61.3 million tons of clinker
respectively. We also owned sixty concrete batching plants with annual
production capacity of 36.3 million m? of concrete. The locations of our
production facilities and their respective production capacities are as
follows:

X 2R Bt
Cement Clinker Concrete
#13/BARE/  Province/AR/ EEGEE BEW 4SELKHE HEE BHUEE=E BEYAK
BRTHRE SAR No.oflines  miliontons ~ No.oflines ~ miliontons ~ No. of plants million m3
=54 Guangdong 24 225 10 144 23 143
=¥ Guangxi 37 332 18 26.5 25 15.2
Gy Fujian 14 10.1 6 7.0 - -
L= Hainan 5 44 3 33 5 30
E£F Yunnan 7 51 4 39 1 06
E M Guizhou 2 20 1 16 - -
[ilpi] Shanxi 6 6.0 3 46 1 0.6
T Zhejiang - - - - 2 1.1
5% Hong Kong - - - - 3 15
Bt Total 95 833 45 61.3 60 36.3

ERIRZERER AR
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In addition, through our equity interests in certain associates and joint
ventures, we owned a total of seventy nine cement grinding lines, thirty
clinker production lines and twenty concrete batching plants with total
annual production capacities of 60.3 million tons of cement, 35.6 million
tons of clinker and 9.5 million m? of concrete. These production capacities
are located in Guangdong, Hong Kong, Fujian, Yunnan and Inner
Mongolia. The respective annual production capacities attributable to the
Company according to our equity interests in these associates and joint
ventures were 20.8 million tons of cement, 11.6 million tons of clinker and
4.4 million m? of concrete.

The Group places strong emphasis on corporate social responsibility. All
of our clinker production lines are equipped with residual heat recovery
generators to reduce energy consumption. The emission levels of nitrogen
oxide, particulate matters and sulphur dioxide are in compliance with
national standards. In addition, in order to promote transformation for
environmental protection and corporate sustainable development, we
actively launch projects of co-processing municipal solid waste, urban
sludge and hazardous industrial waste by use of cement kilns and
strengthen the research, development and application of new products,
new materials and new technologies.
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BT BB ELR AR AEG LSRR LTTE  Our principal cement grinding lines, clinker production lines and concrete
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The cement and clinker production plants
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The cement and clinker production plants with co-processing projects
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The concrete batching plants

BEREERREENKR B EESD

The cement and clinker production plants owned by associates and joint ventures

E 1% 21 Shangri-la SH Puer # 2 Yuebao 578 Wuhai
#%5T Nujiang I 11| Eshan ZRPFEAE Ansha Jianfu A Qipanjing

{#11 Baoshan % Anning XZE4E Yongan Jianfu &7 Qingshuihe

®EECO®
OeEO®®
ORO®®

ZT Yingjiang A2 Zhaotong £ 834 Jinyinhu JBHIER Hailar
$EFE Zhenkang #5% Qujing f®A Lianshi Fa] 22 /& Aronggi
J8 R Cangyuan 77K Jianshui K Haixia

BERALERABHEANRE BREERE MR AR EERN

The cement and clinker production plants with co-processing projects owned by associates and joint ventures
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The cement grinding lines owned by associates and joint ventures
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The concrete batching plants owned by associates and joint ventures
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

DATE

May 2018

May 2018

11 June 2018

July 2018

September 2018

EVENT

Completion of construction and commencement
of operation of the production plant of RunYang
Intelligent Manufacturing, an associate in Guangdong,
which covers the total land area of approximately
26,900 m? with design annual production capacity
of precast concrete components of approximately
40,000 mq.

Acquisition of a plot of industrial land with an
area of approximately 110,000 m? in Yongning
District, Nanning City, Guangxi for the production of
prefabricated construction components. The project is
planned to cover the total land area of approximately
200,000 m? with design annual production capacity
of precast concrete components of approximately
400,000 m2.

Execution of the placing, underwriting and
subscription agreement with CRH (Cement) Limited,
China International Capital Corporation Hong Kong
Securities Limited and Goldman Sachs (Asia) L.L.C.
pursuant to which CRH (Cement) Limited completed
the placing of 450 million Shares at a price of
HK$9.30 per Share and thereafter subscribed, being
allotted and issued 450 million new Shares by the
Company at a price of HK$9.30 per Share. The
transaction was completed on 25 June 2018.

Acquisition of a plot of industrial land with an area of
approximately 180,000 m? in Suixi County, Zhanjiang
City, Guangdong for the production of prefabricated
construction components. The project is planned to
cover the total land area of approximately 210,000
m? with design annual production capacity of precast
concrete components of approximately 400,000 m?.

Acquisition of a plot of industrial land with an area of
approximately 130,000 m? in the High-Tech Industrial
Development Zone of Guigang City, Guangxi for the
production of prefabricated construction components,
with design annual production capacity of precast
concrete components of approximately 200,000 m3.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
—E-N\fF —E—+tF —E—REF
2018 2017 2016
2EH(AEET) Turnover (HK$ million) 38,791.5 29,9584 25,6475
REFE WE HER EBITDA (HK$ million)

BHEnRAN (AERT) 13,729.7 74333 48817
FERAN(BEET) Profit for the year (HK$ million) 8,006.7 3,592.6 1,2616
RRAIEE AELET Profit attributable to owners of

(BBAT) the Company (HK$ million) 7,975.4 3,616.7 1,3259
FREAEF (ET) Basic earnings per share (HK$) 1.179 0.554 0.203

R-ZE-N\§ RIZT—+tF RIZ—RF

+=A=+-8B +ZA=t—-H +ZA=+—H

As at As at As at

31/12/2018 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

EERE(BEAT) Total assets (HK$ million) 60,506.4 56,526.6 52,156.5

ALNRHE ANEEER Equity atiributable to owners of

(B&#T) the Company (HK$ million) 37,691.3 30,309.0 26,006.8

R (BEET) Non-controlling interests (HK$ million) 203.9 1735 2451

fEEE (588 T) (i1 Net borrowings (HK$ million) (note 1) 130.9 11,7073 14,667.7

BEX(#2) Gearing ratio (note 2) 33.2% 56.6% 68.7%

FEEXR (#3) Net gearing ratio (note 3) 0.3% 38.6% 56.4%
FREEFE-RE (B1) Net assets per share — book (HK$)

(i#4) (note 4) 5.40 4.64 398

notes:

it

{E R EFRITIE 2  EIKRE S - ST R 1. Net borrowings equal to total bank borrowings, unsecured bonds, unsecured
BRI RIR AR S RIRITRERARE

BRI TR

commercial paper and unsecured medium term notes less cash and bank balances
and pledged bank deposits.

EERTLRITER SR ES MU ERE 2 Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing the total bank borrowings, unsecured bonds,
7 MR BRI IR A BAR A R R RIS A TG TR

HEo attributable to owners of the Company.

unsecured commercial paper and unsecured medium term notes by equity

SEEER TR EFRER AN GG AE(SiESE 3. Net gearing ratio is calculated by dividing net borrowings by equity attributable to

o owners of the Company.

>

Net assets per share — book is calculated by dividing equity attributable to owners of

FREEFE-REDAARDREAEIEERSHRIA 4
FRENEBITROBEE -

the Company by the number of issued shares at the end of the year.

ZE-N\FEFR
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FINAL RESULTS

The consolidated turnover for the year ended 31 December 2018
amounted to HK$38,791.5 miillion, representing an increase of 29.5%
over that of last year. The consolidated profit attributable to owners
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2018 amounted to
HK$7,975.4 million, representing an increase of 120.5% over that of last
year. Basic earnings per share for the year was HK$1.179.

DIVIDENDS

The Board recommends the payment of final dividend of HK$0.273 per
Share in cash for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: HK$0.155
per Share). Subject to approval by shareholders of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, the final dividend will be distributed
on or about Wednesday, 29 May 2019 to shareholders of the Company
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company on
Friday, 17 May 2019. Such final dividend will not be subject to any
withholding tax in Hong Kong.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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The Board declared an interim dividend of HK$0.275 per Share in cash
for 2018 (2017: HK$0.115 per Share) and the total distribution for the
year ended 31 December 2018 will be HK$0.548 per Share (2017:
HK$0.27 per Share).

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

In 2018, with complex and challenging external environment and in face
of downward pressure on the economy, the Chinese government was
committed to the general principle of pursuing progress while ensuring
stability. The government also pursued high-quality development and
deepened the advancement of supply-side structural reform. The
economy in China was generally stable and maintained medium-high
growth, and the expected growth target was achieved. According to the
statistics published by the National Bureau of Statistics of China, in 2018,
China’s GDP grew by 6.6% over last year to RMB90.0 trillion. National FAI
(excluding rural households) increased by 5.9% to RMB63.6 trillion over
last year.

According to the statistics published by the National Bureau of
Statistics of China, in 2018, the GDPs of Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian,
Hainan, Yunnan, Guizhou and Shanxi, where the Group has business
operations, reached RMBO9.7 ftrillion, RMB2.0 ftrillion, RMB3.6 ftrillion,
RMB483.2 billion, RMB1.8 trillion, RMB1.5 trillion and RMB1.7 trillion,
representing increases of 6.8%, 6.8%, 8.3%, 5.8%, 89%, 9.1% and
6.7% respectively over last year. Meanwhile, the changes in FAI of the
aforementioned provinces were 10.7%, 10.8%, 11.5%, -12.5%, 11.6%,
15.8% and 5.7% respectively as compared with last year.
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During the year, national infrastructure investments remained stable.
According to the statistics published by the National Bureau of Statistics
of China, national infrastructure investments (excluding the industries for
production and supply of electricity, heat, gas and water) increased by
3.8% in 2018 over last year. According to the statistics published by the
Ministry of Transport of China and the China Railway Corporation, FAI on
highways and waterways in China amounted to approximately RMB2.3
trillion in total, and FAI on railway amounted to RMB802.8 billion, which
remained more or less the same as 2017. The total operational length
of highways in China increased by 86,000 km, including 6,000 km
of expressways, to approximately 4,860,000 km. The total operational
length of railways increased by 4,683 km to over 131,000 km. Among
which, the operational length of high-speed rails reached over 29,000
km, representing an increase of 4,100 km. As of the end of 2018,
the operational length of urban rail transit was over 4,900 km and the
operational length under construction exceeded 6,000 km.

In order to maintain effective investment efforts and foster domestic
demand and structural adjustment, in October 2018, the General Office
of the State Council issued the “Guiding Opinions on Maintaining Efforts
to Bolster Areas of Weakness in Infrastructure”, which proposed policies
and measures such as accelerating the launch of preliminary work
and the commencement of construction of projects and securing the
smooth implementation of projects under construction with a focus on
nine major scopes including railways, highways and waterways, airports,
agricultural industry in rural areas and ecological environmental protection.
Following the implementation of these policies and measures, the national
infrastructure investment showed an overall steady growth, which had laid
the foundation for cement demand.

On the back of regulation and control policies on property, the housing
market in China was stable at large and the growth in real estate
investment remained steady. According to the statistics published by
the National Bureau of Statistics of China, in 2018, the floor space of
commodity housing sold in China increased by 1.3% over last year to
1,720 million m? and the sales amount increased by 12.2% to RMB15.0
trillion. Real estate investment in China reached RMB12.0 trillion,
representing an increase of 9.5% over last year. Among which, the
floor space of houses newly started construction increased by 17.2% to
2,090 million m? while the floor space of houses completed decreased
by 7.8% to 940 million m?. As at the end of 2018, the floor space under
construction by the real estate developers nationwide reached 8,220
million m?, representing an increase of 5.2% over last year. The land area
purchased by real estate developers increased by 14.2% to 290 million
m? over last year. Stability of the real estate market will be conducive to the
steady development of the cement industry.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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During the year, the Chinese government promoted new-type urbanization,
and actively advocated policies for rural revitalization and poverty
reduction through transportation infrastructure. According to statistics
published by the National Bureau of Statistics of China, the urbanization
rate in China was 59.58% as at the end of 2018, representing an increase
of 1.06 percentage points over the end of 2017. In addition, according
to the statistics published by the Ministry of Transport of China, the total
operational length of newly built and re-built rural roads in 2018 increased
by 9.8% to 318,000 km over last year and the total operational length of
rural roads reached 4,050,000 km, connecting 99.64% of rural towns and
99.47% of administrative villages respectively with tarmac and cement
roads. The promotion of urbanization and rural construction will provide
support for cement demand.

THE INDUSTRY

In 2018, the cement demand in China grew steadily. Cement price
maintained a stable upward trend due to the increased market
concentration and the improved competitive landscape.

According to the statistics published by the National Bureau of Statistics
of China, in 2018, the total cement production in China amounted to
approximately 2,180 million tons, representing an increase of 3.0% over
last year. According to the statistics of China Cement Association, cement
production in Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian, Hainan, Yunnan, Guizhou
and Shanxi were 160 million tons, 120 million tons, 87.8 million tons,
21.0 million tons, 120 million tons, 110 million tons and 41.3 million tons,
representing increases of 5.6%, 6.3%, 7.6%, 11.8%, 5.9%, 4.8% and
15.7% respectively as compared with last year.

According to the statistics of China Cement Association, in 2018, there
were fourteen new clinker production lines nationwide with new clinker
production capacity of 20.4 million tons in total. According to the statistical
information of the Company, there were three new clinker production
lines in Guangdong and Guangxi with new clinker production capacity of
approximately 4.7 million tons in total.

Regarding industry policies, the Chinese government attaches great
importance to energy saving and emission reduction, production safety
and occupational health. Environmental protection law enforcement and
supervision were reinforced to further improve industry standardization
and promote the sustainable development of the cement industry.

—E-NEER
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In June, the State Council of China issued national policies including the
“Three-Year Action Plan for Winning the Blue Sky Defense Battle”, which
required the cement industry to continuously eliminate excess capacity
and strictly prohibit new production capacity. Only new production
capacity of definite necessity and in an equivalent or a lesser quantity
as compared with the replaced production capacity could be added.
Relocation, transformation, or closure and exit of enterprises in heavy
polluted industries such as cement and chemical enterprises in urban
built-up areas had been expedited. Open-pit mines with indiscriminate
mining and abusive excavation which pollute the environment and destroy
the ecosystem had been required to shut down according to law. This
series of measures will help the cement industry to eliminate obsolete
capacity as well as strengthen the prevention and control of pollution.

Regarding energy saving and emission reduction, the Chinese government
had set clear goals on the total national emissions of sulphur dioxide and
nitrogen oxide as well as the PM2.5 concentrations. The Beijing-Tianjin-
Hebei and neighbouring areas, the Yangtze River Delta region, and the
Fenhe and Weihe Plain (Shanxi, Shaanxi, Henan) were classified as
major regions. Enterprises in steel, coking, building materials, foundries,
non-ferrous metals and chemical industries in these major regions
shall implement off-peak production during heating season. Special
emission limits for air pollutants including sulphur dioxide, nitrogen
oxides and particulate matters shall be implemented in the major regions
and Guangdong. During the year, the Chinese government released a
consultation paper of the national standards relating to carbon emission,
stipulating requirements for cement production enterprises to monitor and
measure greenhouse gas emissions as well as carbon emissions per unit
of clinker products allowed for the existing, new and expanded cement
enterprises. This had laid the foundation for the future unification of the
carbon emission trading market in the cement industry.

In 2018, the Chinese government completed two batches of central
ecological environmental protection “revisit” inspection work. Measures
such as filing cases, penalties, fines, administrative and criminal
detentions were imposed on problematic enterprises. The Ministry of
Ecology and Environment of China would launch the second round of
central ecological environmental protection inspections and “revisit”
inspection work from 2019 to 2023, and intensive inspections in major
regions for the Blue Sky Defense Battle are being conducted from
June 2018 to April 2019 to check industrial enterprises on installation
and operation of facilities for environmental protection, compliance
with emission levels, as well as comprehensive rectification and control
in all aspects such as “small, poorly-managed and heavily-polluting”
enterprises, open-pit mines and dust.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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In terms of cement industry standards, the State Administration for
Market Regulation of China and the Standardization Administration issued
Amendment No.3 to the “General Portland Cement” in November 2018
for the full abolition of PC32.5R grade cement, which would become
effective in China on 1 October 2019. Meanwhile, in November 2018,
the General Office of the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology
of China issued ten cement-related standards including magnesium
phosphate cement, gypsum slag cement and the application of fly ash
from incineration of municipal solid waste in cement in order to further
improve the standards of cement products and promote product upgrade
in the industry.

In terms of mining resources, the Chinese government actively promotes
the construction of green mines by regulations on the areas including
ecological environment in mining areas, scientific excavation, highly
effective use of resources and informationized management. Newly
built mines are required to meet all the requirements of green mine
construction. Supporting policies such as mineral resources, land and
finance are offered. In January 2019, the Ministry of Natural Resources of
China announced the basic information on mining rights and exploration
rights that are within validity periods, which will be conducive to the
standardization and transparent management of the sand and gravel
industry, as well as the promotion of the long-term healthy development of
the industry.

During the year, the Chinese government penalized illegal acts relating
to occupational disease and required rectification within a time limit.
Enterprises which failed to complete rectification would have to suspend
production or even shut down according to law. Moreover, the Work
Safety Committee of the State Council required cement enterprises to
strictly implement production safety accountability systems, promote the
construction of corporate production safety standardization, eliminate
unsafe obsolete capacity and expedite the closure and exit of small-scale
mines, chemical, cement and steel enterprises which did not comply with
the requirements of production safety.

ZE-N\FEFR
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On the other hand, the Chinese government actively promotes the
development of prefabricated construction industry. A prefabricated
building is a building in which some or all components are prefabricated
at factories and then assembled at the work site. Compared to traditional
construction, prefabricated construction can reduce construction waste,
energy consumption, noise and dust pollution during construction, which
will help to improve the levels of quality and safety. According to the
“Thirteenth Five-Year Action Plan for Prefabricated Construction” issued
by the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development of China,
the government aimed at increasing the proportion of floor space of
prefabricated buildings to newly constructed buildings in China to over
15% by 2020, among which, the target proportion in the key development
areas (Pearl River Delta, Yangtze River Delta, Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei) shall
exceed 20%. Over 500 demonstration projects and over 30 technology
innovation bases in more than 50 demonstration cities will be developed.

In August 2018, the Guangdong Municipal Housing and Urban-Rural
Construction Bureau released the “Guidelines for Prefabricated Building
Special Planning in Guangdong Province (Trial)”, which classified nine
cities in the Greater Bay Area as key development areas. The target
proportion of floor space of prefabricated buildings shall exceed 20% by
2020, among which, the target proportion of floor space of prefabricated
construction projects invested by the government shall reach 50%. As
the first pilot city for prefabricated construction in Guangdong province,
Shenzhen Municipality had proposed a target proportion of floor space
of prefabricated buildings to be above 30%. Guangzhou City had also
proposed a target of above 30%. In addition, Nanning City, Liuzhou
City, Hezhou City and Yulin City had been classified as the pilot cities of
autonomous region level for prefabricated construction by the Guangxi
government. In January 2018, the “Plan for Prefabricated Construction
Development in Nanning City (2017-2020)" was published by the
Nanning City government, which aimed to increase the proportion of
floor space of prefabricated buildings in the City to over 20% by 2020.
According to the relevant incentive policies, developers of prefabricated
construction projects in Guangdong and Guangxi are entitled to benefit
from preferential policies such as award of additional floor space for
construction and extension on the implementation scope of pre-sale. The
Chinese government's vigorous promotion of prefabricated construction
will foster the transformation and upgrade of the construction industry,
and bring about new development opportunities for the building materials
industry.

=
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TRANSFORMATION AND INNOVATION

The Group is committed to promoting the green development of
the cement industry, attaches great importance to corporate social
responsibility, and proactively supports the national policies on energy
saving and emission reduction. Co-processing of municipal solid waste,
urban sludge and hazardous industrial waste by use of cement kilns
are proactively advocated. We actively participate in the treatment and
management of social solid waste, air and water pollution for achieving
the transformation into an environmentally-friendly enterprise. At the same
time, the Group is dedicated to the promotion of R&D and application
of new products, new materials and new technologies, actively exploring
opportunities for cement intelligent manufacturing and extension of
industry chain to foster a sustainable corporate development.

Since 2010, the Group had joined the global organization of the Cement
Sustainability Initiative and served as the co-chairman of the China
Region. In September 2018, the Group successfully hosted a special
activity for the Cement Sustainability Initiative on co-processing by use of
cement kilns, during which, the United Nations Industrial Development
Organization and domestic and overseas cement enterprises including
the LafargeHolcim Group, HeidelbergCement and Huaxin Cement
conducted discussions, mutual sharing and studies on technologies and
experiences regarding co-processing by use of cement kilns in order to
jointly encourage transformation, upgrade and green development of
the industry, which raised the significance and influence of the Chinese
cement industry in the worldwide cement industry.

In addition, the Group actively promoted the green development of
the industry. In November, the Group participated in the “Exchange
Conference on Climate Change and Green Development” hosted by
institutions including the Carbon Management Committee of China, and
explored topics such as technologies for carbon capture and storage and
carbon emission trading with experts from the China National Institute
of Standardization, domestic universities and carbon asset management
companies. The Group was also engaged in exchange on the prevention
and control of air pollution and energy-saving technologies at a forum
hosted by China Building Materials Federation with experts from relevant
government departments, domestic and overseas building materials
enterprises, R&D and design institutions, equipment and engineering
service companies so as to jointly promote the sustainable development of
the industry.

In 2018, the Group's continuous efforts in green development were
recognized by the industry and the society. These include:
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

In February 2018, the limestone mines for cement production
at Dingxiang Hill of China Resources Cement (Guigang) Limited
and the limestone mines at Shiling Tou, Lianshan Town of China
Resources Cement (Fuchuan) Limited were included in the
register of the first batch of green harmonious mines by the
Department of Land and Resources of Guangxi;

In February 2018, China Resources Cement (Heqing) Limited was
shortlisted in the second batch of “Green Factories” published by
the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of China;

In April 2018, the Tangmu quarry at Liangtang Town of China
Resources Cement (Luoding) Limited was included in the register
of the first batch of provincial-level green mines by the Department
of Land and Resources of Guangdong;

In May 2018, China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
was awarded the “EcoChallenger” of “BOCHK Corporate
Environmental Leadership Awards 2017" by the Federation of
Hong Kong Industry;

In June 2018, China Resources Cement (Shangsi) Limited was
shortlisted as an energy-efficient “pace-setter” in major energy-
consuming industries in 2017 jointly published by the Ministry
of Industry and Information Technology of China and the State
Administration for Market Regulation;

In August 2018, China Resources Environmental Protection
Engineering (Binyang) Limited was awarded the “Certificate of
High and New Technology Enterprise” by Science and Technology
Department of Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, Department
of Finance of Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region and Guangxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region Tax Service of the State Taxation
Administration jointly;

In November 2018, China Resources Cement (Pingnan) Limited
was shortlisted in the third batch of “Green Factories” published
by the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of China;

In December 2018, China Resources Cement (Shangsi) Limited,
China Resources Cement (Yongding) Limited, China Resources
Cement (Heqing) Limited were respectively awarded the “Hong
Kong Green Awards 2018 — Green Management Award —
Corporate (Large Corporation) — Bronze” by the Green Council of
Hong Kong;
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° In December 2018, China Resources Cement Holdings
Limited was awarded the “Hong Kong Green Awards 2018 —
Environmental, Health and Safety Award (Large Corporation) —
Platinum” by the Green Council of Hong Kong.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited was
awarded the “Hong Kong Green Awards 2018 —
Environmental, Health and Safety Award (Large
Corporation) — Platinum” by the Green Council of
Hong Kong

The Group believes that innovation is one of the core momentums for
long-term corporate development. The Group and Siemens Ltd., China
signed a strategic cooperation agreement in June 2018, and officially
signed the “Agreement for Intelligent Manufacturing Pilot Project in
Tianyang” in September whereby both parties shall jointly build a pilot
intelligent cement production line. The goals of “safety, environmental
protection, excellent quality, high efficiency, low consumption” would
be achieved through an intelligent management system integrating
manufacturing resources, data resources and technological resources.

Regarding the extension of industry chain, given the opportunities from
the vigorous development on the prefabricated construction industry in
China, the Group had further optimized resources distribution through
its positioning in Southern China and actively promoted its prefabricated
construction business. In May 2018, an associate established by the
Group in Guangdong, namely, RunYang Intelligent Manufacturing,
commenced production and operation. During the year, the Group
acquired plots of industrial land for the production of prefabricated
construction components in Nanning City and Guigang City, Guangxi,
and Zhanjiang City, Guangdong, respectively. Construction would be
commenced in the first half of 2019. In the future, the Group will actively
promote the implementation of prefabricated construction projects in other
cities in Guangdong and Guangxi.
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STRATEGIES AND PROSPECT

In 2019, the Chinese government will adhere to the main topic of supply-
side structural reform and consolidate the results of “eliminating excessive
capacity, destocking, deleveraging, lowering costs and bolstering areas of
weakness”. At the same time, the Chinese government will continue to
fight “Three Critical Battles”, including preventing and resolving the major
risks, conducting targeted poverty reduction and controlling pollution,
in order to stabilize employment, financial market, foreign trade, foreign
investments, domestic investments and expectations for maintaining the
operation of the economy within a reasonable range. According to the
Report on the Work of the Chinese government, the target GDP growth in
2019 is 6% to 6.5%.

According to the statistics published by the Ministry of Transport of
China, during the “Thirteenth Five-Year” period, the total investments
in transportation will reach RMB15 trillion, representing an increase
of approximately 20% from RMB12.5 trillion during the “Twelfth Five-
Year” period. Among which, the investments in railways, highways
and waterways will be RMB3.5 trillion, RMB7.8 ftrillion and RMBO0.5
trillion respectively. According to the Report on the Work of the Chinese
government, in 2019, the target FAI on railways is RMB800.0 billion while
the target FAI on highways and waterways is RMB1.8 trillion. According
to the statistics of the China Railway Corporation, the target operational
length of new national railway in 2019 is 6,800 km, among which high-
speed rails account for 3,200 km. According to the “Thirteenth Five-Year
Plan on the Development of Modern Complex Transportation System”
published by the State Council of China, it is targeted that by 2020, the
total operational length of railways in China will reach approximately
150,000 km, among which, that of high-speed rails will reach
approximately 30,000 km, and the total operational lengths of highways
and urban rail transit will reach 5,000,000 km and 6,000 km respectively.

In respect of real estate, in order to promote the steady and healthy
development of the property market, the Chinese government implements
city-specific policies, offers category-specific guidance, consolidates
the main responsibility of city governments and improves the housing
market system and the housing security system. In addition, the Chinese
government promotes strategies for rural revitalization to improve
infrastructure for water supply, power supply and information technology
in rural areas. The government plans to build and re-build 200,000 km of
rural roads in 2019. It is also targeted that, by 2020, impoverished regions
will basically be connected to the main national highways, and county
seats with the necessary conditions will be connected to roads of Grade I
or above.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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In terms of coordinated regional development strategies, the government
is supportive of the construction of the Greater Bay Area. In July 2017,
President Xi Jinping attended the signing ceremony of the “Framework
Agreement on Deepening Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Cooperation in
the Development of the Bay Area” in Hong Kong. In October 2018, as the
world’s longest cross-sea integrated bridge and tunnel highway, the Hong
Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge officially opened, which had further promoted
the mutual access to transportation infrastructure in the Greater Bay Area.

On 18 February 2019, the State Council of China promulgated the
“Outline Development Plan for the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater
Bay Area” with the objective to essentially form the framework for an
international first-class bay area and world-class city cluster by 2022
and fully develop an international first-class bay area by 2035 where
economic system and mode of development would be mainly supported
by innovation. The Greater Bay Area will be built in Hong Kong, Macao,
Guangzhou and Shenzhen as core engines and cities including Zhuhai,
Foshan, Huizhou, Dongguan, Zhongshan, Jiangmen and Zhaoging will
form key node cities by fully leveraging their distinct strengths. In the
future, infrastructure development will be strengthened in the Greater Bay
Area by relying on a rapid transport network involving mainly high-speed
rails, intercity railways and high-grade motorways, as well as port and
airport clusters. It aims to form an efficiently connected spatial network
of major cities and strive for reducing travelling time among major cities
within the Greater Bay Area to one hour or less. In addition, the Outline
proposed to fully raise the quality and level of urbanization, promote urban
renewal based on local conditions and improve the living conditions for
municipal residents.

On the other hand, in order to strengthen environmental protection and
management, the Outline put forward the reinforcement of joint prevention
and control of air pollution in the region, make concerted and coordinated
efforts in reducing the emission of various pollutants, take coordinated
preventive and control measures against pollution caused by ozone and
fine particulate matters, as well as improve levels of detoxifying, reducing
as well as recovering resources from solid wastes. The Greater Bay Area
will have a radiating effect in leading the development of nearby areas. The
Outline proposed to develop a key economic support zone with the Greater
Bay Area as its vanguard and the Pearl River-Xijiang economic zone as its
hinterland, and propel development in South Central China and Southwest
China as well as Southeast and Southern Asia. The gradual advancement
of construction in the Greater Bay Area will drive the regional demand for
building materials such as cement and concrete in the medium to long
term.

—E-NEER
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Looking ahead, under the supply-side structural reform and strict
policies on environmental protection in China, the cement industry will
encounter new opportunities and challenges. Positioning in Southern
China, the Group will seek business opportunities and proactively seize
the opportunities in the construction of the Greater Bay Area. During the
“Thirteenth Five-Year” period, the Group is dedicated to developing the
three core strengths of the “lowest total costs, leading market position
in the region, innovation-driven development”. The Group will further
enhance quality and efficiency of operation, reinforce the construction of
sales channels and brand marketing, strengthen the capability in R&D
of new products, new technologies and new materials for the creation of
competitive advantage by differentiation. Meanwhile, the Group will fulfil
corporate social responsibility, proactively promote waste co-processing
projects by use of cement kilns and foster green development. The
Group will actively grasp opportunities in the development of the Greater
Bay Area and prefabricated construction industry, accelerate the pace
of transformation and innovation, explore the opportunities of upstream
and downstream expansion along the industry chain, continue to seek
strategic cooperation with domestic and overseas leading enterprises for
the joint promotion of the sustainable development of the cement industry
in China.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express our
gratitude to shareholders, customers, suppliers, business partners and
other stakeholders for their attention and support to the Group. | would
also like to express our thanks to my fellow Directors, the management
team and all staff for their dedication to and hard work for the healthy
development of the Group.

ZHOU Longshan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 8 March 2019

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Cement and concrete are basic building materials for infrastructure
projects, property construction and rural development. Cement
consumption is highly correlated to economic development and FAI. As
cement and concrete are heavy building materials, the key to success of a
producer’s business is highly dependent on its core competitive advantage
within the reasonable transportation radius in a competitive environment of
the regional market. The performance of the Group’s business operations
is therefore subject to certain major factors such as the business
environment in the regions where the Group has business operation,
which significantly affects the selling prices of the cement and concrete
products. Besides, coal cost represents the most significant and volatile
component of the cost of cement production. Accordingly, the substantial
fluctuation of coal price poses the other principal risk and uncertainty
affecting the performance of the Group and the cement industry at large.
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POTENTIAL DISPOSAL

As announced by the Company on 5 November 2018 and 27 December
2018, China Resources Cement Investments Limited, the Company’s
wholly own subsidiary, intends to dispose of its 72% equity interests of and
shareholders’ loans to Shanxi China Resources Fulong Cement Limited,
China Resources Cement (Changzhi) Limited and China Resources
Concrete (Lucheng) Limited by public tender.

After careful consideration of the basic information of the potential
purchaser(s) according to the letter from the Shanghai United Assets and
Equity Exchange regarding the feedback on the transfer qualification,
the Company considered that its commercial objective of joint disposal
of the three subsidiaries could not be achieved should the public tender
continue. Accordingly, on 4 March 2019, China Resources Cement
Investments Limited had informed the Shanghai United Assets and Equity
Exchange to revoke the public tender.

Before achieving the commercial objective of joint disposal of the three
subsidiaries, the Company will continuously optimize the operational
management and enhance the operational efficiency and effectiveness.
Our strategic development plan will be adjusted according to the market
conditions in the future if appropriate.

NEW PRODUCTION PLANTS

During 2018, the Group completed the construction of two concrete
batching plants and shut down two concrete batching plants, which
decreased our total annual concrete production capacity by approximately
200,000 m®. There was no addition of new clinker or cement production
line during the year.

CAPACITY UTILIZATION

The utilization rates of the Group’s cement, clinker and concrete
production lines during the year were 102.9%, 113.7% and 39.8% as
compared with 96.3%, 111.5% and 37.2% respectively for 2017.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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COST MANAGEMENT

Operational Management

In 2018, the Group further strengthened internal benchmark
management by optimizing performance review indicators of cement
production plants. Meanwhile, the Group continuously offered
technological support to production plants, with a focus on solving major
technological difficulties and enhancing the operational efficiency of
production plants through the coordination of expert resources such as
technical committee and the Technology Research and Development
Centre. During the year, the Group implemented 166 technological
upgrades, thereby reducing energy consumption, improving performance
indicators and quality of production and operation.

During the year, the Group continuously implemented lean management
and promoted key projects for energy saving and technological upgrade.
Among which, through its independent innovation, the Group had
successfully solved the technological difficulties in controlling water
inrush into the limestone mine of the cement production plant in Pingnan
caused by cave mining. Furthermore, the Group has also been actively
promoting the project for technological upgrade in digital cement bagging
machines. As of the end of 2018, technological upgrade for 106 cement
bagging machines had been completed in total, which had further
enhanced the operational efficiency and economic benefits. In addition,
the Group launched pilot projects for the application of new technologies
such as high-efficiency energy-saving water pumps and new-energy
mining trucks and encouraged technological innovation and development
in non-explosive mine exploration, and research on the application of
online analysis technologies and comprehensive utilization of resources.
In December 2018, the pilot project of the Group and China Resources
Microelectronics Limited for management of equipment and quality at
the cement production plant in Nanning had entered the phase of trial
operation.
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Coal Procurement

In 2018, the Group purchased a total of approximately 10.5 million tons of
coal, among which, approximately 76%, 21% and 3% were sourced from
northern China, neighbouring areas of our production plants and Australia
respectively (71%, 20% and 9% in 2017). The proportion of direct
procurement from coal producers increased to approximately 79% (77%
in 2017). In the future, the Group will continuously strengthen cooperation
with large-scale domestic coal suppliers, adjust the strategies of imported
coal according to the national policy on coal import and maintain the
procurement channels of imported coal in order to secure a stable supply
of high-quality coal.

Logistics Management

Logistics management is one of the Group’s key measures in maintaining
its market competitiveness. In 2018, the total social logistics costs
were on a rising trend due to the strict control on vehicle overloading,
environmental protection inspections and increasing energy costs.
During the year, the Group actively optimized the layout of silo terminals,
introduced resources of self-unloading ships and promoted the pilot
operation of the “Smart Card” unmanned intelligent delivery system
in order to enhance the requirements of environmental protection and
minimize the impact of rising social logistics costs.

During the year, the Group is dedicated to providing excellent services
to customers and continuously enhancing the standards of logistics
digitalization. The Group’s “Smart Card” system had been launched at
fourteen cement production plants, which significantly increased delivery
efficiency. In addition, the Group had rolled out its mobile application for
placing sales orders of cement products in all the regions where the Group
has business operations.

In 2018, the annual shipping capacity of the Group along the Xijiang River
was approximately 36.4 million tons, which secured stable and continuous
logistics capabilities for the Group’s business operation. In addition, the
Group controlled the operations of 41 silo terminals with annual capacity
of approximately 28.4 million tons, which are mainly located in the Pearl
River Delta Region of Guangdong. This consolidated the Group’s leading
market position in Guangdong.

=
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BRAND BUILDING

In 2018, the Group proactively launched the “Brand Building Year”
development strategy. The strategy aimed to enhance the brand image
and reputation through standardizing brand management, designing
brand image promotion, enriching modes of brand promotion and
incorporating major themes such as the opening of Hong Kong-Zhuhai-
Macao Bridge and the Runfeng brand anniversary celebration. During the
year, the Group launched the brand mascot “Run Xiaofeng” to deepen the
brand image of “Runfeng Cement” and promote brand communications.
In addition, the Group further promoted franchise stores of the brand
image and cooperation schemes with key users to intensify brand
penetration of target customers such as distributors, retail stores and key
users.

“Runfeng” Brand Promotion Activities held at Nanning City, Guangxi
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INNOVATION, RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Capability of Research and Development

China Resources Cement Technology Research and Development Centre
was established in 2016. As of the end of 2018, there were 45 specialized
employees, including 4 doctors and 16 masters. Among the R&D
personnel, 2 were professorate senior engineers.

The Group applies for patent licenses for its various R&D achievements.
In 2018, the Group was newly granted 29 patent licenses, which mainly
included new products, equipment and systems for energy saving,
emission reduction and enhancement of production and operation
efficiency. As of the end of 2018, the Group held 139 patent licenses,
including 22 inventions and 117 utility models.

In 2018, the laboratory of the Technology Research and Development
Centre provided 3,046 checks and tests for the Group’s production plants,
effectively supporting lean operations of production plants. During the
year, the laboratory of the Technology Research and Development Centre
conducted optimization projects for production plants including Fengkai
and Huizhou in Guangdong, Hepu in Guangxi and Caoxi in Fujian. Energy
consumption at production had been further reduced and product quality
had been enhanced by optimizing major oxide ratio of clinker and the
workmanship of raw materials grinding, as well as diagnosis of thermal
engineering.

On the other hand, the Group conducted R&D on numerous new
products and new technologies to meet the needs of different markets
and customers. The Group designed high-performance marine cement to
cater for the specific requirements for the construction of the Hong Kong-
Zhuhai-Macao Bridge, which had effectively prevented the formation of
cracks on concrete and had high impermeability and corrosion resistance.
During the year, the Group launched masonry cement M22.5 in Shanxi
with a focus on the renovation market. At the same time, the Group
launched R&D and production of high-calcium clinker, as well as the
development of various new products and new technologies such as
engineered stones and coal combustion technology.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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All-Staff Innovation

The Group is fully aware of the importance of strategic innovation
development for the transformation and upgrade of the traditional
cement companies. The Group continuously improved its innovation
system through enriching innovation activities and encouraging all-staff
innovation in order to promote the implementation of innovation initiatives
and boost effective and sustainable development. During the year, the
Group held the annual Innovation Conference to share our innovation
achievements with our staff. At the same time, the Group made full use
of its innovation platform to lead interactions for all-staff innovation and
unleash enthusiasm for innovation. The Group actively organized seminars
and training on innovative projects and formulated plans for promoting
innovation projects, in order to stimulate all-staff innovation through
scientific methods. In 2018, the Group identified 15 propagable innovative
projects which offered effective channels the Group to put its innovative
achievements into practice, including the improvement of bag filters for
achieving ultra-low dust emissions during cement production and the
industry-academia collaborative research project to solve workmanship
quality issues.
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EXTENSION OF INDUSTRY CHAIN

On the back of the government's encouragement on the development
of prefabricated construction, and in combination with the development
strategy for extension of industry chain, prefabricated construction
business is one of the key new businesses for the Group’s future
development.

The Group and Shenzhen Capol International & Associates Co., Ltd.
established an associate, namely, RunYang Intelligent Manufacturing,
with design annual production capacity of precast concrete components
of approximately 40,000 m®. The associate, which is held as to 49%
by the Group, had commenced production since May 2018. The
associate is dedicated to providing customers with systematic solutions
to prefabricated construction which integrate product design, production,
manufacturing, construction and installation. Currently, the products are
mainly supplied to public housing and commaodity housing projects in
Shenzhen Municipality.

AEE ) —F B E LT BGEER —F—NFLARALE

The Group established an associate “RunYang Intelligent Manufacturing”, which commenced production in May 2018

ERORERABR AR

36

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



SRR E )N L
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

& E AR BRI B PR R T BT A - IR
REAARERBNEREE -

T—)\F0A FAEBIEFERANEREE
M ‘é% 2hAREEXERNELAZERBTE
E T - %78 B A 848 F 3 78 #9200,000°F
J3 K BRETEFEBEKI400,00032 77 K « AE B HAS
TEFAMEELI110000F 75K  FEA R =T — N
FEFFRTER - —ERETIBHL (FERL
600,00032 77 K) Fast i — T — NEFRKRE RR
TREBHEERENN T —FRATRE

—N\F A NREB BN ERAET
MFEFREIL TERNRACEERRBHT
IR B B8 T XM - %08 B AR S ARt miE4
21OOOOTr7i/+ R & EEREHJ400,0003Z 77 K © R

B 35¢15 T3 A E IS 49180,000°F /5K » F8ET —
T-NFEFFRTIESR —MRRLEREN
AR (RETEFAERE2000003 5 K — T =
TEREE-

—N\FIA AEERGURERSEN S
%ﬁﬁifﬁ?%@ﬁ’]—iﬁ%%@ﬂﬁk SRBBIEE
T XM EAE4I130,000F 5K - sREHFERLL
2000003277 7K - TA B FEFTR — T —NL5F L+ FF
Tiesk e —BERA L P A (4 ERE R600,0003L
; ﬁ‘ﬁﬁ%ﬂr_f—jlif RE RRIIARBMNAE
ERFEAN T _TFhRE-

—N\ENLR REEXRIZEMBRFFRY
m/F'zEJE%WWrJrﬂ%TﬁI?E 7 BEME R $A)§i
HE - REPRHEGHRB AR =

BESN - REB ERREGEZRIZANEF R
e KRB FEDEENOR ORERL - BRHEER
AREXEBOHRES BREX-BIERR
E—-FRESEENZOBTES -

The Group is also proactively negotiating with local governments in
Guangdong and Guangxi to explore development opportunities for the
prefabricated construction business.

In May 2018, the Group successfully won the bid for an industrial land
in the Wuhe Lingang Industrial Park, Yongning District, Nanning City,
Guangxi, for the production of prefabricated construction components.
The project is planned to cover the total land area of approximately
200,000 m? with design annual production capacity of approximately
400,000 m3. The Group acquired a plot of industrial land with an area
of approximately 110,000 m?. It is expected that construction would
commence in the first half of 2019. A concrete batching plant with annual
production capacity of 600,000 m? is expected to commence operations
in late 2019, and the production line for precast concrete components is
expected to commence operation by the end of 2021.

In July 2018, the Group successfully won the bid for an industrial land
in the Lingbei Industrial Park, Suixi County, Zhanjiang City, Guangdong,
designated for the project of a modernized factory of prefabricated
construction components. The project is planned to cover the total land
area of approximately 210,000 m?with design annual production capacity
of approximately 400,000 m®. The Group acquired a plot of industrial
land with an area of approximately 180,000 m?. Construction is expected
to commence in the first half of 2019 and the production line for precast
concrete components in the first phase with design annual capacity of
200,000 m? is expected to commence operation in mid-2020.

In September 2018, the Group acquired a plot of industrial land with
an area of approximately 130,000 m?in the High-Tech Industrial
Development Zone of Guigang City, Guangxi for the production of
prefabricated construction components, with design annual production
capacity of approximately 200,000 m?. It is expected that construction
of the project would commence in the first half of 2019. A concrete
batching plant with annual production capacity of 600,000 m? is expected
to commence operation in late 2019, and the production line for precast
concrete components is expected to commence operation in mid-2020.

In September 2018, the Group established a wholly-owned subsidiary,
namely, Shenzhen Runfeng New Materials Technology Company Limited,
which is responsible for the operation and promotion of new products and
offers systematic services and solutions to customers.

In addition, the Group is exploring opportunities to develop the aggregate
business in the regions where the Group has business operations. In
the future, the Group will fully utilize the synergetic advantages in its
businesses of cement, concrete, aggregate and prefabricated construction
to achieve integrated business development and further consolidate the
Group’s core competitive advantage.

—E-NEER
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Turnover

The consolidated turnover for the year ended 31 December 2018
amounted to HK$38,791.5 million, representing an increase of 29.5%
from HK$29,958.4 million for the last year. An analysis of segmental
turnover by product is as follows:

—E-N\fF e 3
2018 2017

HE B/ IBK WE B/ K
T THEER EXE ¥ THER BEE
W,/ L HK B THx  WB/IAK BT THET

Average Average

Sales selling Sales selling
volume price Turnover volume price Turnover

'000 HK$ per '000 HK$ per
tons/m? ton/m? HK$'000 tons/m? ton/m? HK$'000
K Cement 82,602 3778 31,207,149 75,895 301.2 22,861,292
Rt Clinker 4,033 3289 1,326,334 7,948 256.6 2,039,790
BET Concrete 14,231 4397 6,257,987 13,458 3758 5,057,346

Fabrs Total
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BEBT
6,258 31,207
1,326 7/'
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38,791,470 29,958,428

In 2018, our external sales volume of cement, clinker and concrete
increased by 6.7 million tons, decreased by 3.9 million tons and
increased by 773,000 m3, representing an increase of 8.8%, a decrease
of 49.3% and an increase of 5.7% respectively over 2017. During the
year, approximately 71.5% of the cement products we sold were 42.5 or
higher grades (67.2% in 2017) and approximately 38.9% were sold in
bags (45.0% in 2017). Internal sales volume of cement for our concrete
production was 2.9 million tons (2.8 million tons in 2017), representing
3.4% of the total volume of cement sold (3.6% in 2017).

Segmental turnover by product
HK$ million

K Cement 5,057 22,861
ZEl Clinker 2040 /'

@ jB% L Concrete
2017
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RoZE—\F REELEE|DHKRBHEEL  Our cement sales by geographical areas in 2018 were as follows:
T

—g-N%F e
2018 2017

HE BSWYYEE EEHE HE BWTHEE 2XR
TH B TER T BT FET

Average Average
Sales volume selling price Turnover  Sales volume selling price Turnover
Eh/BRE Province/AR '000tons  HK$ per ton HK$'000 '000tons  HK$ per ton HK$000
ER Guangdong 31,339 4188 13,125,328 30,465 3157 9,616,748
7] Guangxi 25,765 348.4 8,977,758 21917 2770 6,070,908
3= Fujian 10,082 362.8 3,658,008 83872 2784 2,470,247
ik Hainan 5,030 411.0 2,067,217 5,337 3579 1,910,290
£ Yunnan 4,896 3584 1,754,755 4922 3307 1,627,346
BN Guizhou 2,361 319.5 754,235 2,140 256.5 548,891
il Shanxi 3,129 278.0 869,848 2,242 2749 616,362
@&t Total 82,602 377.8 31,207,149 75,895 3012 22,861,292

RZE—NF B - AR MERTHTFIIEE  The average selling prices of cement, clinker and concrete in 2018 were
2R AEWE377 878 7T - BMAR28 OB T B 7K HK$377.8 per ton, HK$328.9 per ton and HK$439.7 per m? respectively,
43078 BT —+FED RIS 4% - 282%  representing increases of 25.4%, 28.2% and 17.0% respectively from
F17.0% - R AKRERSIBERFHSEIR  2017. The average selling prices of our cement products increased due to
RE  AEENCRERTTHIEE LA —F—/\  stable demand for cement products and improved competitive landscape
FHYRRTFHEE L REMAEMES EFM  during the year. The increase in average selling price of concrete in 2018
SEBEMAIE N reflected the higher cost of production due to the increase in materials
prices.

RitEE D HKEHEE Cement sales volume by geographical area
F g '000 tons

2,361 3,129 2,140 2,242
&R Guangdong

&P Guangxi
&3 Fujian
Y8R Hainan
ZF Yunnan
&M Guizhou
78 Shanxi

31,339

30,465

eree®0
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Costs of sales

The consolidated cost of sales of the Group comprised coal, electricity,
materials and other costs, which represented 33.4%, 11.9%, 32.5% and
22.2% of the cost of sales respectively for the year (33.4%, 13.0%, 30.9%
and 22.7% in 2017 respectively). As for cement products, coal, electricity,
materials and other costs represented 39.7%, 14.2%, 22.0% and 24.1%
of their costs respectively for the year (39.0%, 15.1%, 21.6% and 24.3%
in 2017 respectively). Materials cost is the major component of the cost of
sales of concrete, representing 90.9% of the cost of sales of concrete for
the year (89.7% in 2017).

The average price of coal we purchased in 2018 was approximately
HK$751 per ton, representing an increase of 6.2% from the average
price of HK$707 per ton in 2017, while the average thermal value of coal
decreased by 0.6% to 5,219 kcal per kg. During the year, our unit coal
consumption slightly decreased to 147.2 kg per ton of clinker produced
from the average of 147.3 kg in 2017. Our standard coal consumption
decreased to 106.5 kg per ton of clinker for the year from the average of
106.9 kg in 2017. As a result of the increase in coal price, our average
coal cost for the year increased by 6.1% to HK$110.5 per ton of clinker
produced from HK$104.1 in 2017.

Our average electricity cost increased by 0.3% from HK$31.0 per ton
of cement to HK$31.1 for the year. During the year, we enjoyed the
benefits of lower electricity tariff for a total of 3,926.7 million kwh of
electricity consumed (3,434.8 million kwh in 2017), which accounted for
59.4% of the total electricity consumption for the production of cement
products (54.7% in 2017), and saved HK$211.0 million (HK$153.7
million in 2017) under direct power supply agreements and price bidding
arrangements. Our electricity consumption remained steady at 73.0 kwh
per ton of cement for the year (73.1 kwh in 2017). Our residual heat
recovery generators generated 2,098.6 million kwh of electricity for the
year, representing an increase of 2.5% over 2,046.5 million kwh in 2017.
The electricity generated in 2018 accounted for approximately 31.7% of
our required electricity consumption (32.6% in 2017) and we achieved a
cost saving of approximately HK$1,036.8 million for the year (HK$1,013.0
million in 2017).

Other costs mainly comprised staff cost, depreciation, and repairs and
maintenance cost. Repairs and maintenance cost included in the cost of
sales of cement products for the year was HK$947.6 million, representing
an increase of 7.9% from HK$878.1 million in 2017.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



BEES MR Nifr
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

HREmMBHERANE

SLIVEP
$53.1 $87.2
(24.1%) (39.7%)
$48.3
(22.0%) $31.1

(14.2%)

$219.7
(100.0%)

ERNREFNR

RZT—\F - #7E& FEH £15420,0000008 7T -
8 = 2 —F#)9,230,500,0008 L8 1167.1% * T
REEFER308% BT —LFH308%IL N
QOEE 7 & - NEFEE AR EF R EMHEINE
EHRAEEERNEER T —LtF LM
BN T )\F KR B ORRLENEK
DRI R429% - 399% K24.2% - T —ZF —+4F 85
B 532.4% ~ 26.0%525.8% °

He A

T \FeEMUA R574,300,0008 7T B
T—+5F#9370,900,000/8TTIE HN54.8% © Itk Jh 2
AT 82N  F SUASA K & R BERT
ZE—+F 5 R 096,300,000/ 7T + 65,100,000
78 7T 538,300,000/ TCATEL ©

HERDHER

KT —\F #HE N #HE M %31,985,200,000
BT =T — £ 4§ 11,783,600,000/% 7T 18 N
11.3% Wk DEEHRIRKA LTS -#HE
EoEBERGGAEXBENA T —tF
#16.0% Np& 2 —F— \FH5.1% o

Cost structure of cement products
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Gross profit and gross margin

The consolidated gross profit for 2018 was HK$15,420.0 million,
representing an increase of 67.1% from HK$9,230.5 million for 2017 and
the consolidated gross margin was 39.8%, representing an increase of 9.0
percentage points from 30.8% for 2017. The increases in consolidated
gross profit and gross margin for the year were mainly attributable to the
higher selling prices of our products compared to year 2017. The gross
margins of cement, clinker and concrete for 2018 were 42.9%, 39.9%
and 24.2%, as compared with 32.4%, 26.0% and 25.8% respectively for
2017.

Other income

Other income for 2018 was HK$574.3 million, representing an increase of
54.8% from HK$370.9 million for 2017. This was mainly due to increases
in government incentives, interest income and sales of raw materials
and scrap by HK$96.3 million, HK$65.1 million and HK$38.3 million
respectively as compared with 2017.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses for 2018 were HK$1,985.2 million,
representing an increase of 11.3% from HK$1,783.6 million for 2017.
This was mainly due to the rising logistics costs. As a percentage to
consolidated turnover, selling and distribution expenses decreased to
5.1% in 2018 from 6.0% in 2017.

—2— \FEH
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General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses for 2018 were HK$2,544.7 million,
representing a decrease of 4.9% from HK$2,675.9 million for 2017.
During 2017, an impairment of goodwill in respect of our operations
in Shanxi in the amount of HK$78.9 million was made. There was no
impairment of goodwill recorded in 2018. As a percentage to consolidated
turnover, general and administrative expenses decreased to 6.6% for
2018 from 8.9% for 2017.

Exchange gain

An exchange gain of HK$104.5 million was generated from non-RMB
denominated net borrowings of the Group mainly due to the appreciation
of RMB against other currencies during the year (HK$263.7 million in
2017).

Share of results of associates

The associates of the Group contributed a profit of HK$181.9 million for
the year (HK$20.6 million in 2017) of which profits of HK$17.0 million,
HK$26.3 million and HK$136.5 million respectively (profit of HK$28.9
million, loss of HK$42.0 million and profit of HK$31.8 million in 2017)
were attributable to the Group’s associates operating in Inner Mongolia,
Fujian and Yunnan respectively.

Share of results of joint ventures

Our joint ventures principally operating in Guangzhou area contributed
a profit of HK$220.9 million for 2018 (HK$78.3 million in 2017). The
improved performance of the joint venture was mainly attributable to the
higher selling prices of cement products in Guangdong during the year,
which was in line with the Group’s operation in the vicinity.

Taxation

The effective tax rate of the Group for 2018 was 29.4%, as compared
with 26.4% for 2017. Had the effect of the results of associates and joint
ventures, the exchange gain, the unrecognized tax losses as well as the
withholding tax in the Chinese Mainland for dividends and the deferred
tax on the intended distribution profits from subsidiaries in the Chinese
Mainland to a holding company in Hong Kong been excluded, the
effective tax rate of the Group for 2018 would be 24.9% (25.7% in 2017).

=
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Net margin

Net margin of the Group for 2018 was 20.6%, which was 8.6 percentage
points higher than that of 12.0% for 2017.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s cash and bank balances and
pledged bank deposits included the following amounts:

R+=HA=+—H
—Z2-N\F —ET—tF
¥ ¥
As at 31 December
2018 2017
'000 ‘000
BIT HK$ 1,763,654 268,075
AR RMB 9,299,880 4,324,284
ET us$ 514 383
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As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s banking facilities amounted to
HK$4,300.0 million and RMB12,950.0 million, of which RMB8,754.2
million was unutilized and remained available for drawdown. The total
bank loans of the Group amounting to HK$9,088.6 million equivalent
(HK$13,562.6 million equivalent as at 31 December 2017) comprised
loans in the following currencies:

R+=HA=+—H
—ZE-N\F —E—+F
¥ T
As at 31 December
2018 2017
'000 ‘000
BIT HK$ 4,300,000 4,300,000
AR RMB 4,195,800 7,220,000
= us$ - 80,000
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The bank loans of the Group as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December
2017 were unsecured.

As at 31 December 2018, bank loans of the Group which carried
interests at fixed and variable rates amounted to HK$4,788.6 million and
HK$4,300.0 million respectively (HK$8,637.3 million and HK$4,925.3
million respectively as at 31 December 2017).

In 2016, the Company was granted an approval by the National
Association of Financial Market Institutional Investors of PRC for the
issuance of medium-term notes in an aggregate amount of not more than
RMBO9.0 billion and commercial paper in an aggregate amount of not
more than RMB4.5 billion in China. On 5 September 2016, the Company
completed the issuance of the first tranche of the medium-term notes in
the amount of RMB3.0 billion at the coupon rate of 3.50% per annum for
a term of five years which will expire in September 2021. These medium-
term notes are unsecured and remained outstanding at 31 December
2018.

Under the terms of certain agreements for total banking facilities of
HK$7,666.8 million equivalent with expiry dates from January 2019
to December 2022, CR Holdings is required to hold not less than
35% of the issued share capital in the Company. Under the terms of
certain agreements for the total banking facilities of HK$7,666.8 million
equivalent, the net gearing ratio of the Company (as may be adjusted
to exclude certain non-tangible assets) shall not exceed 180%. The net
gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2018, calculated by dividing
net borrowings by equity attributable to owners of the Company, was 0.3%
(38.6% as at 31 December 2017).

The Group's business transactions were mainly carried out in HK$ and
RMB. The Group’s exposure to currency risk was attributable to the bank
balances and debts which were denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the entity to which these bank balances and
debts were related. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency exposure. However, the
management regularly monitors the relevant foreign currency exposure
and will consider taking appropriate measures to control the risk arising
from significant exchange fluctuations. These will include hedging
significant currency exposure and/or increasing the proportion of RMB-
denominated borrowings of the Group should the higher interest costs
be considered justifiable against the risk of exchange losses. The Group
was not engaged in any hedging contract as at 31 December 2018 and
31 December 2017. As at 31 December 2018, non-RMB denominated
debts accounted for 34% of the total debts of the Group (29% as at 31
December 2017).

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2018, there was no charge on assets by the Group
(Nil as at 31 December 2017).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had issued guarantees to banks
in respect of banking facilities in the amount of RMB1,815.6 million
(RMB1,715.6 million as at 31 December 2017) granted to associates,
of which RMB1,640.2 million (RMB1,666.6 million as at 31 December
2017) had been utilized.

ISSUE OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Pursuant to the placing, underwriting and subscription agreement dated
11 June 2018, the Company issued 450 million ordinary Shares at a price
of HK$9.30 per Share in cash to CRH (Cement) Limited, the Company’s
immediate holding company. The gross funds raised was HK$4,185.0
million and the net proceeds, after deducting all professional fees and
other out-of-pocket expenses, was approximately HK$4,180.3 million,
representing a net issue price of approximately HK$9.29 per Share. The
closing price as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 11 June 2018 was
HK$10.32 per Share. Details of the placing and the top-up subscription
were disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 11 June 2018
and 25 June 2018.
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BE5RAA RN BITEEEAQATNER  The Board considered that the abovementioned issue of Shares has
A S/ FEMARBNT strengthened the capital base of the Company. Details of the use of net
proceeds are as follows:

BEBRAEH FACBHAEE BB AKX

FET FHET
Amount Amount Expected
intended utilized during timeline of
Intended use of to be utilized the year utilization

P8 BENETE AR net proceeds HK$'000 HK$'000
BRERAEERER Development of prefabricated 1,672,000 66,900 —E-—F A
construction business By 2021
BRERER Development of aggregate business 1,254,000 - ZEZ—FFHum
By 2021
BEES Repayment of debts 836,000 836,000 A
Not applicable
ReEEe General working capital of the Group 418,279 418,279 TEA
Not applicable

it Total 4,180,279 1,321,179

Br EXCETIRFESN AR RISEATMMEAGIMEE  Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
RERNETEMBBIRARBEFEITNESESEE  carried out any fund raising activities in respect of issue of equity securities
Eo during the year.

A6 — EAAERBERAR
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ARFFEREAXRZH FUTURE PLAN AND CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
BEARLXH Capital expenditure

R-ZE—N\F+-A=+—8 KAEEGAELE Asat 31 December 2018, the Group had outstanding capital expenditure
E A # R A& A 52 A2,288 500,00008 7T for production plants under construction in the amount of HK$2,288.5

HEEEEMFIENT million. Details of these production plants are as follows:
R-E-—t% R-B-NfF
BHEAN t=A=t-~H ER tZA=t-H

St EAXE ENRE  HBEERXH
BERT BERT BEBT BERT

Outstanding

capital

Total capital Expended Expended expenditure

expenditure as at during as at

EE Projects for the project 31/12/2017 the year 31/12/2018

HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

ARNUAEMNZIEMREES  Construction of production lines in Anshun City,

(KERARBBTE Guizhou, with total annual capacities of 2.0
4375l 52,000,000 million tons of cement and 1.4 million tons of
1,400,000 ) clinker 15245 355.7 219.1 949.7
ERRBEFREIMMERS  Construction of a production plant for
BERBHEESN (RE prefabricated construction components with
FE#EA400,00032 5 K) design annual capacity of 400,000 m® in
Zhanjiang City, Guangdong 462.8 - 694 3934

AR EREETHERS  Construction of a production plant for
BEBHEESN (RFFEE  prefabricated construction components with
8% 5400,0003 77 K ) design annual capacity of 400,000 m® in
Nanning City, Guangxi 5569 - 24.2 h327

FRUNERSETNERS  Construction of a production plant for
BEBHAESN (RAFEE  prefabricated construction components with

£ 5200,0003 7 K ) design annual capacity of 200,000 m® in
Guigang City, Guangxi 2383 - 239 2144
HE N ERRT BN Construction of six concrete batching plants
CRRIMBFELA with total annual capacity of 3.3 million m* of
3,300,000 57 K) concrete 1983 - - 1983
Bt Total 2,980.8 355.7 336.6 2,2885

—E-NEER
Annual Report 2018 47




BEE WA iR
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

XNEARZH
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Payment of capital expenditure

In addition to the capital expenditure on the production plants under
construction, the Group had outstanding payment for the construction of
production plants completed in the previous years, which have already
been included under other payables in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2018. Total payments for capital
expenditure of the Group are expected to be approximately HK$1,583.3
million and HK$1,032.0 million in the years 2019 and 2020, which will
be financed by proceeds from placing of Shares and internally generated
funds.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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This report aims to enhance open communications with and address the
issues concerned by our shareholders, investors, stakeholders and the
public on the Group’s philosophy, implementation and performance on the
two main scopes of environmental and social responsibilities.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

This report is prepared mainly with reference to the principles and
provisions of the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide
set out in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules.

SCOPE OF REPORT

This report mainly includes the statistics and information for the year
ended 31 December 2018, as well as comparative data of previous years.
The main scope of report covers ninety five cement grinding lines, forty
five clinker production lines and sixty concrete batching plants of the
Group. Unless otherwise stated, this report does not cover the Group’s
associates and joint ventures.

A. ENVIRONMENT

The Company proactively fulfils its social responsibilities as
a corporate citizen, vigorously implements green production,
reduces emission of pollutants and strictly complies with relevant
laws and regulations. According to the requirements of national,
industrial and local laws and regulations, the Company carries
out prevention and control of air, water and noise pollutants. The
pollutant emission levels of all production lines met or were better
than the national and local standard limits of pollutant emission.
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1. BBy 1. EMISSIONS
AEBBRSETEHERAERE The Group strictly complies with the laws and regulations relating
WO MK R T EEE T B EREEEE to air and Greenhouse Gas emissions, discharges into water and
YIEEERER MR EpaiE: land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste,

including but not limited to:

o (hEARKMBIRFREE) e Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of
China
o (PEARKEMBIKTSEAE) e Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and

Control of Atmospheric Pollution

(R AR AFEIKSREEE) e law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and
Control of Water Pollution

o (hEARKEMEHGEEEDSRIRRE e Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and
basy Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste
o (hEARZLMBEIRZERE S e law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and
ey Control of Environmental Noise Pollution
o (hEARKMBIRFRER L) e Environmental Protection Tax Law of the People’s Republic of
China
o (FEAREMBIRBZETEE) e Environmental Impact Assessment Law of the People’s

Republic of China

ORI ERRSAMFITAE) e Emission Standard of Air Pollutants for Cement Industry

ERIRZERER AR

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

50



RIERHBERIRSE
ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

REBEARRIT ERIOREEF M)
[EHSEIRfR] MEIRIRIGEIRME R T8
BB FEETR R SR BFMEDR B IR
PSR - AKENEREEFERRE
RITRERRAHIRERRERRE
HENOBEEEMERR RENLEE
HEETEERHE MR EEKE
HB RN RHERR -

AEBEN T RERSNRE PR RORE
T AESERRETIEELNBIRYR
WE AWk _atHmE - AEEH
ARHEEREYHRIE BRI IR
REHEATUER - YRR HBREEH
B YT - AR R R BT S SR R
ot dh AR KR MR ARERR WS
FUMIEERE ARYREY - Ran - i am - 1E3R
AL EBETELEMNERY -

We strictly implement the “EHS Management Series” of
the “Management Manual” of the Company and monitor
the environmental management system by issuing definite
requirements on the monitor and management of pollutant
emissions relating to co-processing projects. The Group’s star-
grading management appraisal system sets targets based on
the results of industry benchmarking or internal benchmarking.
Comprehensive appraisal on the environment, health and safety
aspects of every cement production plant is conducted, which
enhances the management standard and fosters corporate
sustainable development.

During the production and manufacturing process of our major
products (namely, cement, clinker and concrete), the Group
mainly emits pollutants including dust, Nitrogen Oxides and
sulphur dioxide. Fully enclosed delivery is adopted during
materials treatment and delivery process at all the clinker
production lines of the Group. Materials are loaded and unloaded
in a sealed indoor environment. At the same time, hermetic
measures were taken to collect particulate matters. Besides, the
Group applies the dust that is collected from highly-effective bag
filters in our raw materials, semi-finished products and finished
products in order to recycle the solid waste produced during the
production process.
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The Group proactively promotes green development. Currently,
all our cement production plants have obtained permits for
pollutant emission, and all our clinker production lines have been
equipped with residual heat recovery generators, denitration
systems and bag filters. The Group introduced composite
desulphurization technology having regard to the operational
situation of the existing desulphurization systems. As of the end
of 2018, the Group had completed the construction of 3 sets of
wet-process desulphurization systems and 11 sets of composite
desulphurization systems. The Group applies filter technology
for ultra-low emissions at some production lines, promotes the
mobile dust collection technology of cement packaging trucks,
and implements technological upgrade of cement packaging
machines for further reduction of emission of particulate matters.
In 2018, the Group completed the application of mobile dust
collection technology for 100 cement packaging trucks, which had
enabled the compliance with national requirements of “Quota of
Occupational Access to Harmful Factors at Workplace” (GBZ2.1-
2007) for the dust emitted during packaging and delivery.
Technological upgrade for 106 cement bagging machines had
been completed and the automatic bagging technology had also
been successfully applied at the cement silo of China Resources
Cement (Jiangmen) Limited. These have improved the working
environment of cement bagging, enhanced the automation level of
the equipment and effectively reduced the emission of particulate
matters.

The Group has established a platform at headquarters to monitor
the emissions of environmental pollutants, thereby achieving
the headquarters’ real-time monitor on pollutant emissions of
all production lines and alarm system for further raising the
risk management capability on pollutant emissions. Besides,
the headquarters of the Company issues timely notifications
of environmental alarms based on the circumstances of
environmental protection in the industry and policy development.
Each production plant is required to conduct risk inspections on
prevention and control of air pollution and ecological environment.
Effective management and technological measures have been
adopted and contingency measures have been stipulated to
prevent the occurrence of breach of environmental law.

Our emission levels of Nitrogen Oxides, sulphur dioxide and
particulate matters are lower than the national standard limits of
pollutant emissions, placing the Group at a leading position in the
industry.
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Data of pollutants emitted from the major discharge outlets of
the Group’s cement production plants for the years ended 31
December 2016, 2017 and 2018 is set out as follows:

ARCUHENRE —HLmBERE
Emission of Nitrogen Oxides Emission of sulphur dioxide
- Mg tons
tons
43164 41513 39877
3,984
2016 2017 2018 2016 2017 2018

FRYHERE
Emission of particulate matters
W tons

2,812 0472 2 361

2016 2017 2018

HitEgEEY T m AEEEERERIEE
A RO BE MO TR IR MR - REH
MRXMEELMBETTRIE

AEERRERAEENRDETE 2K
KPR BB RO SEEERY
2HEATNA BREETHN HFH
ERARHRE R ANAEE-

FERRBERUT T - AR ETRIG S I TR
HIRBE AR &% - /AR E BT S
— 1R - ARERNERE K TR 18
EE SR TRIATER — T — S E s
PERCER B B e LS REBE 1% (F
BOREERFREREBHMZE AR
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Regarding other wastes, the waste oil generated in the production
process is recycled for lubrication of mechanical equipment, and
the oil barrels are handled by qualified institutions.

Waste-free or less-waste technology has been adopted at the
Group’s mines with virtually no discharge of wastewater. In order
to achieve zero discharge of waste residue, harmless wastes such
as waste slag and stones are all compositely utilized. Accumulated
argillaceous aggregates could be used in production later on.

Regarding carbon emission, the Group actively participated
in meetings relating to carbon emission organized by industry
associations in preparation for the future unification of national
carbon market. 9 plants in Guangdong province and 5 plants in
Fujian province had settled the carbon credit quota for 2017. In
addition, the Group had completed the calculation of quantity of
carbon emissions for 2018 in accordance with the “Guidelines for
Accounting and Reporting Greenhouse Gas Emissions for Cement
Enterprises”.

-2 N\EER
Annual Report 2018 53




RIERHBRMIRS
ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

EIRE R

REBERALRETE R 5 M EIsLRBE
EEEE) BE HEERRETERER
BETHR ARFHAEEREAEER
B I RLIR S BRI A R AL P A o
BEON RE B TRFF B BT 4D REIR Y T
15 T2 ERELRNER  BINAMERT)
A - SRR IRIR XTI E - B BE R A e
s EAIHE -

AEEMMAKEEEEMEERAEER
B R EBRFIOBEEBIE
RELANBRADKEC AT RRER
MR R AR POBRE ARG
FORZERE I AH RIFRLE e
REWE - HABIEAENEEE W
DITAIHERAN—E -

REE—HARSEERKERMREL
1 RS EEHHAK - BRAK-FTEE
ESUREEMEEREKERRR &
B AR RBEKEBEITIR A L SUE R B
W REVBE B RGN ERAVKRGEE
TBIRFIA - ESKINIE e —F— \F - A%
EHKE SR £20,977 6221  KER
SRR E RO TAT RS

ERIRZERER AR

54

2.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

USE OF RESOURCES

The Group has an energy management system and the policy
“Supervision and Management of Energy Saving and Emission
Reduction”. All resources consumed during production process
are measured for the assessment of operational performance of
the production plant in order to enhance utilization rate of energy
and resources as well as economic benefits. In addition, the
Group persistently encourages energy saving mainly through the
use, saving and recycling of energy, investment of environmental
protection technologies for energy saving, technological upgrade
on emission reduction, R&D and innovation.

All the cement production plants of the Group are equipped with
residual heat power generation system. The pure low-temperature
residual heat power generation system would recycle and convert
the residual heat generated during the process of cement
production into electricity. It raises the efficiency of energy use,
reduces coal consumption, alleviates air pollution and greenhouse
effect, and brings about good economic, social and environmental
benefits. Relevant data is set out in the costs of sales section of the
Management Discussion and Analysis.

The Group has always placed strong emphasis on protection
of water resources and actively promotes conservation and
recycling of water. All production lines have been equipped with
intensive biochemical water treatment system. Treated domestic
wastewater is used for gardening in the factories or discharged in
compliance with standards. No sewage is discharged as the water
from residual heat power generation systems and cooling water
production systems is fully recycled. In 2018, water consumption
of the Group was 29,977,622 tons and intensity of water
consumption was 349.7 kg per ton of cement produced.
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BRERXARER 3. ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL
RESOURCES

HEREE Co-Processing

REB K B EalH HEB 4 E N In reliance on independent innovation, the Group promotes co-

T MBS R TEEREY — ([EAEEN processing projects in the three scopes of municipal solid waste,

WREEEE  ERITHAEE TR urban sludge and hazardous industrial waste in order to fulfil its

B RIRER  BERMEMNBEERE- corporate social responsibility whilst supporting environmental

transformation and achieving sustainable corporate development.

REEMAKEERRREEEREEY) Compared to traditional landfilling, co-processing of solid waste
BREFREZFAKNBEN LHER mA through the use of cement kilns enables the Group to substantially
BRFAENSRER —RAEEE 54 save land resources and eliminate poisonous pollutants such
v B [BE BEL BRI A as dioxin by effective use of heat inside cement kilns, thereby
ERAEE ERNERRE achieving waste treatment in a “hazard-free, mass-reducing and

recyclable” manner and creating a healthier living environment for
local residents.

ZE-N\F AEBFEUANER SIS During 2018, the Group launched new projects including the
M IEEREVHREEERE RER hazardous industrial waste Co-Processing project in Changjiang
FR 5 82 AN 22 R R SR A8 B VB B 175 [R) County, Hainan, the municipal solid waste Co-Processing projects
BEHEE  UARBE AN ERBES in Tianyang County, Guangxi and Midu County, Yunnan, as well as
B ERIR B RIEEIRE - BE =T the municipal solid waste Co-Processing project of an associate in
—N\FE AEERBEE7EARRREEER Fengqing County, Yunnan. As of the end of 2018, the Group had 7
S co-processing projects in total.

BfglsE T Details of the projects are set out as follows:

15 B i B kR BREREN MR

Project Location Type Processing Capacity Status

BEAES Yol 8 A B 3R & H300088 EER

Binyang, Guangxi Municipal solid waste 300 tons per day In operation

ErREG 48 A U BT 3R & H500M18 B

Tianyang, Guangxi Municipal solid waste 500 tons per day In operation

ErEE MHO5 R 5 H300MA BEH

Nanning, Guangxi Urban sludge 300 tons per day In operation
BRI BT H 3004 EEh

Guangzhou, Guangdong* Urban sludge 300 tons per day In operation

=3=2]=pAN TEEBEY & 430,000 AEZ

Changjiang, Hainan Hazardous industrial waste 30,000 tons per year In trial operation
EEREE S0 A VE BT 3R H300mE HES

Midu, Yunnan Municipal solid waste 300 tons per day In trial operation
EmEE* 348 A U BT 3R 9 H3000E EE

Fengging, Yunnan* Municipal solid waste 300 tons per day In trial operation

i MR A B A RIMKRAEEE M *note: Located in the cement production plants of our associates and joint ventures.
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WREENRIBEEESE
Municipal solid waste co-processed
T tons

166,000

93,300 82,400

2016 2017 2018

TRERENHEEEE"

Hazardous industrial waste co-processed*
W tons

8,700

6,700

2017 2018

Y R -RNFERIEEREYHBRLEERE

*note: no hazardous industrial waste co-processing project in 2016

ERKORERABR AR
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Data of waste co-processed by the Group’s cement production
plants for the year ended 31 December 2016, 2017 and 2018 is

set out as follows:

mBE R EEEE*
Urban sludge co-processed*
W tons
49,700 49,300
29,500
2016 2017 2018

it T RB0% EKEIRIFT
*note: 80% moisture content for wet sludge
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TR EE B R TG 55 R B 3 4 A ) E 0 IR 15 Rl e TR S IR A GE &
The Group's municipal solid waste co-processing project in Tianyang County, Guangxi had completed construction and
commenced operation

BEREAFA

AEEBBBCEERT  BRMAITE
BEE AR BEAEEIR FRERERE BIR
BROEATA AN S RIRERY)
FRE BEL BREEE SR
RIEREFLEGER - NEER AR
NIRRT REBEREIREETHIER - K
o AEBERRORAOELEREE A
RE EBECERECTT - FIA100%E A0
A BRI - B FRE -

Composite Utilization of Resources

The Group achieved reduction of energy consumption and
composite utilization of resources through optimization of the
production prescription and effective use of resources such
as industrial waste and stone residue. Composite utilization
of resources is conducive to the mass reducing, hazard-free
and recycling disposal of social aggregate solid wastes, which
is a proactive contribution of environmental protection to the
community. The Group is dedicated to research and exploration of
the application of industrial wastes in cement production. Among
which, the Group launched projects for composite utilization of
stone residue resources which successfully utilized 100% stone
residue for the production of special types of cement through
optimizing the prescriptions of raw materials.
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Data of industrial waste utilized by the Group’s cement production
plants for the years ended 31 December 2016, 2017 and 2018 is
set out as follows:

Quantity of industrial waste utilized
‘000 tons

21,840

IRBEEGENAE
T
18,670
2016
WL
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HE - SEFRK BHNER REAESA
FIRE R - ARG A RREY IR RAFEY
BEILRZER THEBER - ML IREMAL
EEENRMERAL-
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HRFREE - NEERBEAKE R
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Ecological Restoration of Mines

The Group places strong emphasis on ecological restoration to
the mines. We confirm a work approach of scientific planning,
reasonable mining, resources conservation, promotion of
harmonious development between human beings and the nature
as well as green, ecologically and environmentally friendly mining
enterprise. Restoration of mines is included in the production,
operation and long-term development plans of the Company.

Environmental assessments must be conducted for new projects
and damages on the ecology in the course of development and
construction are avoided to the greatest possible extent. For
the mining areas, through reutilization of water resources in the
mines, there is zero discharge of wastewater. Measures for timely
recycling of waste oil and application of shock reduction and
weak shock blasting technologies are taken, in order to reduce
the impact of production and operation activities on ecological
environment and ensure existence and continuity of species in the
region. After completion of mining, the soil would be recovered
by planting rattan plants for the gradual restoration of vegetation
such that the surface vegetation coverage rate would reach or is
basically close to that prior to mining for the gradual restoration of
ecological balance. For unexplored areas, the Company delimits
protected and prohibited areas in order to protect indigenous
vegetation and animal species as well as reduce species
migrations as a result of human factors.



RIERHBERIRSE
ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

HE_Z—N\F+_A=+—HIEF As of the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group had
B AREETREBEILESAmERT AL completed ecological restoration of its mines with a cumulative
1,861,100 75 K © area of approximately 1,861,100 m?.

FEENKE (BE)BIRL AIEILIEARZ EH

The appearance of the mines of China Resources Cement (Heqing) Limited after ecological restoration
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B. SOCIAL

| - EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

The Group regards our employees as the most valuable resources for
our corporate survival and development. We provide and create a broad
career development platform and opportunities for the employees to
display their individual talents.

1. EMPLOYMENT

General Information

In order to better reflect the work functions of each staff by
classification, since 2018, the Group had re-classified the roles
relevant to the functions of safety, environmental protection and
R&D from “finance and administration” to “technical staff”.
“Quality control” staff had been re-classified as “production staff”
or “technical staff”. Logistical staff had been re-classified from
“production and technical” function to “sales and marketing”. The
restated data for 2017 according to the above new classifications
is disclosed below.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group employed a total of 20,301
full-time employees (20,592 as at 31 December 2017) of whom
159 were based in Hong Kong (159 as at 31 December 2017)
and the remaining 20,142 were based in the Chinese Mainland
(20,433 as at 31 December 2017). Employee attrition rate was
6.4% (7.8% as at 31 December 2017). A breakdown of our
employees by function is set out as follows:

R-ZE—N\F R-ZT—+F
+=A=+—-8B +=-—A=+—H”

As at As at

31/12/2018 31/12/2017

=gz Management 393 390
W7 ITE R HAth Finance, administration and others 2,648 2,672
HEEAEB Production staff 11,753 11,996
Kir A& Technical staff 4,618 4,633
ZIHAB Sales and marketing staff 889 901
FEE Total 20,301 20,592
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REWEID R E BRI T A breakdown of our employees by age is set out as follows:

R=B-N\F AT
+=A=+-8 +=A=+-H

As at As at

31/12/2018 31/12/2017

2958 M AT 29 or below 3,648 4,501

30E395% 30to 39 8,635 8,612

40Z495%, 40 to 49 6,524 6,294

5088 M A 50 or above 1,494 1,185

@t Total 20,301 20,592

RURETHNES RURBIINEERE
Employees by gender Management by gender
83% 83% 89% 89%

17% 17%

11% 11%

2017 2018 2017 2018
@ =it © S @ =t © B
Female Male Female Male
RUBEEEINEERE EEEFIIFiR
Management by education level Average age of management
74%
65%
28%
22%
2017 2018 2017 2018
@ KBEHE © KRB L&
Post-secondary education University degrees or above
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We offer our employees remuneration packages mainly on the
basis of individual performance and experience and also having
regard to common practice in the industry, including basic wages,
allowance, performance related bonuses and other staff benefits.

Laws and Policies

The Group strictly complies with the laws and regulations relating
to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare, including but not
limited to:

e Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China

e [abour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China

e law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of
Minors

e Regulations on Paid Annual Leave of the Employees

e Special Rules on the Labour Protection of Female Employees

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations, the Group
has formulated well-established internal human resources
policies and management systems to protect the legal rights and
interests of our employees in every aspect such as recruitment,
compensation, welfare, promotion, rest periods and departure.
We explicitly prohibit any form of discrimination and potential non-
compliance matters.
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Labour Standards

The Group prohibits employment of child and forced labour.
We never employ minors aged below 16 pursuant to the Labour
Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Provisions on
Prohibition of Using Child Labour. In strict compliance with the
Provisions for Special Protection of Under-Aged Labour, the Group
adopts special labour protective measures to minor workers aged
above 16 but below 18 to protect their legal rights, interests and
health. Employees must truthfully provide their personal data
at commencement of employment. Cases of holding forged
identification documents or providing false personal data, once
found, will be handled as serious violation of the Group’s policies
and the relevant employee will be dismissed immediately.

Care for Employees

The Group is dedicated to enhancing the working environment
and team ambience for its employees. Various group activities
were organized for better physical and mental health of our
employees, such as staff birthday parties, festival celebrations,
sports activities, photography competitions and fitness activities.
During the year, we organized activities for the staff health day
which was blended with group fitness, brand promotion, family
activities and talent shows in order to enhance our employees’
sense of belonging to the Company through learning with
entertainment and to promote corporate culture.

The Group has always paid keen attention to caring for employees.
To understand their practical difficulties and needs as well as
to care for and follow up with the improvement on their living
conditions, we regularly visit employees in need and their families
with solicitude. Regards and blessings are sent to them during
festivals, which reflected our corporate spirit of humanity and
care. In 2018, the Group and its employees donated a total
amount of approximately RMB2,326,200 to the “China Resources
Cement Gratitude Fund”, which aims at caring for and helping the
employees in need. Employees in need were subsidized with a
total amount of approximately RMB325,800. In addition, the cash
awards to management teams of key tax-paying enterprises for
2016 and 2017 granted by the Shenzhen Municipal Government
to the Group in the total amount of RMB4,000,000 was donated to
the “Gratitude Fund”.
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PRODUCTION SAFETY AND
OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH

The Group is in strict compliance with the Production Safety
Law of the People’s Republic of China and promulgated the
“EHS Management Series” in the “Management Manual” of the
Company accordingly for the stringent implementation, monitor
and continuous improvement on the occupational health and
safety management system, reinforcement of safety management
on stakeholders and proactive launch of supervisions and
inspections. In 2018, the Group promulgated and implemented
the “Regulations on Accountability of EHS Incidents”, the
“EHS Accountability System of Positions” and the “Operating
Procedures for Production Safety of Cement/Concrete Production
Plants”. The EHS accountability assessment system is also
continuously improved as all regional headquarters, departments
and production plants had entered into the “EHS Responsibility
Pledge”. In order to enhance production safety, the Group
persistently explores and applies new technologies with respect to
management of silo clearing, construction and use and promotion
of ground station for prefabricating mixed explosives, commuter
vehicle monitor system and dust control.

In 2018, the Group conducted annual large-scale safety
inspections on 36 cement production plants. Safety inspections
on the mines of 8 production plants were rolled out. On-
site supervision on the repairs and maintenance as well as
management of counterparties was done at 13 cement production
plants. 17 concrete plants were inspected and assisted.

The Group is committed to production safety standardization
and raising the overall standards of safety management through
continuous improvement on fundamental management and
innovative management models. As of the end of 2018, 28
cement production plants of the Group have passed the on-site
assessments as the First-Class Enterprise in National Production
Safety Standardization. Pilot construction of a First-Class Mine
of Production Safety Standardization commenced at the cement
production plant in Tianyang. Currently, the Group has 212
specialized safety management personnel, including 55 registered
safety engineers (205 and 44 respectively as of the end of 2017).
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In terms of safety training, the Group actively implemented safety
training and combined online and offline training methods. Videos
of safety emergency drills were uploaded on i-Learning, the
Group’s online learning platform, to encourage our staff to self-
study. In 2018, the aggregate duration of safety training for the
Group’s staff amounted to approximately 348,800 hours, whereas
that for counterparties amounted to approximately 62,500 hours.

In addition, the Group organized a wide variety of safety activities
to promote all-staff participation in safety management, arouse
corporate safety culture and implant the concept of safety
management in staff, families and society. During the year, the
Group organized the EHS Knowledge Competition with a total of
323 teams in participation. 991 emergency drills were conducted
with a total of 15,914 participants in attendance. 85 safety open
days were held with a total of 2,685 participants in attendance.

The Group is in strict compliance with the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on the Prevention and Treatment of
Occupational Diseases and formulated the “Regulations of
Occupational Health Management” accordingly. Currently, the
coverage rates of OHSAS18000 occupational health safety
management system and staff body check are both 100%.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group strongly believes that talent is the key to corporate
development, puts strong emphasis on building teams of talents
and continuously improves the mechanism for talent development.
The Group also attaches great importance to staff training.
Integrating the needs for business strategies, job requirements and
personal development, the Group has gradually improved various
talent development systems, combined online and offline training
platforms, and steadily perfected the curriculum system, lecturer
system and management system to provide a secure supply of
talents for the Group’s business development. In 2018, China
Resources Cement College organized a total of 46 training courses
with 2,600 participants. During the year, in order to complement
our new business development, the Group launched three phases
of co-processing talent development projects and developed 13
talent development courses for innovative new businesses such as
prefabricated construction and intelligent manufacturing.
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At the same time, the Group continuously optimizes its online
learning platform to achieve the unification of functions and
contents across the three terminals of mobile phones, computers
and tablets. We fully utilize the Internet Plus platform to build an
effective mechanism for self-learning. In 2018, approximately
20,200 participants attended online training for a total duration of
approximately 69,600 hours.

According to the statistics of the Group’s internal human resources
system, 99.3% of our employees were trained for the year ended
31 December 2018. Percentage breakdown of employees trained
by gender and function are set out as follows:

“E-N\ERBEAINIIEI L
Percentage of employees trained
by function in 2018

99.7% 995% 991% 99.6% 99.3%
EHE M- 1TH EEAE HITAE  BHAS
Management  JEfth Production  Technical ~ Sales and
Finance, staff staff  marketing staff
administration
and others
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Il - OPERATING PRACTICES

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group persistently improves its supplier management
measures and continuously optimizes its self-developed supplier
relationship management system, in order to manage and provide
guidance to 8,007 suppliers (6,631 in 2017) regarding their
admission, cooperation, evaluation and performance feedback
for the joint establishment of a transparent, traceable, stable,
long-term and sustainable supply chain. Corporate strategies
and characteristics of procurement materials are taken into
account when we set the criteria for development and selection of
suppliers. Outstanding suppliers are introduced through multiple
channels. We would procure from the outstanding suppliers
on a priority basis provided that their prices are consistent with
our target costs. Suppliers which require rectifications would be
provided with our timely feedback on their weaknesses, offered
relevant assistance and examined on their rectification results
upon the deadline. The substandard suppliers would be removed
from our eligible supplier database.

The Group requires our suppliers or business partners to fulfil
certain responsibilities, including compliance with laws and
regulations, environmental protection, integrity operations and
quality assurance. “Integrity Terms of Suppliers” are incorporated
in all our procurement contracts, which all suppliers are required
to enter into and comply with. In addition, the Group pays keen
attention to management of suppliers on safety and environmental
protection by incorporating relevant requirements into our review
on suppliers’ qualification and supervision during the cooperation
process. All business partners are required to sign the “Safety
and Environmental Protection Agreement”. At the same time,
“Sunshine Procurement” has been regarded as the Group's
primary principle of procurement practice. All procurement staff
and suppliers are required to sign the “Sunshine Declaration” and
implement “Things to Note when Procurement Staff are in Contact
with Suppliers”, attend educational training on integrity at least
twice a year and sign the “Integrity Practice Guideline” for creating
an open, fair and just trading platform of good faith.
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During the cooperation, our procurement staff carries out real-time
management on every procurement step by continuous monitor of
the latest corporate development and operations of the suppliers to
ensure both parties’ fulfillment of their own obligations. The Group
will never work with suppliers with any dishonest behaviors, will
add them to our blacklisted supplier database and prevent any
further cooperation with them through their re-registration of new
companies.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

We wholeheartedly provide quality service to our customers on
the customer-oriented principle, whilst upholding the core values
of honesty and trustworthiness and strictly abiding by business
ethics. By improving communications with customers and taking
the utmost care of the rights and interests of our customers
and consumers, we have met or even exceeded our customers’
expectations for enhancing our customer satisfaction.

Pursuant to the “Quality Management Series” in the
“Management Manual” of the Company, there are clear and
stringent requirements on managing every detail of production
process, including for the management quality standards of
materials, coal, raw materials and clinker to ensure appropriate
management and compliance with the quality requirements
in each step. The “Management Measures for Grinding
Agents (2017 version)” and the “Management Standards of
Coal Sampling and Preparation” of the Company were issued
successively in 2018, standardizing the acceptance inspection
and use of incoming raw fuel materials through stabilization
of quality of incoming raw materials for further stabilization of
product quality. Laboratory equipment, repairs and maintenance,
inspection requirements, operating guidance, environmental
configuration and filing records are all standardized and covered in
the management manuals, which offer guarantee on the product
quality assurance and ensure up-to-standard product quality. The
process of quality check is as follows:
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Quality Planning

To produce cement products according to market
demand, and reasonably arrange resources of mineral
admixture.

To test each batch of incoming raw materials.
To carry out general surveys on the quality of raw

material resources at the production plants, and build a
comprehensive record of resources.

Quality Control

To supervise and test the production process of clinker
and cement on a 24-hour basis by quality management
department.

To monitor each step throughout the production process,
and implement quality assessments.

Quality Assurance

To conduct comparative tests in cooperation with the
National Quality Supervision and Testing Center for
Cement.

To conduct special sample checks on quality with full
coverage from raw materials to products twice every year,
and focus on investigation, control and management
of toxic substances including chloride ions, hexavalent
chromium and radioactive substances.

Quality Improvement

To conduct market research for providing front-end
services for production.

To continuously improve the products based on
customers’ feedback after use.

To roll out innovative research at the Technology Research
and Development Centre.

No products sold or shipped were subject to recalls for safety and

health reasons for the years ended 31 December 2016, 2017 and
2018.
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Besides, the Group had set up standards for managing quality
incidents which identify and diagnose the incidents, provide
solutions to handle substandard products and offer compensation
standards, recall mechanism and process flow. Once discovered
and confirmed that substandard products have left our factories
or there are serious quality issues in the process of using the
products, we would immediately inform the relevant customers to
stop using or isolate that batch of products, organize recall on that
batch of products if unused, confirm and compensate damages to
customers. We will also conduct investigation and analysis on the
quality incidents, formulate rectification measures and account for
responsibilities, and verify the rectification results.

The Group relies on a comprehensive and effective quality
management system to manage and evaluate the quality of
our products. Key quality indicators of production process and
products had been incorporated into the scope of performance
appraisal of the operating regions and production plants as a
continuous drive for better quality of all departments through
performance management, so as to provide consumers with
products of excellent quality. The Group also continuously
enhances its management standards in terms of quality and
workmanship technology through the implementation of various
lean improvement projects.

In 2018, the Group persistently advocated the philosophy of
anticipative customer service and a series of solutions dedicated to
offering more “advanced and concurrent” support service, thereby
giving timely feedback to salespersons and customers when
product performance indicators fluctuated beyond the agreed
range. We also focus on standardizing domestic concrete mix
and use at construction. Meanwhile, customer service officers of
each cement production plant regularly visit customers and widely
collect comments and suggestions from customers to stimulate
improvement on production, sales and service for better customer
satisfaction.

In 2018, the Group designated staff from customer service
department at our operating regions and quality management
department of our cement production plants to handle our
customers’ complaints within 24 hours, and achieved a handling
rate of 100%.
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The Group collects and compiles information from customer
visits, customers’ complaint handling and product sampling on
a monthly basis. Customer complaints are categorized and we
closely follow up on the fluctuations of product indicators, quality
issues of packaging bags, as well as customers’ demands and
suggestions on production and delivery of products. We also
improve product quality based on the feedback suggestions.
Since mid-2018, we had formulated rectification plans to address
significant issues of quality, packaging and delivery and we would
continuously follow up on the progress of rectification.

During 2018, the Group produced various videos of “standard use
of cement” for retail clientele of bag cement in Guangdong and
Guangxi, leading domestic customers with correct instructions
of use during construction, preparation of self-mix concrete,
pouring, plastering and conservation. The videos were broadcast
at exchange meetings for key users in each region. QR codes of
the videos have been posted on the cement stores at our operating
regions. Users are encouraged to watch the videos by scanning
the QR codes for enhancing their knowledge on the use of cement
products.

The Group pays keen attention to the protection of intellectual
property rights by proactively initiating protection on intellectual
property. The “Methods of Managing Patents” and “Brand
Building Operating Guidelines” of the Company are implemented
for the continuous promotion of trade mark registration, right
confirmation and copyright registration in accordance with law
and for the vigorous defense of our rights and crackdown on
counterfeit goods.

The Group treats customer data as core trade secrets.
Customer data is under strict protection pursuant to the relevant
management requirements including “Regulations on Managing
Confidentiality Work of China Resources Cement Holdings
Limited” and “Management Measures on Trade Secrets of China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited”. Independent files are
created for all customer data with designated staff in charge of
data collection, filing and update. We also set up management of
access rights to make enquiry on the relevant data. Meanwhile, in
order to ensure security of customer data, we strictly manage the
grant of access rights to our systems to make inquiries and export
information of our customers’ transactions in our information
systems.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION

According to the Criminal Law of the People’'s Republic of China,
the Group's staff management measures and policies, no person
is allowed to take advantage of his position to demand and receive
bribery or obtain benefits by improper means. It is also not allowed
to blackmail, conduct fraud or money laundering. Once identified,
the staff will be dismissed and blacklisted. Significant cases will be
reported to the police or judicial authority.

The Group always places strong emphasis on and continuously
strengthens the work for integrity cultivation and probity education.
In 2018, a total of 352 senior and middle-level management staff
submitted their integrity reports; a total of 357 senior and middle-
level management staff participated in the group discussions on
integrity; 410 senior and middle-level management staff signed
the “Commitment Letter on Integrity and Self-Discipline”; and
a total of 7,097 participants were benefited from the “integrity
education delivered to door” and the alert education activities.

The Group is committed to maintaining good corporate
governance with an emphasis on the spirit of accountability and
a high level of transparency. We formulated the “Whistle-Blowing
Policy”, which has been published on the Company’s website
to encourage our employees and parties who deal with us (for
example, customers, contractors, suppliers, creditors and debtors)
to report any misconducts within the Group. At the same time, we
maintain smooth whistle-blowing channels including telephone,
visits and the internet. All investigations on non-compliance issues
are handled seriously.

None of the Group or its employees were involved in any
corruption litigation cases for the years ended 31 December 2016,
2017 and 2018.



RIERHBERIRSE
ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

-+ BERE

AEEBR2EY R ADRE TE BB
BRACRER BB ABNEERER
STEBHERRE WAE RS Wi
FRERSABEMRRELBRMEE A5
EESESE AR LA EEMTREERD
IS HENAER I AR A R R
FoWFFHIBERUERENRET
1 BBREXY XA EX BESK
LHBEEE) BBAER FREERE R
AE - 2ERRER BT - MRERERIRE -
NEFRITEN O & - SOMBRBR S
REZRBENEZEY—F-

111 - COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group proactively participates in community service work.
Through donations of cement products, we help surrounding
towns and villages in the construction of roads, repairs of bridges
and improvement on local infrastructure. We also make donations
in cash or in kind to underprivileged regions and families in need
to solve their practical difficulties. The Group regularly organizes
for each regional headquarters and production plants to visit and
express solicitude to elderly care institutions, the elderly without
family and the general public in need in the neighbouring villages.
We are very concerned about education for children in the
underprivileged mountainous regions and help to create a better
learning environment and ambience through donations of clothes,
stationery, books, study grants and arranging subsidized schooling,
thereby creating a healthy, stable and harmonious community
environment and making contribution to the society with practical
actions. Data of external donations is set out in the charitable
donations section of the Report of the Directors.

ZRKE (FH)ERAGIHE FRAR] FREE HEEER ZEE
Ceremony for donation support to underprivileged children hosted by caring “Dandelion” volunteer association of China
Resources Cement (Pingnan) Limited
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iz — BB EABERRS APPENDIX 1: GLOSSARY

BERE BiE a1 bk R Greenhouse Gas(es) Include carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide,
TR -@RKE hydrofluorocarbons, perfluorocarbons and
Y- 2H ik kA sulphur hexafluoride.

MmERE-

MIERHRETEE BHEMNBLAMEREE Pure low- Power generation using the residual heat
R R R BE AT R temperature of medium-and-low temperature waste gas
O BT EEEE residual heat discharged from the emission ends of the kilns of
MR BHENBETE power generation the cooling machine, with no fuel consumed or
RS- pollutants produced.

it g R 4 IO EERS S Vet Denitration system  System which prevents excessive emission of
EEBEZHRE/S Nitrogen Oxides from the combustion process
RIRE RO BREND within the cement kilns for the purpose of
MEEMERERPR environmental protection by reducing the amount
=R ESS of Nitrogen Oxides generated and eliminating

Nitrogen Oxides in the flue gas.

R BREE SR PASR 3 4 R B R Bag filter Dry-type dust filter devise for collecting fine,
EHMBEAREERE- dry, non-fiber dust through the application of
BARBEMA)D % the main principles of bag-type fiber filter and
KRR EME gravitational settling.

FBERE -

KEEBREE MAKXKEEZESR ® Co-processing Processing of solid wastes which meet the
M RAEFE SmE by use of requirements for entering kilns, whether with
A BTERIRE W E A cement kilns or without pre-treatment, in a “hazard-free,
ZZRMEEBEYIEA recyclable and mass-reducing” manner by
KRB EHEFTK inputting the solid wastes into cement kilns for
AR EENRGER combustion, taking advantage of the features
HEBREY M EE of cement kilns including high temperature,
BRI -BELREEB alkalinity and large capacity during production of
2o cement and clinker.

gzl et AReftyE—ERER Nitrogen Oxides A type of air pollutant, a majority of which comes
REFRY KEBH KB from the combustion process of fossil fuel. It is a
bR RE R g RIR key factor of formation of acid rain and smoggy
EHKER BEAR weather, and is harmful to human respiratory
MEZHEE ¥ ABT system. It is mainly comprised of nitric oxide and
TEEGEER-EE nitrogen dioxide.

BEE—ALAN=A

(o
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Ffi ek — : BRI NIEE APPENDIX 2: KEY PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS (“KPI")
—E-N\EF —+F Z—ZE—RF
2018 2017 2016
REWEEmE (W) (1) Emission of Nitrogen Oxides (tons) (note 1) 39,822 41,513 43,164
—SibmEmE (B) (#£1) Emission of sulphur dioxide (tons) (note 1) 2,352 2,726 3,984
BREENE (M) (a#1) Emission of particulate matters (tons) (note 1) 2,361 2,472 2812
REUMPEEE Emission intensity of Nitrogen Oxides
(D /WBARES) (771) (kg per ton of clinker produced) (note 1) 0.5715 0.6230 0.6155
_%ft R E Emission intensity of sulphur dioxide
N/ EAREE) (771) (kg per ton of clinker produced) (note 1) 0.0338 0.0409 0.0568
BRYPENEE Emission intensity of particulate matters
(A /AR ES) (3#1) (kg per ton of clinker produced) (nofe 1) 0.0339 0.0371 0.0401
BERBINE Emission of Greenhouse Gases
(FH—&E({REE) (i7#1) ('000 tons of carbon dioxide equivalent)
(note 1) 59,710 57,130 56,980
BREREEREE Emission intensity of Greenhouse Gases
(BE=EltixE= (tons of carbon dioxide equivalent per ton of
WARES) (i71) clinker produced) (note 1) 0.8569 0.8574 0.8615
REE(BEETRY) (72) Electricity consumption (million kwh) (note 2) 6,500 6,220 6,684
MEZKEERE (FELES) Electricity consumption per ton of cement (kwh) 73.0 73.1 739
FEE (THa) Coal consumption (‘000 tons) 10,254 9,834 9,677
WA EALERE (AT) Unit coal consumption per ton of clinker (kg) 147.2 1473 146.2
MEAARHEAEFE (A7) Standard coal consumption per ton of clinker (kg) 106.5 1069 107.6
RARREEE (THWEE) Consolidated energy consumption
(‘000 tons of standard coal) 8,035 7,732 7,958
BrEENLEGRA R Consolidated energy consumption per RMB10,000
(Wi BT ARE) output (ton standard coal per RMB10,000) 2.73 303 3.24
BT INER LB A aEF Consolidated energy consumption per RMB10,000
(Mpzg /BT ARE) value addition
(ton standard coal per RMB10,000) 6.14 861 10.68
BEMESEEE () (523) Consumption of packaging materials (tons) (nofe 3) 70,330 74,533 85,051
(2 M FHEFERE Consumption intensity of packaging materials
N/ ERENRESE) (kg per ton of cement packed in bag) (note 3)
(53) 2.19 2.18 2.13
TEBEBIATAE Industrial waste utilized (‘000 tons) (note 4)
(FuE) (54) 21,840 21,470 18,670
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—E-N\F ZT—+F ZT—RF
2018 2017 2016
WA AR R R E = (M)  Municipal solid waste co-processed (tons) 166,000 82400 93,300
MBS EHREEE (W) (7#5) Urban sludge co-processed (tons) (note 5) 49,300 49,700 29,500
IxchEYHRAREES Hazardous industrial waste co-processed
(Wg) (&t6) (tons) (note 6) 8,700 6,700 -
HrEmAE () Total number of suppliers 8,007 6,631 5,019
BTTHBSEREES(A) Number of staff injured at work 9 10 10
—MRAEEWEEEH(R) Number of incidents of general or above level 3 1 1
EHRTE(A) Fatalities 1 1 1
EMETFTARTE (%) Fatality rate (%o) 0.049 0.047 0.044
ZEEIAR Number of participants in safety training 218,716 182,207 199,785
ZEEIBER (%) Safety training coverage rate (%) 100 100 100
ZEEERRINE Number of safety emergency drills 991 625 474
BERLZEEREABHE (A) Number of specialized safety
management personnel 212 205 233
ZE2EBEABREAH(A) Number of licensed safety
management personnel 1,064 1,068 863
TEEERA Investment in production safety
(BETARE) (RMB million) 146 130 104
ENRE R BRI SR A Investment in technological upgrade for energy
(BEBTARE) saving and emission reduction (RMB million) 94 432 223
RIREIEA Total investment in environmental protection
(ABTAR®) (RMB million) 393 675 401
i notes:
1. FETBEARNEENKEEEEMNER 1. Scope of statistics includes the major discharge outlets of the Group’s
Bepk A o cement production plants.
2. SEtEEAREEARNEERNINEE 2. Scope of statistics includes the power purchased externally for production.
3. BEMBHEARSIERRE - Z2— N\ 3. Packaging materials refer to the packaging for cement sold in bags. In
FHRTHER T FHREMRIRE 2018, the scope of report was adjusted from procurement quantity to
EWAHEFEE- consumption of packaging materials.
4. TEREEGIHEREETA BEA B 4, Scope of statistics of industrial waste includes coal gangue, stone residue,

AE DER - SEEESE- de-sulphur gypsum, fly ash and blast furnace slag.

5. WH A% EKEIZSE 5. 80% moisture content for wet sludge.
6. — B NEETESHREYHEESIER - 6. No hazardous industrial waste co-processing project in 2016.
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Misg= :RE HEREARIEIE APPENDIX 3: REFERENCE TABLE OF
#o| ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
INDICATORS
=g RE =5 B
Aspect Details Chapter Page

A RiE
A Environmental

bl
dl

Al #uY —RBE Al 50-53
Al. Emissions General Disclosure
BRERREEREEN KRS AEREEERENNE
HEEH:
(@) 126 45
() BTEBTARERZEZNABEERRNNER -
Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
BRETIEIZALL  HEEE LR B SR BigE— 75
KPI'Al.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions  Appendix 2
data.
HREMIEFEAL2 RERBEHNEREE- BigE— 75
KPI'Al.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and intensity. Appendix 2
BREYISEALI MELBSEENEERTE- Al 53
KPI'A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and intensity.
BREYISEALL FMEARZSEENEERTE- Al 53
KPI Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity.
BRERISZEALS BRI ENEERFEKRR Al 51-53
KPI Al.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and
results achieved.
BREMIEITALS HRRBEERBIEENNHE REEELEN Al 53
IR PTISRR
KPI' A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and results
achieved.
—E-N\FER
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=]
Aspect

RE
Details

4]
Chapter

BiR
Page

A RE
A Environmental

A2 EREH

A2. Use of Resources

A3. RERXAEZIR

A3. The Environment
and Natural
Resources

—R R

General Disclosure

BERERER (SR K REARERME) AR -

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other
raw materials.

MRERIEIZA2] RERESNERR SHREREEERTE
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in
total and intensity.

BREIIERA22 BRKEREE-

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity.
MRERIEIZA23 il EERE ARG E RATEK R
KPI' A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and

results achieved.

BRERISEA24  HCREVER KR LR B EARRE - L REARK
Banat B RPTEKR

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives
and results achieved.

BREMEZAS HRLAABEMENEERGEEEUGE-

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products
and with reference to per unit produced.

—RIRE

General Disclosure

HRBITAHRERAAZREKNERNZ BHHR -

Policies on minimising the issuer's significant impact on the environment and
natural resources.

BREWERFAZ] HAEBLTHHURERARERNEATERE
EREERBY BN

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities
on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them.
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=] AES E4:0) BiR
Aspect Details Chapter Page

B #e&
B Social

I EBRETER
1. Employment and Labour Practices

Bl. EE —RR R B()1 60-63
B1. Employment General Disclosure

BERHEM AR BEREA TENE BE FEHe 2l RE

B AR E A E AR :

(@) 126 45

(b) BETHBTAGBEAYENBEBRERKAMNER -

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working

hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and

other benefits and welfare.

MREIERBLL  RIER EREEL  FheAn RIS HESE B 60-61
2o
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age

group and geographical region.
BRERIEEBL2 R FRAFNRMREISMESRALE - -
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and

geographical region.

B2. #ERZE —REE B(1)2 64-65
B2. Health and General Disclosure
Safety EARMZE2TERERREEESEBELEEN:
(@) R &

() BTEBTARERZENABERZRRNNER -

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees

from occupational hazards.

MREMIEEB2] RAITEBERMIETHABRLE. FigE— 76
KPI B2.1 Number of work-related fatalities and rate. Appendix 2
BRRENIEEB22 BEIGHELXIERR- - -
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.
MREIERB23  HMMRANBRRRREL 2 LRBBHRT B()2 64-65
RERF %o
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety
measures adopted, how they are implemented and
monitored.
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=]
Aspect

AR -

Details Chapter

BiR
Page

BHE
B Social

I EERSTEHR

1. Employment and Labour Practices

B3. #R R
B3. Development and
Training

B4. #T#F
B4. Labour
Standards

—RHE B(1)3
General Disclosure

BERREE BT TIEME M ANE KRR BUR - tE &S

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties

at work. Description of training activities.

BRERIEERl RUAMKRESERESNIIEEESLL - B()3
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and

employee category.

BREMIEIEB2  RURIREERMNES  BREETKZINNTFY -
53 G

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee
by gender and employee category.

—RR B B(N1

General Disclosure

B IEE TR H 5T :

(@) B &

() BTEBTARERZEZNABERRROANER -

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BREMIEITBAL R ERENERARRET RS B()
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment
practices to avoid child and forced labour.
BREMIEIEBL2 HRERRERBELFEREBEIMRRNS B
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices
when discovered.
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=g AES E4:0) B
Aspect Details Chapter Page
BHE

B Social

I & ER
/. Operating Practices

B5. (EHEEE —REE B(IN1 67-68
B5. Supply Chain General Disclosure
Management ERMHEENRER SRR
Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.

MREMIERBSL REISOHERAAE - = =

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.

MRERIEEBS2 A AMEREERNED  mENTERENN Bl 67-68
HERESE URBHEESINMITRERT A

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,

number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, how they are implemented and

monitored.
B6. EREMF —BEE B(II)2 68-71
B6. Product General Disclosure
Responsibility E@ET&@%E&%HHE%W@E@@? EBE ZRERALBEERMR
(@) R

() BTEBTARBERZENABEERAEMANER -

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters

relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.

BRENIEER] BEXCEXERGHTRALRZERERHMA B2 69
B BE AL
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject
to recalls for safety and health reasons.
PREARIEREB62 BEMNERRRISOILFEE AREL S B2 70-71
/jﬂ_ ©
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.
BRENIEEB63 i EEERREANBEEEBNED - B(IN2 71
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.
HREMIEEB64 fMEERTEAEREREKET B(II2 69-70
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.
R UIEIEB6.5 %ﬁi%ﬁ;‘?%ﬂiﬁ%ﬂ%%%&%ﬂ%ﬁ% ARAERBEEITR B(IN2 71
ERR%e
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy

policies, how they are implemented and monitored.
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=] AE 4:) BiR
Aspect Details Chapter Page

B #&

B Social

I Z&ER
/. Operating Practices

B7. RE)5 —MBBEE B(I3 72
B7. Anti-corruption  General Disclosure

BRI LR DR BMEFROEREDN:

(@) B &

() BTFEBTARERZEZNABERRARMNNER -

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and

regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,

extortion, fraud and money laundering.

BRENIEER7.] REBRPAUETAXHESRETEEENE B3 72
R ARMNEE RFRER
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt

practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the

cases.
BRERIEERT2  Hlb S R B RET A RBERTRERS  BN3 72
ke
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-
blowing procedures, how they are implemented and
monitored.
At E 2
IIl. Community
B8, #HERE —RREE
B8. Community General Disclosure B(ll) 73
Investment EAUMERER THREEMEMRSENRREER ZHSEEHE
FZR BB ©

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities” interests.

BB MIEEBR]l FIERERE-

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution. B(III 73
A ENIEIEBR.2 EHIHIEMEBAEIR
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area. BN 73
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DIRECTORS

Mr. ZHOU Longshan, aged 58, has been an executive Director since
March 2003, was the Chief Executive Officer of the Company from
August 2008 to October 2011 and has been appointed the Chairman
of the Board since October 2011. He is the Chairman of the Executive
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and Corporate Governance Committee of the Company.
Mr. ZHOU obtained a bachelor's degree in economics from the Jilin
Finance and Trade Institute, China in 1983. He joined China Resources
Group in 1984 and has over 30 years’ experience in international trade
and corporate management. He was the Vice Chairman of the China
Building Materials Federation and the Vice Chairman of the China Cement
Association.

Mr. JI Youhong, aged 54, has been appointed an executive Director and
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company since September 2016. He
is a member of the Executive Committee of the Company. He joined the
Group in October 2003 and had served various managerial positions
of the Company including the general manager of various cement and
concrete subsidiaries, the Marketing Controller from November 2008
to December 2012 and the Regional General Manager (Guangxi) from
April 2012 to September 2016. He currently serves as the director of
various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Jl is a senior engineer of building
materials accredited by the Private Enterprise Senior Engineer Panel of
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region. He graduated from the Nanjing
Industrial College (currently known as Southeast University), China with
a bachelor's degree in engineering in 1985 and a master's degree in
inorganic and non-metallic materials in 1988. He has over 30 years of
experience in construction materials engineering and marketing. He is
currently the Vice Chairman of the China Building Materials Federation,
the Vice Chairman of the China Cement Association and the Vice
President of the eighth Session Council of the China Concrete and Cement
Products Association.
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Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert, aged 62, has been an executive
Director since April 2008. He is a member of the Executive Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Corporate Governance Committee of the
Company. He was the Chief Financial Officer of the Company from May
2003 to October 2017. He has been appointed a director of Hong Kong
Construction Materials Association Limited since April 2016. Mr. LAU
obtained a bachelor's degree in social sciences from the University of
Hong Kong in 1979 and has over 35 years’ experience in reorganization,
assurance and advisory services with international accounting firms
and in serving as financial controllers and chief financial officers of
listed companies. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a member of Chartered Professional Accountants of
Canada (formerly the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants).

Mr. CHEN Ying, aged 48, was appointed a non-executive Director in
May 2012. He joined China Resources Group in 1993 and is currently
the Chief Strategy Officer of CR Holdings and the General Manager of its
Strategy Management Department. He has been a non-executive director
of China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, China Resources
Land Limited and China Resources Gas Group Limited (all listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange) since June 2012. Mr. CHEN has
ceased to be a director of China Vanke Co., Ltd. (listed on the main board
of the Stock Exchange and Shenzhen Stock Exchange) since June 2017.
He was a non-executive director of China Resources Beer (Holdings)
Company Limited (formerly known as China Resources Enterprise,
Limited, listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange) from May 2012
to April 2016. Mr. CHEN obtained a bachelor's degree of architectural
management from the Tsinghua University, China, in 1993 and a master's
degree of business administration from the University of Oxford, the
United Kingdom, in 2007.
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Mr. WANG Yan, aged 47, was appointed a non-executive Director in
August 2014. He is a member of the Audit Committee of the Company.
Mr. WANG joined China Resources National Corporation (currently known
as China Resources Company Limited) in July 1994. Mr. WANG was
appointed a director of China Resources Gas Limited in November 2005.
He was the Deputy General Manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings)
Limited from September 2007 to April 2012. He was the Deputy General
Manager of the Internal Audit Department of CR Holdings from April 2012
to January 2016 and has been appointed the General Manager since
February 2016. He was a non-executive director of China Resources
Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (formerly known as China Resources
Enterprise, Limited) (listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange)
from August 2014 to April 2016. He has been a non-executive director
of China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, China Resources
Land Limited and China Resources Gas Group Limited since August
2014 and has been a non-executive director of China Resources Medical
Holdings Company Limited (formerly known as China Resources Phoenix
Healthcare Holdings Company Limited) (all listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange) since November 2016. Mr. WANG holds a bachelor’s
degree in economics from the Finance and Accounting Department,
Capital University of Economics and Business, and a master of business
administration degree from the University of South Australia, and is a
qualified PRC Certified Accountant.

Madam WAN Suet Fei, aged 42, has been appointed a non-executive
Director since May 2018. She is a member of the Audit Committee of
the Company. Madam WAN joined China Resources Group in August
2008 and is currently the Senior Deputy General Manager of the Finance
Department of CR Holdings. She has been a non-executive director of
China Resources Gas Group Limited since August 2018. Madam WAN
obtained a bachelor’'s degree of business administration from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong in 1999 and a master's degree of science in
finance from the University of Durham, the United Kingdom, in 2003. She
is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
a Chartered Financial Analyst. She previously served investment bank,
multi-national corporations and audit firm in equity research, strategic
development analysis of various industries, finance and audit respectively.
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Mr. JING Shiging, aged 38, has been appointed a non-executive Director
since May 2018. He is a member of the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. JING joined China Resources
Group in July 2003. He worked in China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited from July 2003 to February 2012, with experiences
in various aspects including production technology, human resources
management and administration management. Mr. JING has worked in
the Human Resources Department of CR Holdings since February 2012,
and has been appointed as Deputy General Manager of the Human
Resources Department since May 2018 with extensive experience in
selection of corporate senior management, leadership development and
talent team building. He has been a non-executive director of China
Resources Gas Group Limited since August 2018. Mr. JING obtained a
bachelor's degree in engineering from the Changsha University of Science
and Technology, China, in 2003 and a master's degree of business
administration from the Nanjing University, China, in 2011.
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Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, aged 67, has been an independent non-
executive Director since August 2008. He is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee of the
Company and a member of the Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. IP graduated from the University of
Hong Kong with a degree in social sciences in 1973. Mr. IP joined
the Hong Kong Government in November 1973 and was promoted to
the rank of Director of Bureau in April 1997. He worked in the Hong
Kong Government as a Principal Official from July 1997 to June 2007.
Senior positions held by Mr. IP in the past include Commissioner of
Insurance, Commissioner for Labour, Secretary for Economic Services and
Secretary for Financial Services. Mr. IP took up the position of Secretary
for Economic Development and Labour in July 2002. His portfolio in
respect of economic development covered air and sea transport, logistics
development, tourism, energy, postal services, meteorological services,
competition and consumer protection. He was also responsible for labour
policies including matters relating to employment services, labour relations
and employees rights.

In his capacity as Secretary for Economic Development and Labour,
Mr. IP was a member of the Hong Kong Airport Authority Board, the
Mandatory Provident Fund Authority Board, the Hong Kong International
Theme Parks Company Board as well as the Chairman of the Logistics
Development Council, Port Development Board, Maritime Industry Council
and Aviation Development Advisory Committee. Mr. IP retired from the
Hong Kong Government in July 2007. Mr. IP received the Gold Bauhinia
Star award from the Hong Kong Government in 2001, and is an unofficial
Justice of the Peace. Mr. IP was an independent non-executive director
of Synergis Holdings Limited from September 2008 to December 2017.
Mr. IP has been appointed as an independent non-executive director of
five listed companies on the main board of the Stock Exchange, namely,
Lai Sun Development Company Limited since December 2009, Kingboard
Laminates Holdings Limited since May 2011, Luk Fook Holdings
(International) Limited since October 2011, Nameson Holdings Limited
since April 2018 and Million Cities Holdings Limited (which has been
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange since 20 December 2018)
since June 2018.
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Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham, aged 73, has been an independent
non-executive Director since January 2011. He is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company and a member of the Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee
of the Company. Mr. SHEK was appointed as a Justice of the Peace in
1995, awarded the Silver Bauhinia Star in 2007 and awarded the Gold
Bauhinia Star in 2013. Mr. SHEK has been a member of the Legislative
Council for Hong Kong representing the real estate and construction
functional constituency since 2000.

Mr. SHEK acts as an independent non-executive director of numerous
companies listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, including
Paliburg Holdings Limited since July 2002, Lifestyle International
Holdings Limited since March 2004, Chuang's Consortium International
Limited since May 2004, NWS Holdings Limited since September 2004,
Regal Portfolio Management Limited (the manager of Regal Real Estate
Investment Trust) since February 2006, Eagle Asset Management (CP)
Limited (the manager of Champion Real Estate Investment Trust) since
March 2006, Country Garden Holdings Company Limited since December
2006, Hop Hing Group Holdings Limited since September 2007, SJM
Holdings Limited since October 2007, MTR Corporation Limited since
December 2007, Chuang’s China Investments Limited since April 2008,
ITC Properties Group Limited since September 2010, Lai Fung Holdings
Limited since December 2012, Cosmopolitan International Holdings
Limited since December 2013, Goldin Financial Holdings Limited since
January 2017, Everbright Grand China Assets Limited since January
2018 and CSI Properties Limited since July 2018. Mr. SHEK was also
an independent non-executive director of TUS International Limited
from June 2015 to January 2017, ITC Corporation Limited (now known
as PT International Development Corporation Limited) from June 2006
to March 2017 and Midas International Holdings Limited from August
2001 to January 2018, companies listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange. He was also an independent non-executive director of
Dorsett Hospitality International Limited, which was a listed company on
the main board of the Stock Exchange and the listing of its shares was
withdrawn from 16 October 2015, from September 2010 to March 2016.
Mr. SHEK is a Court member of the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology, a Court and Council Member of the University of Hong
Kong, a non-executive director of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Authority, an Independent Member of the Board of Governors and
Chairman of English Schools Foundation, and a member of the Advisory
Committee on Corruption of the Independent Commission Against
Corruption. Mr. SHEK graduated from the University of Sydney, Australia
with a Bachelor of Arts Degree and a Diploma in Education.
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Madam ZENG Xuemin, aged 74, has been an independent non-executive
Director since August 2008. She is a member of the Audit Committee
and Remuneration Committee of the Company. Madam ZENG is a senior
engineer at professor level accredited by the State Economic and Trade
Commission and a registered consulting engineer (investment) accredited
by the National Development and Reform Commission of China. She
studied at the Beijing Architecture and Industrial Institute from 1963
to 1968 and started her career and served at Benxi Gongyuan Cement
Factory as a technician and director of the laboratory between 1969 and
1983. From 1984 to March 2001, she worked at the Production Division
and the Planning Division of the State Building Materials Bureau and
served as the deputy director and the director of the various departments
and divisions. She was the Vice President of the China Cement Association
from April 2001 to April 2014 and has been appointed as a distinguished
expert since July 2014. She has been the branch officer of China
Association for Engineering Construction Standardization from July 2002
to date. Madam ZENG is specialized on managing the development
and planning for, and the scientific advancement, policies and laws and
regulations, construction investment as well as setting up the relevant
standards and quotas applicable to the building materials industry. She
took the lead in formulating the relevant building materials industry
development plans for the Seventh Five-Year Plan, Eighth Five-Year Plan,
Ninth Five-Year Plan and Tenth Five-Year Plan and in setting up a wide
spectrum of construction standards and quotas for the building materials
industry, including the standards of design for a cement factory. In the
area of engineering and construction management, she was awarded with
a number of Grade 1 and Grade 2 prizes at the provincial level.
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Mr. LAM Chi Yuen Nelson, aged 50, has been an independent non-
executive Director since August 2008. He is the chairman of the
Audit Committee of the Company and a member of the Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee
of the Company. He has been a practicing director of Nelson CPA Limited.
He has extensive experience in professional accountancy in Hong Kong
in particular in advising and speaking on issues relating to International
and Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards in Hong Kong and other
Asian cities. He obtained a bachelor's degree in business administration
from the Hong Kong Baptist University in 1992, a master degree of
business administration from the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology in 1998 and a master of science degree in finance from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2001. Mr. LAM was appointed the
non-official non-executive director of the Urban Renewal Authority of Hong
Kong in May 2013, a member of the Financial Reporting Review Panel
of Hong Kong in July 2013 and a member of the Air Transport Licensing
Authority of Hong Kong in August 2013. Mr. LAM is a practicing fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and a member of several professional bodies in Australia, the USA and
the United Kingdom, including CPA Australia, the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
England and Wales. He is also a CFA charter holder and a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors. Mr. LAM has also been appointed
an independent non-executive director of Hydoo International Holding
Limited, listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange since March
2013.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. ZHANG Liang, aged 56, has been appointed the Senior Vice
President of the Company since January 2014, the Regional General
Manager (Guangdong) since August 2016 and the Regional General
Manager (Hainan) since September 2018. He joined China Resources
Group in 1994 and had since then been responsible for marketing and
promotional activities. He was the Regional General Manager (Sichuan)
of China Resources Snow Breweries Limited and the Deputy General
Manager of China Resources Snow Breweries (China) Co., Ltd., and the
Chief Marketing Officer of the Company from January 2013 to August
2016. Mr. ZHANG obtained a bachelor's degree in engineering from the
Dalian Institute of Light Industry (currently known as Dalian Polytechnic
University), China in 1984. He has approximately 30 years of experience
in marketing and corporate management.

Mr. WANG Junxiang, aged 51, has been appointed the Senior Vice
President of the Company since July 2016. He joined China Resources
National Corporation (currently known as China Resources Company
Limited) in 1989. He joined the Group in July 2003 and had served
various managerial positions including the Financial Controller, the Chief
Procurement Officer, the Regional General Manager (Guangdong) and
Chief Human Resources Officer. Mr. WANG obtained a master's degree in
business administration from the University of South Australia in 2004. He
has over 20 years of experience in corporate management.

Mr. HUANG Ting, aged 49, has been appointed the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company since October 2017. He joined China Resources
National Corporation (currently known as China Resources Company
Limited) in 1992 and had since then been responsible for financial
management. He joined the Group in July 2003 and had served various
managerial positions including the Deputy General Manager (Guangdong),
the General Manager of the Finance Department and the Financial
Controller. Mr. HUANG obtained a bachelor's degree in economics from
the Xiamen University, China in 1992. He has approximately 20 years of
experience in financial and corporate management.
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Mr. ZHANG Yingzhong, aged 52, has been appointed the Chief Safety
and Environmental Protection Officer of the Company since January 2014.
He joined the Group in September 2007 and was the Chief Operating
Officer from February 2010 to January 2014. Mr. ZHANG completed an
associate programme in ceramic technology profession from the Wuhan
University of Technology, China in 1995. He has over 30 years of working
experience in the building materials and cement industry.

Mr. LIU Guixin, aged 54, has been appointed the Regional General
Manager (Guangxi) and the Regional General Manager (Guizhou) of the
Company since September 2016. He joined the Group in July 2003 and
had served various managerial positions including the Regional General
Manager (Shanxi), the General Manager of the Technology Research
and Development Center and the Chief Operating Officer. Mr. LIU
obtained a bachelor’s degree in engineering from the Wuhan University of
Technology, China in 1987. He has 30 years of working experience in the
building materials and cement industry.

Mr. HE Youdong, aged 55, has been appointed the Regional General
Manager (Fujian) of the Company since January 2013. He joined the
Group in June 2010 and had served as the Deputy Regional General
Manager (Fujian). Mr. HE obtained a bachelor's degree in engineering
from the Fuzhou University, China in 1984. He has over 30 years of
working experience in building materials and cement industry.

Mr. ZHENG Qinghong, aged 53, has been appointed the Regional
General Manager (Yunnan) of the Company since November 2015.
He joined the Group in July 2003 and had served various managerial
positions including the Deputy Regional General Manager (Guangdong),
the Regional General Manager (Fujian) and the Chief Logistics Officer.
Mr. ZHENG obtained a master's degree in engineering from the Wuhan
University of Technology, China in 1993. He has over 30 years of working
experience in building materials and cement industry.
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Mr. WANG Xiaohu, aged 52, has been appointed the Chief Human
Resources Officer of the Company since April 2018. Mr. WANG joined
the Group in July 2003 and had served various managerial positions
including the Regional General Manager (Shanxi). Mr. WANG obtained a
bachelor's degree in engineering from the Northern Jiaotong University
(currently known as the Beijing Jiaotong University) in 1988 and
completed a master's candidate programme in Management Science
from the University of Science and Technology of China in 1999. He has
approximately 20 years of experience in corporate management.

Mr. LI Baojun, aged 50, has been appointed the Chief Strategy Officer
since joining the Group in January 2014 and the General Manager of
the International Department since January 2018. He joined China
Resources Group in September 2002 and served as the General Manager
of the Strategic & Management Department of China Resources Power
Holdings Company Limited as well as the Assistant General Manager of
the Strategic Management Department of China Resources Group. Mr. LI
obtained a bachelor's degree in engineering from the Tianjin University,
China in 1990, a master's degree in industrial engineering from the
Hebei University of Technology, China in 2003 and a master’s degree in
business administration from the China Europe International Business
School, China in 2012. He has over 15 years of experience in strategic
development and corporate management.

Mr. LI Chuanji, aged 48, has been appointed the Deputy Regional
General Manager (Yunnan) of the Company since March 2016. He joined
the Group in July 2003 and had served various managerial positions
including the Chief Logistics Officer, the Deputy General Manager of
the Marketing Department and the Deputy Regional General Manager
(Fujian). Mr. LI obtained a bachelor's degree in economics from the
Shanghai University of Finance and Economics, China in 1992 and a
master's degree in business administration from the Hong Kong Baptist
University in 2013. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a member of The Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He has over 20 years of experience in financial,
marketing and corporate management.
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Mr. CAl Xiang, aged 51, has been appointed the Chief Procurement
Officer of the Company since August 2016. He joined the Group in July
2003 and had served various managerial positions including the Deputy
Regional General Manager (Guangdong) and the Regional General
Manager (Guizhou). Mr. CAl completed an undergraduate programme in
business administration from the Wuhan University of Technology, China
in 2006. He has 30 years of working experience in building materials and
cement industry.

Mr. LI Wei, aged 50, has been appointed the Chief Marketing Officer of
the Company since August 2016. He joined the Group in January 2005
and had served various managerial positions including the Regional
Marketing Controller (Guangdong), the Deputy Regional General Manager
(Guangxi), the Deputy Regional General Manager (Hainan) and the
Chief Procurement Officer. Mr. LI obtained a master's degree in business
administration from the Queen’s University of Brighton, USA in 2009. He
has over 25 years of experience in marketing and corporate management.

Mr. WANG Yue, aged 42, has been appointed the Assistant President of
the Company since January 2014. He joined the Group in October 2012
and had served as the General Manager of the Internal Audit Department,
responsible for the internal audit and risk management functions of the
Company. Mr. WANG obtained a bachelor's degree in economics from
the Zhongnan University of Finance and Economics (currently known as
Zhongnan University of Economics and Law), China in 1998. He has 20
years of experience in auditing, risk management and internal control.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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The Directors are pleased to present their annual report together with
the audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of cement, concrete
and related products and services. Details of the principal activities of the
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 47 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on page 153.

DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of final dividend of HK$0.273 per
Share in cash for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: HK$0.155
per Share). Such final dividend will not be subject to any withholding tax in
Hong Kong.

The Board declared an interim dividend of HK$0.275 per Share in cash
for 2018 (2017: HK$0.115 per Share) and the total distribution for the
year ended 31 December 2018 will be HK$0.548 per Share (2017:
HK$0.27 per Share).

The Company has adopted a dividend policy to provide returns to
our shareholders. Subject to compliance with applicable laws, rules,
regulations and the Articles of Association of the Company, the Company
may declare and pay dividends to our shareholders provided that such
declaration and payment of dividends does not affect the Group’s normal
operations.
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In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board will take into account, among others, the
Group's earnings performance, financial position, liquidity position,
current and future operations, capital requirements, the interests of our
shareholders and any other factors which the Board deems relevant.

The dividend policy will be continuously reviewed from time to time. There
can be no assurance from the Company that a dividend will be proposed
or declared in any particular amount for any given periods.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday,
6 May 2019 to Friday, 10 May 2019, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to
determine the identity of members who are entitled to attend and vote
at the annual general meeting to be held on Friday, 10 May 2019, all
share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 3 May 2019 with the
Company’s share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 22,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

Subject to the approval of shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting, the final dividend will be distributed on or about
Wednesday, 29 May 2019 to shareholders of the Company whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company after the close of
business of the Company at 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 17 May 2019 and
the register of members of the Company will be closed on Friday, 17
May 2019, during which no transfer of shares of the Company will be
registered. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all share
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates shall
be lodged not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 16 May 2019 with the
Company’s share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 22,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Company’s business, a discussion and analysis of the
Group'’s performance during the year, the principal risks and uncertainties
facing the Group, the material factors underlying its results and financial
position, and the future development of the Company’s business are set
out in the Chairman’s Statement and the Management Discussion and
Analysis of this annual report.

In addition, the Group’s environmental and social policies and
performance, as well as compliance with relevant laws and regulations
which have a significant impact on the Group and the Company’s
relationships with its key stakeholders are discussed in the Environment
and Social Responsibility Report and the Corporate Governance Report of
this annual report.

FIXED ASSETS AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in fixed assets and investment properties of the
Group during the year are set out in Notes 15 and 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 47
to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

There was no movement in the authorized share capital of the Company
during the year. On 25 June 2018, a total of 450,000,000 Shares was
issued at an issue price of HK$9.30 pursuant to the placing, underwriting
and subscription agreement dated 11 June 2018. Details of the
authorized and issued share capital of the Company for the year are set
out in the issue of equity securities section of Management Discussion and
Analysis of this annual report and Note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DEBENTURES

Details of the unsecured medium-term notes of the Company for the year
are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made donations in cash and in various form
of raw materials and finished goods in the total amount of approximately
HK$2,480,000 (2017: HK$2,237,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles
of Association or the laws of the Cayman lIslands which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing
shareholders.

TAXATION RELIEF

According to the laws of the Cayman Islands, there are currently no taxes
levied on individuals or corporations by reason of holding of Shares based
upon profits, income, gains or appreciations and there is no taxation in the
nature of inheritance tax or estate duty.

RESERVES

As at 31 December 2018, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to approximately HK$4,870.8
million (2017: HK$2,858.0 million).

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



EF[/WE
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

=F

TIRAFENBERRER FNEFES:

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this
report are:

HITES Executive Directors
JEREL ZHOU Longshan

R JI Youhong

2 BB LAU Chung Kwok Robert
FHITES Non-executive Directors
RRE CHEN Ying

FE WANG Yan

BER(RZZE—\FRATZBEZT)
StE (RZZ—/\ERAT-AEZMT)
HXR(RZT—/\FRA+—HRMT)
B8 (M= \F— A+ LB%T)

WAN Suet Fei (appointed with effect from 12 May 2018)
JING Shiging (appointed with effect from 12 May 2018)
DU Wenmin (retired with effect from 11 May 2018)

WEI Bin (resigned with effect from 19 January 2018)

BIUFHITES Independent non-executive Directors
e IP Shu Kwan Stephen

A SHEK Lai Him Abraham

B2 ZENG Xuemin

WEE LAM Chi Yuen Nelson

BIEARRNRBEEHERMBIELC20E )BEMRLZ L In accordance with Article 16.2 of the Company’s Articles of Association,

MEtHLEEREERRERFERS HRT - Madam WAN Suet Fei and Mr. JING Shiging shall retire from office at the

FHEEBILREEEEE- forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election.

RIEARREBERMAIFE6ISE BIAEB S Inaccordance with Article 16.18 of the Company's Articles of Association,

ETESRE RERAERESSEHLZITENRE M LAU Chung Kwok Robert, Mr. WANG Yan, Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham

[ERRIEFEAE FRERE HEHTEERLFES  and Madam ZENG Xuemin shall retire from office by rotation at the

fERE (T forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election.

—B— \EEH
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATIONS

All Directors are entitled to fees approved by the Board by reference to
the prevailing market conditions. The executive Directors are entitled to
salaries, allowances, discretionary bonuses and awards under the Scheme
determined by the Board having regard to the Group’s performance, the
prevailing market condition and recommendation of the Remuneration
Committee. Details of Directors’ remuneration are set out in Note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

There were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to
which the Company, its parent company, any of its fellow subsidiaries or
its subsidiaries were a party and in which a Director or his/her connected
entities had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
fellow subsidiaries, or its parent company a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors or chief executives or any of their spouse or children
under the age of 18 or nominees to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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& INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

RIZZE—NF+_A=+—H —REZFSEX  Asat 31 December 2018, the Directors, chief executives of the Company

HAE S0 35215 B AN FMETFH S CMETE  or their associates held certain interests in the shares and underlying
$E BE AQRIZSITHABSKENHE  shares of the Company and its associated corporations as recorded in the
AR A M H AR EE R R ABRIRE (DR register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO
BRAETHEZOT as follows:
(@ ZA2QF (@  The Company
R RAEE
BROBNFEE
FrisER WL E 1T
EEHRF 54 ROEBE RS ()
(%)
Aggregate long
position in Shares
Number of and underlying
ordinary Shares to issued
Name of Director Capacity Shares held Shares (riote)
(%)
Erel fic (B 2= 1,000,000 0.01
ZHOU Longshan Interest of spouse
W RAT EmEB A 60,000 0.01
JI Youhong Beneficial owner
BRIE EnRERA 230,000 0.01
CHEN Ying Beneficial owner
it BREARAR=ZZE—N\F+=ZA=+—H note: Based on 6,982,937,817 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2018.

B 3171%196,982,937 8177 H
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Annual Report 201¥8 1 01




EF[/RS
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

(b) EHEE (ZER)ERAB(X2FHW (b
HEBEE)

EEaR 8%

Name of Director Capacity

China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited, an
associated corporation of the Company

R R AHE

R 43 Y B A B
HEHEE (1K)
BRAREET
B 12 I LE Bl (72)
(%)

Aggregate long
position in shares
and underlying
shares to issued
shares of China
Resources Beer
(Holdings)
Company Limited
(note)

(%)

FrsEE
R 8E

Number of
ordinary
shares held

TE EEEEA
WANG Yan Beneficial owner
it IRFE MR () BRARR=ZZE—N
F+ZA=+—HBET13,244,176905
fRiteE.

(c) EBEHIEZRERAB (X2FWE (o)

167,999 0.01

note: Based on 3,244,176,905 shares of China Resources Beer (Holdings)
Company Limited in issue as at 31 December 2018.

China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, an

BiEE) associated corporation of the Company

R4 R AHE

R Y IF B A

HEBENER

FIFEE BRARSET

EEpA &4 BRGOEE RS (2)

(%)

Aggregate long

position in shares

and underlying

shares to issued

shares of China

Number of Resources Power

ordinary Holdings Company

Name of Director Capacity shares held Limited (note)

(%)

2 8= EEEEEA 6,600 0.01
LAU Chung Kwok Robert Beneficial owner

TE EmERA 44,000 0.01
WANG Yan Beneficial owner

it RIFFRENIERBERAGN_Z—N\F
+= A =+—BB%#17A%194,810,443,7408%
FtE-

FROREERER AT
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Company Limited in issue as at 31 December 2018.
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(d E=HEHERAR (XARMWMEEELE) (d  China Resources Land Limited, an associated corporation of the
Company

R K AR

BRI B A

HEREN

FEEE ARARNSHT

=g 14 ROEBE ROBLEBH ()
(%)

Aggregate long

position in shares

and underlying

shares to issued

Number of shares of China

ordinary Resources Land

Name of Director Capacity shares held Limited (note)
(%)

PRIE EmAA 500,000 0.01
CHEN Ying Beneficial owner

it REERERERARTN T \F+=A note: ~ Based on 6,930,939,579 shares of China Resources Land Limited in issue
=+— BB 317196930939 5790kt & as at 31 December 2018.

(&) EBHMRERBMAT (XN2FMWME  (e)  China Resources Gas Group Limited, an associated corporation

B E) of the Company

R & AHES
R 3F B A
HEBRRIER

FIFEE BRARSET
EEgR &4 ROEHBE BROWEH ()
(%)

Aggregate long
position in shares

and underlying

shares to issued
shares of China

Number of Resources Gas
ordinary Group Limited
Name of Director Capacity shares held (note)
(%)
Egel BEmEEA 6,000 0.01
ZHOU Longshan Beneficial owner
it REEBRRZERBERRRAR - N\F note: Based on 2,224,012,871 shares of China Resources Gas Group Limited in
T A=+—HBE#1TM1H2224,012871% issue as at 31 December 2018.
FTE-

—E-N\FER i
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() EHBEEEERAB (XLAWME
BeoxE)

EEns 8

Name of Director Capacity

(f) China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited, an associated
corporation of the Company

R4 KA
IR 13 WY iF B 48 B
HEEBEEE
BRAGE#T
B3 W9 Ee Bl (7))

(%)

Aggregate long
position in shares

and underlying

FrEEE
gy 42

shares to issued
shares of China
Resources
Pharmaceutical
Group Limited
(note)

(%)

Number of
ordiniary
shares held

TE
WANG Yan

[T 3

it REFHEESEERAIN_F-N\F
T A=+—HB #17%176,284,506 461%

.
FrE-

R EXCPTRERSN R F— \F+_A=1+—H"
MEEAA HAEERARAZHTRABL
MEE B MBEAERIEE S RS EGIEXV
HBRE A SRR E (R A AN A R S E AT AR
(EE KBS LG RPIFEXVER) BIREE M
HI S R SEXVEREET N 5870 B0 iR & SR IBIRAET
QARG AR B R AT ARERE S M
HIE 15| 3021640 FE AR BRI s IR DI P HE RO &
e R (7  AERAAK D M (EHERE M SR B
RZF-N\Ft-A=1t—H BEBEEEEK
RRITRAE (BREEMNECERAm /5K
FROBHETMERIERERBEARF NEM
BoAE (E&REF LR mREs L
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2,000 0.01

Interest of spouse

note: Based on 6,284,506,461 shares of China Resources Pharmaceutical
Group Limited in issue as at 31 December 2018.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, so far as is known
to the Directors, no interests and short positions were held or deemed
or taken to be held under Part XV of the SFO by any Director or chief
executives of the Company or their respective associates in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or pursuant to the Model Code
or which were required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be recorded
in the register referred to therein. None of the Directors and the chief
executives (including their spouses and children under the age of 18) had,
as at 31 December 2018, any interest in, or had been granted any right to
subscribe for the securities and options of the Company and its associated
corporations within the meaning of the SFO, or had exercised any such
rights.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has purchased and maintained directors and officers
liability insurance throughout the year, which provides appropriate cover
for the directors and officers of the Group against their potential legal
liabilities to third parties that may be incurred in the course of performing
their duties. The level of the coverage is reviewed annually.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Group regards the executive Directors, senior vice presidents, vice
presidents and assistant presidents of the Company as members of the
senior management team.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, total remunerations paid to
members of the senior management team who are not executive Directors
are as follows:

—E-N\&E —T—tF

FET FAT

2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$'000

e KERL Salaries and allowances 18,311 18,866

B Performance related bonus 37,177 29,230
RIS KA R Pension costs and mandatory provident fund

EHIMERES HRK contributions 1,924 1,608

RAHEEDET & Long term award scheme - -

57,412 49,704

WIFRHITESNSARE BN B RHMN T
AT #E

The remunerations of the members of the senior management team who
are not executive Directors are within the following bands:

£ 21,000,000 7T

2,000,001/% 7T 22,500,000/ 7T
2,500,001/% 7T 2 3,000,0007% 7T
3,000,001;% 7T 23,500,000/ 7T
3,500,001;% 7T 24,000,000/ 7T
4,000,001 7T %4,500,000/# 7T
4,500,001 7% 7T 25,000,000/ 7T
5,500,001/ 7T &6,000,0007% 7T

RAFRA BN SREREFKENEREDRA
FHREELSREBABRE —EHAME-

HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000
HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000
HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000
HK$4,500,001 — HK$5,000,000

AE

Number of individuals
—E-N\F — T+t
2018 2017
Nil - HK$1,000,000 - 1
- 2
2 5
5 5
2 3
3 1
2 _
1 _

HK$5,500,001 — HK$6,000,000

Directors and Senior Management in this annual report.
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The biographies of members of the senior management team at the date
of this annual report are disclosed in the section on Biographical Details of
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SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE
INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2018, so far as is known to the Directors, the following
persons, not being a Director or chief executives of the Company, had
interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO as follows:

FEEZALRE "a/ KR ROHBE BREBLIEIL
(%)

Approximate

Name of interested parties Long position/Short position Number of Shares shareholding
(%)

REIEEERAR (i) S~y 4,798,453,749 68.72

China Resources Company Limited (note)  Long position

EHRNHBBRAF (i7) e 4,798,453,749 68.72
CRC (note) Long position
CRC Bluesky Limited (#%) e 4,798,453,749 68.72
CRC Bluesky Limited (note) Long position
#=2H(%H) (i) S} 4,798,453,749 68.72
CR Holdings (note) Long position
#=HEE OKR)BRAT (52) e 4,792,189,749 68.63
CRH (Cement) Limited (note) Long position
i FEZERHERARNDERRNERARZMEEIT  note: China Resources Company Limited is the beneficial owner of the entire issued share

RAKE @ #EA A M1 E FBCRC Bluesky Limited % #B
BEITIRARE A A - CRC Bluesky Limited 78 432
H(ER) 2 BERTRANERRAA  MEH (&£
E) RlaERER OKR)BRARRAEERAFE
BEBTRANEZRE A - EHEE OKR) BRA
BB H4,792,189, 7490 B8 15 (AR B BT
AN#I68.63% * & BB R A 718 E 15 56,264,00008 5%
7 AEARR BB BEITRALI009% ©

R EXFr @RI MESEMA R N\F+=
A=1+—H BEEMATHERRESNHE
fERBIEXVER 2 373 REHV AR FE BRI AN A B3k B A2
PR SR AH BN AR RIRIERE S M B E RIS
336lEAE TR B DT A AR A B K AR RE AR (D
BV SOAR ©
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capital of CRC, which in turn is the beneficial owner of the entire issued share capital
of CRC Bluesky Limited, which in turn is the beneficial owner of the entire issued
share capital of CR Holdings, which in turn is the beneficial owner of the entire issued
share capital of CRH (Cement) Limited and Commotra Company Limited. CRH
(Cement) Limited directly held 4,792,189,749 Shares representing approximately
68.63% of the issued share capital of the Company, whereas Commotra Company
Limited directly held 6,264,000 Shares representing approximately 0.09% of the
issued share capital of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, so far as is known to the Directors, as at 31
December 2018, no other person had interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which were required to be
disclosed to the Company or the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

4RA BTSRRI sHADFT I RS TRERE 7732 578 Certain related party transactions as disclosed in Note 45 to the
SBALMRBETASEBEIFERBEISMTE  consolidated financial statements also fall under the definition of
E-FRN ARAIETHEBRARERMEALEIT  continuing connected transactions in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

BB ZFH BT :

Details of such transactions conducted by certain subsidiaries of the
Company with connected persons during the year are summarized below:

EWmRARAERT

x| WEE LR
FAT FAT
Annual cap

permitted under
Amount  the Listing Rules

HK$'000 HK$'000
BEBRSENEEEER Purchase of electricity from CR Power 990,875 1,246,480
(i#1) Group (note 1)
BBk () ﬁﬁﬁ Purchase of garments and shoes from 34,511 41,549
EHMEMmBRA China Resources Fashion (Holdings)
"ESB ZM’T%’&ETT%E\% Company Limited, China Resources
®NE(722) Textiles Company Limited and their
respective subsidiaries (note 2)
AEFEWREEEM(EE) K% Maximum daily aggregate amount of loan 801,316 900,000
EHRNDBIRATNER KL and related interest due from the groups
HER BB &= 2% of CR Holdings and CRC (note 3)
(7#3)
AEERKEGEREITRG Maximum daily aggregate amount of 760,788 1,006,087

BERABNERERRR
#FR (774)

deposits with China Resources Bank of
Zhuhai Co., Ltd. (note 4)

ZE-N\FEFR
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notes:

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Purchase of electricity from CR Power Group

On 1 November 2017, the Company entered into an agreement
with China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited for
the purchase of electricity by the Group from CR Power Group,
including but not limited to direct power supply (where CR Power
Group generates the electricity to be supplied) and agency power
supply (where CR Power Group purchases the electricity for
supply to the Group), for the term of three years from 1 January
2018 to 31 December 2020. The agreement would enable
the Group to secure electricity supply at a fair, reasonable and
competitive price which is lower than the normal on-grid tariffs,
which in turn reduces operating costs of the Group. Under the
agreement, the electricity fees payable by the Group would be
determined after arm’s length negotiation in accordance with
the relevant national and provincial power supply system reform
policies and with reference to prices in the open market, which
shall be no less favourable than the price for similar transactions
with independent third parties. As CR Holdings is a controlling
shareholder of both China Resources Power Holdings Company
Limited and the Company, China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited is a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules. Details of the above transactions were disclosed
in the Company’s announcement dated 1 November 2017.
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Purchase of garments and shoes from China Resources
Fashion (Holdings) Company Limited, China Resources Textiles
Company Limited and their respective subsidiaries

On 30 December 2015, the Company entered into a framework
agreement with China Resources Fashion (Holdings) Company
Limited for the supply of garments and shoes by China Resources
Fashion (Holdings) Company Limited and its subsidiaries
to the Group for a term of three years from 1 January 2016
to 31 December 2018 in order to enable the Group to have
a greater flexibility in the choice of garments and shoes on
normal commercial terms and on a scale which would not
place the Group’s resources at risk or affect its relationship with
other independent third-party suppliers. Under the framework
agreement, the prices of garment and shoe products would be
determined after arm’s length negotiation with reference to the
prevailing market prices of similar garments and shoes. Such
prices and terms shall be no less favourable than those available
from other independent third-party suppliers. As China Resources
Fashion (Holdings) Company Limited is an indirectly wholly owned
subsidiary of CR Holdings, China Resources Fashion (Holdings)
Company Limited is a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules. Details of the above transactions were
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 30 December
2015. China Resources Fashion (Holdings) Company Limited
had undergone an organizational restructure such that its
shareholding of certain subsidiaries supplying garments to the
Group was transferred to China Resources Textiles Company
Limited, another fellow subsidiary and connected person of the
Company. The Board took the view that the framework agreement
and the annual cap stipulated therein were binding upon China
Resources Fashion (Holdings) Company Limited, China Resources
Textiles Company Limited and their respective subsidiaries on
an aggregate basis after the said organizational restructure.
Accordingly, the transaction amount set out on the table above
was the aggregate transaction amounts of the Group with China
Resources Fashion (Holdings) Company Limited, China Resources
Textiles Company Limited and their respective subsidiaries for the
year ended 31 December 2018.

—B-\FER iy
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Master Lending Agreements with CR Holdings and CRC

On 28 December 2016, the Company entered into an agreement
with CR Holdings for loan facilities denominated in HK$, RMB
and US$, whereby the interest rate would not be less than the
higher of (i) the rate at which CR Holdings or a corporate borrower
of similar standing is able to borrow in Hong Kong in an amount
equal to the relevant advance in the applicable currency from a
bank or a financial institution for the relevant period and (ii) the
deposit rate in Hong Kong which could have been obtained from
a bank or a financial institution for such relevant amount and
period. On the same day, the Company entered into an agreement
with CRC for loan facilities denominated in RMB, whereby the
interest rate would be no less than the higher of (i) 95% of the
rate at which CRC or a corporate borrower of similar standing is
able to borrow in the Chinese Mainland in an amount equal to
the relevant advance in RMB from a bank or a financial institution
for the relevant period and (i) the RMB deposit rate which could
have been obtained from a bank or a financial institution in the
Chinese Mainland for such relevant amount and period. The
above agreements will provide the Company with greater flexibility
in the management of its surplus cash resources by enabling it
to lend a portion of its surplus cash resources and those of its
subsidiaries to other China Resources Group companies, including
CR Holdings and CRC. The terms of the above two agreements
are three years from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2019.
Details of the above transactions were disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 28 December 2016. As at 31 December
2018, the Company had an outstanding loan due from CRC in the
amount of RMB700,000,000 (equivalent to HK$798,903,000)
and related interest in the amount of RMB2,115,000 (equivalent
to HK$2,413,000) under these two Master Lending Agreements.
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Deposit services and financial products provided by China
Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd.

On 20 October 2017, the Company entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement with China Resources Bank of Zhuhai
Co., Ltd., pursuant to which, China Resources Bank of Zhuhai
Co., Ltd. shall provide deposit services and financial products
to the Group, including but not limited to letters of credit, bill of
exchange, discounting, assignment of receivables, etc. The term
of the strategic cooperation agreement was three years from 1
January 2018 to 31 December 2020. The strategic cooperation
agreement would enable the Group to enhance its overall liquidity,
optimize its utilization of cash and capital and provide greater
flexibility in cash management for generation of better return on
normal commercial terms and on a scale which will not place
the Group’s resources at risk or affect its relationship with other
financial institutions. Under the strategic cooperation agreement,
the deposit rates would be determined with reference to the
benchmark rates published by the People’s Bank of China or other
preferred rates in the market as offered by China Resources Bank
of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. to its other independent preferred customers,
whereas the prices of financial products would not be higher
than those published by China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co.,
Ltd. that are applicable to its independent preferred customers.
As CRC holds more than 50% of the registered capital of China
Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd., China Resources Bank of
Zhuhai Co., Ltd. is a connected person of the Company under the
Listing Rules. Details of the above transaction were disclosed in
the Company’s announcement dated 20 October 2017. As at 31
December 2018, the Group had aggregate balance of deposits of
RMB241,967,000 (equivalent to HK$276,155,000) with China
Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. During the year ended 31
December 2018, the Group did not use any financial product
provided by China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd.
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Financial products provided by China Resources SZITIC Trust
Co., Ltd.

On 20 October 2017, the Company entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement with China Resources SZITIC Trust Co.,
Ltd., pursuant to which, China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd.
shall provide financial products to the Group, including but not
limited to cash management, asset management, assignment of
receivables, etc. The term of the strategic cooperation agreement
was three years from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020.
The strategic cooperation agreement would enable the Group to
enhance its overall liquidity, optimize its utilization of cash and
capital and provide greater flexibility in cash management for
generation of better return on normal commercial terms and on a
scale which will not place the Group’s resources at risk or affect
its relationship with other financial institutions. Under the strategic
cooperation agreement, the prices of financial products would
not be higher than those published by China Resources SZITIC
Trust Co., Ltd. that are applicable to its independent preferred
customers. As CRC holds more than 50% of the registered capital
of China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd., China Resources
SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. is a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules. Details of the above transaction were
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 20 October
2017. During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group did
not use any financial product provided by China Resources SZITIC
Trust Co., Ltd.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the transactions
have been entered into:

(a)

(b)

(c)

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
on normal commercial terms or better; and
according to the relevant agreements governing them on

terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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Based on work performed, Ernst & Young, our independent auditor, has
confirmed in a letter to the Board to the effect that nothing has come to its
attention that causes it to believe that the above transactions:

(@) have not been approved by the Board;

(b) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group;

(c) were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with
the relevant agreements governing the transactions; and

(d) have exceeded the caps disclosed in the previous announcements.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group's total sales.

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group'’s
five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total
purchases.

LONG TERM AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a share award scheme on 2 September 2009.
The share award scheme does not constitute a share option scheme
pursuant to Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and is a discretionary scheme
of the Company. The purpose of the share award scheme is to recognize
the contributions of officers and employees of our Group, excluding any
Director, towards the development of our Group in the past or as incentives
to selected grantees to achieve higher than target profits for our Group and
to align the interests of the selected grantees with sustainable growth and
development of our Group. The share award scheme is effective for a term
of ten years until 2 September 2019 unless terminated at the discretion of
the Board at an earlier date.

—E-NEER
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Pursuant to the share award scheme, a trust has been set up and BOCI-
Prudential Trustee Limited has been appointed as the trustee. The trustee
may purchase Shares from the public market out of cash contributed
by the Company from time to time. The aggregate number of Shares
purchased under the share award scheme shall not exceed 2.5% of all
issued shares of the Company. The aggregate number of Shares which
may be awarded to a selected grantee under the share award scheme
shall not exceed 0.1% of the issued share capital of the Company. Shares
purchased under the share award scheme will be held in trust for the
eligible employees until such Shares are vested in accordance with the
provisions of the rules relating to the share award scheme. There were
160,000,000 Shares acquired under the share award scheme at the price
of HK$3.90 per share, which was funded by the Company, in October
20009.

On 17 November 2010, the Company amended the terms of the share
award scheme to include Directors as eligible grantees and such that
payments under the Scheme will be made in form of cash rather than
Shares. According to the Scheme, the Company can utilize the proceeds
generated from the disposal of the Shares purchased and held by the
trustee for awards to be made under the Scheme. Grantees do not have
any right to the Shares.

In 2018 and 2017, no grant was made and no Shares were disposed
of. As at 31 December 2018, the trustee held 35,176,000 Shares
(35,176,000 Shares as at 31 December 2017), representing
approximately 0.504% of the issued Shares (0.538% as at 31 December
2017), and cash of HK$87,245,000 (HK$72,413,000 as at 31 December
2017) on trust under the Scheme.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

Please refer to the Corporate Governance Report on pages 116 to 143 of
this annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, there is
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares
as required under the Listing Rules.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s results and its assets and liabilities for the past
five years is set out on page 264.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Company for the year have been audited
by Ernst & Young. A resolution will be submitted at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint Ernst & Young as
independent auditor of the Company.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu retired as the independent auditor of the
Company with effect from the close of the annual general meeting held on
11 May 2018. The appointment of Ernst & Young as the new independent
auditor of the Company following the retirement of Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu was approved by shareholders at the same meeting.

By Order of the Board

ZHOU Longshan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 8 March 2019
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company and the Board are devoted to achieving and maintaining
the highest standards of corporate governance and have adopted the
principles of the CG Code in the construction of our corporate governance
code. The Board believes that effective corporate governance practices are
fundamental to enhancing shareholder value and safeguarding interests
of our shareholders and other stakeholders. Accordingly, the Company
has adopted sound corporate governance principles that emphasize on
the quality of the Board, effective risk management and internal control,
stringent disclosure practices, and transparency and accountability to all
stakeholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company had complied
with the applicable code provisions of the CG Code, except for the
deviation as disclosed below.

DEVIATION FROM CG CODE

In respect of code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, all non-executive
Directors were not appointed for a specific term. Since all Directors are
subject to re-election by shareholders of the Company at annual general
meetings and at least about once every three years on a rotation basis
in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company, there are
sufficient measures to ensure the Company complies with the same level
as that required under this provision.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Board has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out
in the Model Code. All Directors confirmed that they have complied with
the required standards set out in the Company’s code of conduct and the
Model Code regarding their securities transactions during 2018.
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THE BOARD

Composition

The Board is responsible for directing the strategic objectives and
overseeing the management of the business of the Company. The
Directors are accountable for promoting the success of the Company and
making decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.

In order to maintain highly efficient operation, as well as flexibility and
swiftness in operational decision-making, the Board, when necessary, may
delegate its managing and administrative powers to the management,
and provide clear directions regarding such delegation so as to avoid
seriously impeding or undermining the overall capabilities of the Board in
exercising its powers. Duties and authorities delegated to the various board
committees are described in the respective sections below.

The Board should have a balance of skills and experience appropriate for
the requirements of the business of the Company. A balanced composition
of executive Directors and non-executive Directors helps to ensure the
independence of the Board and enables the Board to make independent
judgments effectively. The operation and management of the Board and
the day-to-day management of the Company’s business should be clearly
divided at the Board level to ensure that there is a balance of power and
authority and that power will not be concentrated on any one individual.
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In 2018, the following changes to members of the Board and its
committees took place. With effect from 19 January 2018, Mr. WEI
Bin resigned from the positions of a non-executive Director and a
member of the Audit Committee. With effect from 11 May 2018, Mr.
DU Wenmin retired from office as a non-executive Director, a member
of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee and
did not offer himself for re-election at the annual general meeting held
on that day. With effect from 12 May 2018, (1) Madam WAN Suet Fei
has been appointed a non-executive Director and a member of the
Audit Committee; and (2) Mr. JING Shiging has been appointed a non-
executive Director, a member of the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee. As at 31 December 2018, the Board comprised
eleven Directors, including three executive Directors, namely, Mr. ZHOU
Longshan (Chairman), Mr. JI Youhong (Chief Executive Officer) and Mr.
LAU Chung Kwok Robert; four non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. CHEN
Ying, Mr. WANG Yan, Madam WAN Suet Fei and Mr. JING Shiging; and
four independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. IP Shu Kwan
Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham, Madam ZENG Xuemin and
Mr. LAM Chi Yuen Nelson. The number of independent non-executive
Directors represents more than one third of the Board as required under
Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 December
2018. A description of the Directors is set out in the Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management Section on pages 83 to 94 and on the
Company’s website.

Appointment, Re-election and Rotation of Directors

All Directors have entered into formal letters of appointment with the
Company and they are subject to re-election by shareholders at annual
general meetings and at least about once every three years on a rotation
basis in accordance with Article 16.18 of the Articles of Association of
the Company. A retiring Director is eligible for re-election and re-election
of retiring Directors at annual general meetings is dealt with by separate
individual resolutions. Where vacancies arise at the Board, candidates are
identified, selected and recommended to the Board by the Nomination
Committee as more fully explained below under the section on Nomination
Committee. Any Director(s) so appointed shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election at that meeting in accordance with Article 16.2 of
the Articles of Association of the Company.
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Directors’ Training

Upon appointment to the Board, the Directors receive a package
of orientation materials about the Group and are provided with
a comprehensive induction to the Group’s businesses by senior
management. The package includes a copy of “A Guide on Directors’
Duties” issued by the Companies Registry of Hong Kong. Continuing
education and information are provided to the Directors regularly to ensure
that the Directors are apprised of the latest changes in the commercial,
legal and regulatory environment in which the Group conducts its
businesses.

In addition, the Directors are provided with monthly updates on the
Company to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge
their duties.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company has arranged in-house trainings for Directors in the form of
seminar and reading materials.

From time to time, the Board will arrange visits for a deeper understanding
of the Group’s business operations and matters which could have
significant effect or impact on the Group’s business. In October 2018,
two independent non-executive Directors, Madam ZENG Xuemin and Mr.
LAM Chi Yuen Nelson, accompanied by two executive Directors, Mr. JI
Youhong and Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert, had a five-day visit in Ningxia
Hui Autonomous Region, China. During the visit, the Directors obtained
an understanding of the business environment in the North-Western
provinces of China and exchanged ideas on development strategies and
management with a fellow subsidiary of the Group.
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EENFALENFERSEERELNT Participation of Directors in continuous professional development during

the year is as follows:

RESERRERD
Types of continuous professional development
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Visit to Ningxia Hui

Autonomous Region,

China to obtain an

understanding of

the business

environment in

the North-Western

Attending a seminar provinces of China

on the latest and to exchange

development of the Reading regulatory  ideas on development

Stock Exchange and updates or strategies and

an overview of the information relevant management with

amendments to the  to the Company or its a fellow subsidiary

Listing Rules business of the Group

AL 7HOU Longshan v v -

BRI JI Youhong v v v

2B LAU Chung Kwok Robert v v/ v

HXR(RZZ—NF DU Wenmin (retired with effect from - v -
AA+—RER) 11 May 2018)

e (R N\&F WEI Bin (resigned with effect from - v -

—R+hBET) 19 January 2018)

& CHEN Ying v/ v/ -

IE WANG Yan - v/ -

EER(A-Z—/\FE  WAN Suet Fei (appointed with effect from - v/ -
EAT-BEZT) 12 May 2018)

StE (R=F—/\F  JING Shiging (appointed with effect from v/ v/ -
TA+-HEZRT) 12 May 2018)

0 IP Shu Kwan Stephen v v -

otk SHEK Lai Him Abraham - v/ -

2 ZENG Xuemin / v/ /

WEE LAM Chi Yuen Nelson v/ v/ /

FERAORIERBR AR
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Independence

For a Director to be considered independent, the Nomination Committee
and the Board must be satisfied that the Director does not and will
not have any direct or indirect material relationship with the Group. In
determining the independence of Directors, the Nomination Committee
and the Board follow the requirements set out in the Listing Rules and
consider all of the independent non-executive Directors as independent.
In addition, the Company has received annual written confirmation
of independence from all the independent non-executive Directors in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. None of the Directors has
or maintained any financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship with any of the other Directors.

Board Meetings

The Board is expected to meet regularly and at least four times a year.
Between scheduled meetings, the senior management of the Group
provides information to Directors on a regular basis regarding the activities
and development in the businesses of the Group. The Directors shall have
full access to information on the Group and independent professional
advice at all times whenever considered necessary by the Directors.

With respect to regular meetings of the Board, the Directors will be
given written notice of the meeting at least fourteen days in advance
and an agenda together with supporting papers no less than three days
prior to the meeting. For other meetings, Directors are given as much
advance notice as reasonable and practicable in the circumstances.
Except for those circumstances permitted by the Articles of Association
of the Company, a Director who has a material interest in any contract,
transaction, arrangement or any other kind of proposal put forward to the
Board for consideration shall abstain from voting on the relevant resolution
and such Director shall not be counted for quorum determination
purposes.
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During 2018, nine meetings (including two meetings by way of circulation
of written resolutions) were held by the Board. The attendances at these
meetings are as follows:

HE BT EERER
= RE &5t
Meetings Written
Attended/Held Resolutions Total
BITES Executive Directors
= ZHOU Longshan 717 2/2 9/9
4 RAT JI Youhong 717 2/2 9/9
278 B LAU Chung Kwok Robert 717 2/2 99
FHITES Non-executive Directors
HXR (RZE—NF DU Wenmin (retired with effect from 0/3 1/1 1/4
AA+—RHEE) 11 May 2018)
(R ZE—NF WEI Bin (resigned with effect from 0/0 /1 171
— A+ BEHE) 19 January 2018)
PR IE CHEN Ying 17 212 3/9
TE WANG Yan 1/7 2/2 39
BER(A-Z—/\F  WAN Suet Fei (appointed with effect 3/4 /1 4/5
HEA+-—REZET) from 12 May 2018)
SHEFE(RZ—N\F JING Shiging (appointed with effect 3/4 1/1 4/5
RA+-—AEEE) from 12 May 2018)
BYFHITEE Independent non-executive Directors
EE 7022} IP Shu Kwan Stephen 717 212 99
A8 SHEK Lai Him Abraham 717 2/2 99
B ZENG Xuemin 717 212 9/9
MR LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 717 212 99

R-ZE-N\FETNEER

SRS RNERE

The matters covered in the meetings of the Board held during 2018
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TEEREATAIRETNEZESNBESLES:
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E-N\EF-RE=FEUBHRE —F—1F
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BETEAL B FFMITERHEH M NEERFE
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include adoption of the risk management and internal control report 2017,
nomination policy and dividend policy; amendments to the Scheme,
corporate governance code of the Company and terms of reference
for four board committees; approval of annual report 2017, interim
report 2018, the first and third quarterly financial reports in 2018, social
responsibility report 2017, payment of discretionary bonus to executive
Directors and senior management, remuneration of independent non-
executive Directors, continuing connected transactions of the Group,
publication of profit alerts and other inside information, changes to
members of the Board and its committees, change of independent
auditor, as well as placing and top-up subscription of Shares.
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ROLES AND FUNCTIONS OF CHAIRMAN AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Chairman

The roles of the Chairman are segregated from the Chief Executive Officer.
The Chairman approves and monitors the Company’s strategies and
policies, annual budgets and business plans, evaluates the performance
of the Company, and supervises the management of the Company.

Such division of responsibilities also helps to reinforce their independence
and accountability. The Chairman is responsible for providing leadership
to, and overseeing the functioning of, the Board to ensure that it acts
in the best interests of the Group and that Board meetings are planned
and conducted in an effective manner. The Chairman is also responsible
for setting the agenda for each Board meeting upon considering, where
appropriate, matters proposed by the Directors and the Company
Secretary. With the support of executive Directors and the Company
Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly
informed of issues arising at Board meetings and provided in a timely
manner with adequate information which is accurate, clear, complete
and reliable. The Chairman also actively encourages the Directors to be
engaged in the Board’s affairs and contribute to the Board’s functions.
The Chairman holds physical meetings with the independent non-
executive Directors without the presence of other Directors not less than
once a year. The Board, under the leadership of the Chairman, has
complied with the corporate governance practices and procedures and
has taken appropriate steps to ensure effective communication with our
shareholders and other stakeholders.

During the period when the Chairman is absent and the normal functions
of the Chairman cannot be carried out, the Board may choose another
Director to take the role as the acting Chairman until the Chairman
resumes carrying out his normal duties or a new Chairman has been
elected and appointed by the Board, subject to compliance with
applicable laws, rules, regulations and the Articles of Association of the
Company.

Chief Executive Officer

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for managing the businesses
of the Group, coordinating overall business operations, attending to the
formulation and successful implementation of the Group’s policies and
strategies approved by the Board and assuming full accountability to the
Board for all the day-to-day operations of the Group.
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The Chief Executive Officer is directly responsible for maintaining the
operational performance of the Group. He also works with the Chief
Financial Officer and the senior management team and presents the
annual budgets to the Board for consideration and approval, and ensures
that the Board is provided with all the necessary information relating to
the funding requirements of the businesses of the Group and that the
funding requirements are met. He closely monitors the operating and
financial results of the businesses against the relevant plans and budgets,
and takes remedial action if necessary. He communicates regularly with
the Chairman and all Directors to keep them fully informed of all major
business development and issues.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company established the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee on 2 September 2009, the
Executive Committee on 13 January 2010, and the Corporate Governance
Committee on 29 February 2012.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

As at the date of this report, the Executive Committee comprises all the
executive Directors, namely, Mr. ZHOU Longshan, Mr. JI Youhong and Mr.
LAU Chung Kwok Robert, and is chaired by Mr. ZHOU Longshan.

The terms of reference for the Executive Committee have been uploaded
to the Company’s website. The Executive Committee shall monitor the
execution of the Company's strategic plans and the operations of all
business units, exercise the functions and responsibilities of the Board
between regular Board meetings, establish and authorize its committees to
deal with daily business operations or ad-hoc projects, and deal with any
other specific business authorized by the Board. Resolutions passed by
the Executive Committee will be subsequently reviewed and ratified by the
Board.
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During 2018, six meetings were held by the Executive Committee which
covered mostly the obtaining of banking facilities. The attendances at
these meetings are as follows:

bR

BEXE

Meetings

Attended/Held

= ZHOU Longshan 6/6
4R AT JI Youhong 6/6
2 8= LAU Chung Kwok Robert 6/6
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

With effect from 19 January 2018, Mr. WEI Bin resigned from the position
of a member of the Audit Committee. With effect from 12 May 2018,
Madam WAN Suet Fei had been appointed as a member of the Audit
Committee. As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises
all the independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. IP Shu Kwan
Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham, Madam ZENG Xuemin and Mr.
LAM Chi Yuen Nelson, and two non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
WANG Yan and Madam WAN Suet Fei, and is chaired by Mr. LAM Chi
Yuen Nelson.

The terms of reference for the Audit Committee have been uploaded
to the Stock Exchange’s website, the Company’s website and its official
website for corporate communications. The duties of the Audit Committee
shall include but are not limited to: reviewing and monitoring the external
auditor's independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with applicable standards; discussing issues and
qualifications arising from the interim and final audits, and any matters the
external auditor may wish to discuss; monitoring integrity of the Group'’s
financial statements, annual reports and accounts, half-year reports and
quarterly reports, and reviewing significant financial reporting judgments
contained in them; reviewing the Group’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems; and ensuring that the internal
audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing
within the Group, and reviewing and monitoring its effectiveness.
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During 2018, six meetings were held by the Audit Committee to review
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2017, the three months ended 31 March 2018, the six months ended
30 June 2018 and the nine months ended 30 September 2018, annual
report 2017, interim report 2018, the risk management and internal
control report 2017 and the audit plan of the new independent auditor.
In these meetings, the Audit Committee also reviewed the continuing
connected transactions of the Group, the risk management and internal
control systems, the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit
function and the independence of the external auditor. Recommendations
were made to the Board for the change of independent auditor and
amendments to the terms of reference for the Audit Committee as well.
The attendances at these meetings are as follows:

HiEEBeT

BEXH

Meetings

Attended/Held

M= LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 6/6

g IP Shu Kwan Stephen 6/6

AR SHEK Lai Him Abraham 6/6

285 ZENG Xuemin 6/6

B (R N\F WEI Bin (resigned with effect from 19 January 2018) 0/0
—ATRBHE)

TE WANG Yan 0/6

BER(RZZE—NF WAN Suet Fei (appointed with effect from 12 May 2018) 3/3
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

With effect from 11 May 2018, Mr. DU Wenmin retired from office as a
member of the Remuneration Committee. With effect from 12 May 2018,
Mr. JING Shiging had been appointed as a member of the Remuneration
Committee. As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee
comprises four independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. IP Shu
Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham, Madam ZENG Xuemin and
Mr. LAM Chi Yuen Nelson, two executive Directors, namely, Mr. ZHOU
Longshan and Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert, and one non-executive
Director, Mr. JING Shiging and is chaired by Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham.
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FIEZ E e RESED FEEB ML A The terms of reference for the Remuneration Committee have
NERBIE R A TR E H 4B FEE S €785 been uploaded to the Stock Exchange’s website, the Company's
AR REERSPEIEAENFTMBENZE  website and its official website for corporate communications. The
AR ERMEBERERNRFHIETFHMK  Remuneration Committee shall make recommendations to the Board
FRAEERBIRLERZ - EMEASHMEREITE  on the Company's policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior
ENEMEEABMNHFMESE (HESFEEWH  management remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
wORARESENREEES (BB ELLKIIBIE  transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy. It should
LS TREMEE) ) ARIEN TEEMNFIAZE  also be responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the
ERREEE- remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management (this should include benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment) and the remuneration of non-
executive Directors.

R N\F FMEESRITTMAE:E (B During 2018, two meetings (including one meeting by way of circulation

FEAEBZEEAER A ABHAM—IXE:E) 5L of written resolutions) were held by the Remuneration Committee to make

FRITESE N RERASRMNEIBIEL 5]  recommendation to the Board for the payment of discretionary bonus

ZEtEI RN EE e lEEEZRNESHIEHEE  to executive Directors and senior management and amendments to the

HoREERMEEERNT Scheme and the terms of reference for the Remuneration Committee. The
attendances at these meeting are as follows:

HE BT EERER

BRERE KB &5t
Meetings Written

Attended/Held Resolutions Total

aiEH SHEK Lai Him Abraham 1/1 1/1 2/2

EH® IP Shu Kwan Stephen 1/1 1/1 2/2

24 ZENG Xuemin 1/1 1/1 22

M= LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 1/1 1/1 2/2

gL ZHOU Longshan 11 1/1 2/2

2| LAU Chung Kwok Robert 1/1 11 2/2

HXR(RZZE—N\F DU Wenmin (retired with effect 0/0 0/0 0/0
AR+—RHEME) from 11 May 2018)

SHE (M-Z—NF  JING Shiging (appointed with effect 1/1 1/1 2/2
HAA+-BEZEE) from 12 May 2018)

—E-N\EER i
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

With effect from 11 May 2018, Mr. DU Wenmin retired from office as a
member of the Nomination Committee. With effect from 12 May 2018,
Mr. JING Shiging had been appointed as a member of the Nomination
Committee. As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee
comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. IP
Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham and Mr. LAM Chi Yuen
Nelson, one executive Director, Mr. ZHOU Longshan, and one non-
executive Director, Mr. JING Shiging, and is chaired by Mr. IP Shu Kwan
Stephen.

The terms of reference for the Nomination Committee have been
uploaded to the Stock Exchange’s website, the Company’s website and its
official website for corporate communications.

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board, and sees diversity at Board level as an essential element in
maintaining a competitive advantage. A truly diverse Board will include
and make good use of differences in the talents, skills, knowledge,
regional and industry experience, professional experience, cultural and
educational background, gender and other qualities of the members
of the Board. These differences will be considered in determining the
optimal composition of the Board and when possible should be balanced
appropriately. In reviewing and assessing the composition of the Board,
the Nomination Committee will consider all aspects, including but not
limited to those described above, in order to maintain a truly diverse
Board. In recommending candidates for appointment to the Board,
the Nomination Committee will consider candidates on merits against
objective criteria and with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

The Board Diversity Policy sets out the approach to diversity on the Board.
The Nomination Committee reviews and assesses the composition of the
Board and makes recommendations to the Board on appointment of
new Directors, and also oversees the conduct of the annual review of the
effectiveness of the Board.
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Measurable objectives: The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree
annually all measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and
recommend them to the Board for adoption. At any given time, the Board
may seek to improve one or more aspects of its diversity and measure
progress accordingly.

Monitoring and reporting: The Nomination Committee will report annually,
in the corporate governance report of the Company, on the process it
has used in relation to Board appointments. Such report will include a
summary of the Board Diversity Policy, the measurable objectives set
for implementing the Board Diversity Policy and progress made towards
achieving these measurable objectives.

Review of the Board Diversity Policy: The Nomination Committee
will review the Board Diversity Policy annually, which will include an
assessment of the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy. The
Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for approval.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Nomination Policy sets out the nomination procedures and the
process and criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee to select and
recommend suitable candidates of directorship.

In assessing the suitability of a candidate as Director, the Nomination
Committee would consider character and integrity; qualities in all its
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional and educational qualifications, skills,
knowledge, expertise, experience and accomplishment that are relevant
to the Group’s business and corporate strategy; commitment to devote
adequate time to effectively discharge duties as a member of the Board
and relevant committees of the Company; requirement for the Board
to have independent directors in accordance with the Listing Rules
and whether the candidates would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;
the Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives adopted by the
Nomination Committee for achieving diversity on the Board; and such
other perspectives applicable to the Group. These factors are for reference
only, and not meant to be exhaustive.
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The Nomination Committee shall identify and select candidates as
Directors pursuant to the criteria as set out above, and invite nominations
of candidates from Board members if any, for consideration by the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee may use any
process it deems appropriate to evaluate the candidates, which may
include personal interviews, background checks, presentations or written
submissions by the candidates and third party references.

A shareholder may also propose a person for election as a Director, details
of which are set out in the section on procedures for shareholders to
nominate a person for election as a Director of this report. For any person
that is nominated by a shareholder for election as a Director at the general
meeting of the Company, the Nomination Committee shall evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out above to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship and where appropriate, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall make recommendation to
shareholders in respect of the proposed election of Director at the general
meeting.

The Nomination Committee shall review the overall contribution
and service to the Company of the retiring Director and determine
whether the retiring Director continues to meet the criteria as set out
above. The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall then make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed re-election of
Director at the general meeting.

During 2018, three meetings were held by the Nomination Committee
to review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board,
assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors
and make recommendation to the Board regarding changes to members
of the Board and its committees, adoption of the nomination policy and
amendments to the terms of reference for the Nomination Committee. The
attendances at these meetings are as follows:

b BT

SRRE

Meeting

Attended/Held

=g IP Shu Kwan Stephen 3/3

BB SHEK Lai Him Abraham 3/3

MEER LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 3/3

= ZHOU Longshan 2/3

MR (RZZE—NF DU Wenmin (retired with effect from 11 May 2018) 02
FA+—HEML)

=tEH (RZZ2—NF JING Shiging (appointed with effect from 12 May 2018) 1/1

FA+=—BEZM)

= RAORIE AR AR
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

As at the date of this report, the Corporate Governance Committee
comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. IP
Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham and Mr. LAM Chi Yuen
Nelson, and two executive Directors, namely, Mr. ZHOU Longshan and Mr.
LAU Chung Kwok Robert, and is chaired by Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen.

The terms of reference for the Corporate Governance Committee have
been uploaded to the Stock Exchange’'s website, the Company’s website
and its official website for corporate communications. The Company
realizes the importance of good corporate governance practice and is
endeavored to ensure compliance with legal and regulatory requirements
on corporate governance through the development, review and monitor
of the policies and practices of the Company on corporate governance,
the code of conduct and compliance manual applicable to Directors
and employees of the Company. The Corporate Governance Committee
shall make recommendations to the Board with regard to any necessary
changes.

During 2018, two meetings were held by the Corporate Governance
Committee to review the training and continuous professional development
records of Directors and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code,
and to make recommendation to the Board regarding amendments to
corporate governance code of the Company and terms of reference for
four board committees. The attendances at these meetings are as follows:

HE BT

SRR™

Meeting

Attended/Held

B IP Shu Kwan Stephen 2/2
A8 SHEK Lai Him Abraham 212
MEE LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 2/2
JEREELL ZHOU Longshan 1/2
2 8= LAU Chung Kwok Robert 2/2

—E-NEER
Annual Report 2018

131




EREBHRS
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

HERRKRS ATTENDANCE AT GENERAL MEETING

FER RQAFTEITT —RREAE B =Z—/\  During the year, the Company held one general meeting, namely, the
FRA+—B (EHR)REBETEEEGH  annual general meeting, at 50th Floor, China Resources Building, 26
EHREOBRITZRRBAF RS JRZFEIE Y Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong on Friday, 11 May 2018. Details
HBEMEERRMER D IR AERITHEZD  of the matters resolved and the poll results were published on the Stock
E20MEL R MR KNS REE AR ZFTA  Exchange's website, the Company's website and its official website for
Ui~ N EAEE I A BB ENE T AL B corporate communications at least 20 clear business days before the

general meeting and after the general meeting on that day respectively.

EEREZAEENERAT The attendance of the Directors at this meeting is as follows:

R-ZB-—N\F
EA+—H
BINER
Meeting
held on
11 May 2018
HITES Executive Directors
AW ZHOU Longshan v
LR JI Youhong v/
2 8= LAU Chung Kwok Robert v
FHITES Non-executive Directors
MXE(RZE—N\F DU Wenmin (retired with effect from 11 May 2018) -
AA+—RHEMR)
PR E CHEN Ying
FE WANG Yan -
BUFHITES Independent non-executive Directors
1 b IP Shu Kwan Stephen v
A8 SHEK Lai Him Abraham v
B2 ZENG Xuemin v
ISP LAM Chi Yuen Nelson v

ERIRZERER AR

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



EREBGHRS
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRRNEZHH
BRN =B NENEBAMMT

=15
Events

IMPORTANT SHAREHOLDERS’ DATES

The important dates for shareholders in 2019 are as follows:

srEIHH
Planned Dates

MEBE_E-NF=ZA=t—RLE=ERZAREELTENBEH

Announcement of the unaudited quarterly financial information

for the three months ending 31 March 2019

EXBERHFERRBFAGANE LREZBPXMH&EMR

Deadline for lodging transfer documents for attendance and voting at the

annual general meeting

BIIRRBFAGHM2EFHERPTERY

Book closure dates prior to annual general meeting

BRBFERE

Annual general meeting

BREDR-Z-NFREKRBEZRNHRERZHH
Last day of dealings in Shares with entitlement to final dividend 2018

RER
Ex-dividend date

EXARBBR T \FREREZBP XN HREHR

Deadline for lodging transfer documents for entitlement to

final dividend 2018

TE - N\FERAKREZEEHRBFFELR
Book closure date for final dividend 2018

N ZE—N\FERARE
Payment of final dividend 2018

ABE—T-NAFANA=ZTRIERNEAZAEEZVBER

Announcement of the unaudited financial information

for the six months ending 30 June 2019

ABE_ZT-NAFAA=ZTRHIENEAZAEERTERNHER

Announcement of the unaudited quarterly financial information

for the nine months ending 30 September 2019

R

* Tentative date

—E-NFMA=+H
26 April 2019

TE-NFRAZHTFER=1T%
3 May 2019, 4:30 PM

“ZE-hFRAKRBETH
6-10 May 2019

“E-NFRATHTIF=ZE=1%
10 May 2019, 3:30 PM

—E-NAEFRATHA
14 May 2019

—E-NFAATEHA
15 May 2019

“E-AFRATAETFOE=1TD
16 May 2019, 4:30 PM

“E-NFRA+EH
17 May 2019

—E-hAFRA=-t+NB*
29 May 2019*

—Z-NFNANB"
9 August 2019*

—T-NFTA-+HA"
25 October 2019*
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
annual reports, interim reports, quarterly reports and the consolidated
financial statements of the Company that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The
statement by the independent auditor about its reporting responsibilities
relating to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 144 to 152. The
Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

Independent Auditor

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the independent auditor’s
independence and objectivity and effectiveness of the audit process. It
receives each year the letter from the independent auditor confirming their
independence and objectivity and holds meetings with representatives
of the independent auditor to consider the scope of its audit, and the
scope and appropriateness of non-audit services, if any, to be provided
by it. The Audit Committee then makes recommendations to the Board
on the appointment, reappointment, removal, remuneration and terms of
engagement of the independent auditor.

The Audit Committee recommended that, as good corporate governance
measure, the Company should consider rotation of its independent auditor
after an appropriate period of time. The Board therefore proposed Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu to retire as the independent auditor of the Company
with effect from the close of the annual general meeting held on 11 May
2018, and to appoint Ernst & Young as the new independent auditor of
the Company thereafter. The above resolution had been approved at the
annual general meeting held on 11 May 2018.
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The Group's policy regarding the engagement of Ernst & Young for the
various services listed below is as follows:

° Audit services — include audit services provided in connection with
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Company
and the financial statements of the individual subsidiaries.

° Audit related services — include services that would normally be
provided by an independent auditor but not generally included
in audit fees, for example, review of financial statements for the
purpose of interim report, due diligence and accounting advice
relating to mergers and acquisitions and internal control reviews
of systems and/or processes. The independent auditor is to be
invited to undertake those services that it must or is best placed to
undertake in their capacity as auditor.

° Taxation related services — include all tax compliance and tax
planning services, except for those services which are provided
in connection with the audit. The Group uses the services of the
independent auditor where it is best suited. All other significant
taxation related work is undertaken by other parties as appropriate.

° Other services — include, for example, risk management
diagnostics and assessments, non-financial systems consultations
and corporate governance compliance assessment. The
independent auditor is also permitted to assist management and
the Group's Internal Audit Department with internal investigations
and fact-finding into alleged improprieties. These services are
subject to specific approval by the Audit Committee.

° General consulting services — the independent auditor is not
eligible to provide services involving general consulting work.
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An analysis of the fees of Ernst & Young and other independent auditors
relating to the audit of the financial statements of the Company and
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2018 is shown in Note
8 to the financial statements. For the year ended 31 December 2018,
a provision of HK$3,789,000 was made in the financial statements for
service fee payable to Ernst & Young for the annual audit and the Group
paid HK$776,000 and HK$294,000 to Emnst & Young as service fees for
review of 2018 interim financial statements and consultation on social
responsibility report 2017 respectively.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for and is highly concerned with the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems, and assessment
and management of risks. In meeting its responsibility, the Board seeks
to increase risk awareness across the Group’s business operations
and has put in place policies and procedures, including parameters of
authority delegation, which provide a framework for the identification and
management of risks. It also reviews and monitors the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems to ensure that the policies
and procedures in place are adequate and appropriate.

Reporting and review activities include review and approval by the
executive Directors and the Board of detailed operational and financial
reports, budgets and plans provided by the regional management, review
by the Board of actual results against the budgets, review by the Audit
Committee of the ongoing work of the Group’s internal audit function and
risk management function, as well as regular business reviews by the
executive Directors.

Whilst these procedures are designed to identify and manage risks
that could adversely impact the achievement of the Group’s business
objectives, they do not provide absolute assurance against material
misstatement, errors, omissions or fraud.
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Internal Control Environment

The Board is responsible for monitoring the overall operations of the
businesses within the Group. The Group’s internal control procedures
include a comprehensive system for reporting information to the
executive Directors. Business plans and budgets are prepared annually
by the regional management and subject to review and approval by the
executive Directors as part of the Group’s five-year corporate planning
cycle. Financial reports for the current year are prepared on a monthly
basis, reviewed for variances to the budget and for approval. When setting
budgets and forecasts, the management identifies, evaluates and reports
on the likelihood and potential financial impact of significant business
risks. The executive Directors review the monthly management reports
on the financial results and key operating statistics of each business unit
and hold monthly meetings with the senior management team to review
these reports, business performance against budgets, forecasts, significant
business risk sensitivities and strategies.

The Group maintains a centralized cash management system for its
subsidiaries’ operations. The Group has established guidelines and
procedures for the approval and control of expenditures. Operating
expenses are subject to overall budget control and are controlled within
each business unit with approval levels set by reference to the level of
responsibility of each executive and officer. Capital expenditures are
subject to overall control within the annual budget review and approval
process, and more specific control and approval by the executive Directors
are required for unbudgeted expenditures prior to commitment.

Internal Audit

The Company’s Internal Audit Department is responsible for assessing
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems, formulating
an impartial opinion on the systems, and reporting its findings to the
Audit Committee, the Chairman and the senior management concerned
as well as following up on all reports to ensure that all issues have been
satisfactorily resolved. Depending on the nature of business and risk
exposure of individual business units, the scope of work performed by
the Internal Audit Department includes reviews of all important aspects of
internal controls (including financial, operational, information technology,
risk management, legal and compliance controls, etc.), recurring
audits, dawn raids and fraud investigations. Representatives from the
Internal Audit Department will meet with the Audit Committee and the
independent auditor at least once a year to discuss on the findings from
the Internal Audit Department and any potential risks that may exist. A
report on the review of risk management and internal control of the Group
in accordance with the annual internal audit plan will be submitted by
the Internal Audit Department to the Audit Committee and the Board for
approval after the end of the relevant year.
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Continuing Connected Transactions

In order to ensure that all continuing connected transactions of the Group
comply with the Listing Rules, the Company has in place an internal
control policy which sets forth the procedures for entering into agreements
and managing the conduct of continuing connected transactions. The
framework agreements approved by the Board set out the major terms
and conditions of the continuing connected transactions which could
be entered into by the individual business units of the Company. Prior
approval by the Company’s senior management, Finance Department and
Legal Department is required before each individual continuing connected
transaction may be entered into. Individual business units are required to
obtain and compare the quotations and pricing terms from a connected
person and at least two independent third parties which are market
competitors of the connected person. The Finance Department and the
Legal Department shall check, among other things, the compliance of
such pricing terms with the pricing policies or mechanisms under the
framework agreements. The Finance Department shall also monitor the
aggregate transaction amounts on an ongoing basis to ensure the annual
caps not to be exceeded. The Internal Audit Department shall review
the effectiveness and adequacy of the abovementioned internal control
policy and procedures. The independent non-executive Directors and
independent auditor shall review the continuing connected transactions
annually in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. Details
of our continuing connected transactions have been disclosed in the
relevant announcements published on the Stock Exchange’s website, the
Company’s website and its official website for corporate communications.
Results of the annual review are reported on pages 107 to 113 of this
annual report.

Inside information

The Board is responsible for the handling and dissemination of inside
information. In order to ensure that the market and shareholders are fully
and promptly informed about the material developments in the Company’s
business, the Board has adopted the Inside Information Disclosure Policy
regarding the procedures of proper information disclosure. Release of
inside information is subject to the approval of the Board. Unless duly
authorized, all staff members of the Company shall not communicate
inside information to any external parties and shall not respond to market
speculation and rumours. In addition, all external presentation materials or
publications must be pre-vetted before release.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems

On the Audit Committee’s recommendation, the Board approved the
report on the review of the risk management and internal control of
the Group for 2018 submitted by the Internal Audit Department and
considered the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group have been effective, adequate and appropriate.

Group Risk Management

Directors and officers liability insurance has been purchased and
maintained to protect directors and officers of the Group against their
potential legal liabilities to third parties that may be incurred in the course
of performing their duties.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr. LO Chi Lik Peter, is a practicing solicitor in
Hong Kong. Mr. LO, aged 69, was appointed as the Company Secretary
on 29 May 2009. He qualified as a solicitor in Hong Kong in 1976 and
has been in continuous practice since qualification. He is currently a
partner of Messrs. Woo, Kwan, Lee & Lo. Although Mr. LO is not a full time
employee of the Company, he reports to the Board and in his capacity as
Company Secretary advises the Board on corporate governance matters.
The primary contact person of the Company with Mr. LO is Mr. LAU Chung
Kwok Robert, an executive Director. Mr. LO confirmed that he had fulfilled
the 15 hours of Continuing Professional Development training required of
a solicitor in respect of 2018.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During 2018, there is no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting Forward
Proposals (other than proposing a person for election as a Director) at
General Meetings

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association of the Company, an
extraordinary general meeting shall be convened on the written requisition
of (1) any two or more members of the Company; or (2) any one member
of the Company which is a recognized clearing house (or its nominees(s))
deposited at the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
(Room 4606-08, China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong) for the attention of the Board or, in the event the Company
ceases to have such a principal place of business in Hong Kong, the
registered office of the Company (PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands) for the attention of the Board.

The written requisition shall specify the objects of the extraordinary
general meeting and be signed by the requisitionist(s), provided that such
requisitionist(s) held as at the date of deposit of the written requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries
the voting right at general meetings of the Company.

If the Board does not, within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
written requisition, proceed duly to convene the extraordinary general
meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) or any
of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all
of them, may convene the extraordinary general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which extraordinary general
meeting may be convened by the Board, provided that any extraordinary
general meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of
3 months from the date of deposit of the written requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Procedures for shareholders to nominate a person for election as a
Director

Article 16.4 of the Articles of Association of the Company provides that no
person shall, unless recommended by the Board, be eligible for election
to the office of Director at any general meeting unless during the period,
which shall be at least 7 days, commencing no earlier than the day after
the despatch of the notice of the meeting appointed for such election and
ending no later than 7 days prior to the date of such meeting, there has
been given to the Company Secretary notice in writing by a member of
the Company (not being the person to be proposed), entitled to attend
and vote at the meeting for which such notice is given, of his intention to
propose such person for election and also notice in writing signed by the
person to be proposed of his willingness to be elected.

Accordingly, if a shareholder of the Company wishes to nominate a person
to stand for election as a Director at the annual general meeting, the
following documents must be validly served on the Company Secretary at
the Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong within the period
specified in Article 16.4 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
namely, (1) the shareholder’s notice of intention to propose a resolution to
elect a nominated candidate as a Director at the annual general meeting;
(2) a notice signed by the nominated candidate of the candidate’s
willingness to be elected; (3) the nominated candidate’s information as
required to be disclosed under rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (4)
the nominated candidate’s written consent to the publication of his/her
personal data.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send enquiries to the Board (i) in writing to the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong (Room 4606-08,
China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong)
for attention to the Board; (ii) by attending the Company’'s annual
general meeting or extraordinary general meeting; or (iii) by email at
crcement@crc.com.hk.

The aforesaid procedures have been uploaded to the Company’s website
and its official website for corporate communications.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

As at 31 December 2018, the Company had 1,381 registered
shareholders and total public float capitalization amounted to
HK$15,400,613,000. In addition to individual shareholders, some Shares
are held by institutional investors, or by individuals and organizations
through financial intermediaries such as nominees, investment funds and
the Central Clearing and Settlement System of Hong Kong. The names
of the shareholders, other than the Directors, holding 5% or more of
the Shares as at 31 December 2018 are disclosed in the Report of the
Directors on page 106 of the annual report.

As the core principles of corporate governance, the Board gives
high priority to maintaining effective, transparent and constructive
communications with shareholders and other investors, and believes
that the Company’s relationship with shareholders is critical to its future
success. The Board is accountable to shareholders for creating and
delivering value through effective governance of business. The Company
keeps in touch with its shareholders and other investors through different
channels to facilitate their understanding on the Company’s performance,
strategies, prospects and the market environment in which the Company
operates. We believe shareholders’ value can be enhanced through clear
communication of the above information.

In order to ensure shareholders’ exercise of their rights in an informed
manner, a shareholders’ communication policy of the Company has been
established. A dedicated investor relations team has been established
as the primary contact of the Company with shareholders, investors
and analysts. The Company actively responds to daily inquiries from
shareholders and investors, and publishes important information of the
Company on the Company’s website and its official website for corporate
communications for equal and timely access by all stakeholders. The
Company also holds results presentation meetings for investors after
the release of annual results and interim results. The presentations are
broadcasted on the internet to ensure that overseas shareholders and
investors understand the Company’s business operations and future
development strategies from the online videos.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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The Company keeps close contact with the investment community and
makes every effort to maintain stable and effective communications
with shareholders and investors. To this end, the Company regularly
participates in different activities including investor meetings, roadshows
and investor conferences held by various investment banks in order
to increase interactions with shareholders and investors. In 2018,
the Company participated in a total of approximately 253 conference
calls, investor meetings and roadshow meetings which enabled direct
communication with fund managers and analysts worldwide. In November
2018, the Company organized a two-day reverse roadshow with a total
of 26 analysts and representatives from banks in participation. The visits
to our associate RunYang Intelligent Manufacturing and an urban sludge
co-processing project at our joint venture in Guangzhou City, Guangdong
have deepened the investors’ understanding of development trends of the
cement industry and prefabricated construction business in China as well
as the latest technology in co-processing dried sludge by use of cement
kilns, and enhanced in-depth exchange of ideas and discussions on the
Company’s operational management, measures for energy saving and
emission reduction and strategic development.

The Board always welcomes views and inputs from shareholders and
investors, who can send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the Company’s Investor Relations Department by
letter, telephone, fax or email. Details of the contact information can be
found on page 5 of this annual report.
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TXKEBEEI SR Ernst & Young
EBPIRAFREIT 22/F, CITIC Tower
hiEKE221E 1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

TO THE MEMBERS OF
CHINA RESOURCES CEMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 153 to 263,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2018, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Revenue recognition

During the year, due to the adoption of a new accounting standard, a
change in accounting policy on revenue recognition was noted. The new
accounting policy for revenue recognition has been detailed in Note 3 to
the consolidated financial statements. Management is required to assess
the impacts for the transition to account for the impact from adopting the
new policy and it needs to make judgment in assessing the timing when
the performance obligation has been satisfied.

Management inspected the contract terms and determined that revenue
from the sale of goods is recognized to which the entity expects to be
entitled in exchange for transferring goods to a customer, at the point in
time when control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally on
delivery of the goods.

The relevant disclosures are contained in Note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Our procedures in relation to the change of accounting policy on revenue
recognition included:

We inspected contracts, on a sample basis, with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting standards;

We evaluated the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of
key internal controls which govern revenue recognition;

On a sample basis, we inspected the underlying contracts, orders, invoices
and bank-in slips for settled balances and assessed whether the related
revenue had been recognized in accordance with the Group’s revenue
recognition policies;

We obtained confirmations, on a sample basis, from major customers
of the Group to confirm revenue recognized during the year and for
unreturned confirmations, performed alternative procedures by comparing
details with contracts, bank-in slips and other related documentation; and

We evaluated the management on the transition and the application of
the new accounting policy and considered the adequacy of the financial
disclosure.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill as a key audit matter
due to the involvement of significant judgements and assumptions in the
performance of this assessment.

As set out in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, determining
whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of
the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) to which goodwill has been allocated.
The value in use calculation required the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the CGUs and a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value. The estimation uncertainty mainly
included gross margin, discount rate and growth rate.

The carrying amount of goodwill as at 31 December 2018 was
HK$1,193,827,000 and for the purpose of impairment testing, as
disclosed in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements, goodwill has
been allocated to the groups of CGUs comprising the cement operating
segment and concrete operating segment and the carrying amounts of
goodwill allocated to them were HK$1,145,739,000 and HK$48,088,000,
respectively, at 31 December 2018. The management of the Group
assessed and concluded that there was no significant impairment of
goodwill for the year ended 31 December 2018.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



B % BEN RS
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BRmERENEZEF R

TREEBRREREENE A EE:

BRAEFERESRERAEAFREERBE SR
ERERHEEREFL 2 BRER (BRERE)
Z AR

BBEERITERBEAE NS EIE EERAE
s A SR (B  IHERAREER) 2
S

AHAEETREK (B BSREERRERE
REEHMEMRRER) 2 BERER - KBk
TRATERFTRA TR EATHA G IR &

FHEEEEERE RITIRERFMET 2 8URE D
ARHE S EREEFE Az ERE -

FE Y B 5 R 5 6 (B AT A

PO AT A R AR HE AR R (ot PR I I ikt i

HMERERE R ENSERBRENS
e

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of goodwill
included:

Obtaining an understanding of the basis adopted in the value in use
calculations prepared by the management;

Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions made by the
management, including the growth rates by comparing the prior year cash
flow projections with the current year actual cash flows;

Testing the appropriateness of the key inputs applied by the management
including revenues, cost of sales and operating expenses by
benchmarking them against the economic and industry data;

Assessing the key factors in determining the discount rate, including the
Group’s debt and equity ratio, return on investments and other risk factors,
and comparing to discount rates adopted in the cement industry for
reasonableness; and

Evaluating the sensitivity analysis performed by management in respect of
the growth rate and discount rate to evaluate the extent of impact on the
calculations of the value in use.

Impairment assessment of trade receivables
We identified the impairment assessment of trade receivables as a key

audit matter due to the use of judgement and estimates in assessing the
allowance for doubtful debts.
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At 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of trade receivables
was HK$2,367,299,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts of
HK$247,297,000) as disclosed in Note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements. During the year, due to the adoption of a new accounting
standard, a change in accounting policy on impairment assessment of
trade receivables was noted. The new accounting policy for impairment
assessment of trade receivables has been detailed in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements. Management used a provision matrix
to calculate expected credit losses for trade receivables. The matrix is
initially based on the Group'’s historical default rates, and specific factors
that management considered in the estimation of the rates including the
type of customers, ageing of the balances and recent historical payment
patterns. Management then calibrated the matrix to adjust the historical
credit loss experience with forward-looking information, such as existence
of disputes and forecasted economic conditions.

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of trade receivables included:

Obtaining an understanding of how the allowance for doubtful debts was
estimated by the management and testing the key controls of the Group
relating to the credit control, debt collection and estimate of expected
credit losses;

Checking the ageing analysis of the trade receivables throughout the year
to understand movements in the ageing and the settlement pattern of the
customers;

Testing the ageing analysis of the trade receivables, on a sample basis, to
the source documents, including sales invoices and good delivery notes;
and

Assessing the reasonableness of allowance for doubtful debts with
reference to the credit profile including default or delay in payments,
settlement records, subsequent settlements, ageing analysis of the
trade receivables and evaluating whether the historical loss rates are
appropriately adjusted based on current economic conditions and
forward-looking information and examining the actual losses recorded
during the current financial year.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



B % e RS
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BREREFBRANEMCESR

BERARERRYEMENE R -AMENBET
FNFERANEFR BREREMHRE R EMIRZ
BRRDIRE

B AMBRERNBRL PREEMER
BT E R EREREATEANERS

A
Affg ©

BERMYEABBREROES RFINEELR
BIEEMER  FILBET EEEMENEDR
BRI B PR DBIETR A T BB
MIFEEANBRE R E TR EEASHERRAAE
e BERBMEANTHIE NREMRAHAM
ERFEERERRL BT ERESLEE-
FE T E - BIFPEE RS -

%%%ﬁé%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%mﬁ
T

BERRERARARBERESTNASRMNE
UG LR NE B R RGP TR € 5E
BEEMPENGREMBERE LHERRHELR
BUMBHRROBE T FERREFREERM B
MBS RRA BN EHEH R R -

ERESAMTREN EXRENE E5E
FEKENREN LEERER TREEFEL
LERMNER URERFELLE RS ER
BRIOFEEEER BEEEBRAELEE 5
BEHMERNER T =

BERZEEWE BEAREFETEE
M ISR BT

i
i
i)

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

ZE-N\FEFR
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Z=H
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’'s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ip Hing Lam.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

8 March 2019
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GeRnlaE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HE-_T—N\F+_A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018

—Z2-N\F —E—tF
k2 F#&xT FHET
2018 2017
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
BER Turnover 5 38,791,470 29,958,428
IR0 %N Cost of sales (23,371,498) (20,727,933)
EF Gross profit 15,419,972 9,230,495
H AU A Other income 6 574,324 370,920
WEWMENFEERS  Change in fair value of investment
properties 17 7,200 17,800
HEMDHEA Selling and distribution expenses (1,985,180) (1,783,594)
—MEITEER General and administrative expenses (2,544,745) (2,675,898)
PE R W= Exchange gain 104,532 263,697
&R Finance costs 7 (643,768) (638,342)
JE(REEE N R EE Share of results of associates 181,939 20,643
AR NCIE X Share of results of joint ventures 220,941 78,317
Rt A & Profit before taxation 8 11,335,215 4,884,038
sl Taxation 11 (3,328,486) (1,291,421)
FEAEF Profit for the year 8,006,729 3,592,617
Hipzm (BA)UA:  Other comprehensive (expense)
income:
Rt TSEHHHEE ltern that will not be subsequently
Bmi)EE - reclassified to profit or loss:
BHEABZEHNER Exchange differences arising
FREEAMEH =58 on translation to presentation
currency (1,840,224) 1,925,346
HAESBET IR ltem that will be subsequently
By IEE - reclassified to profit or loss:
JEAE — K H = A A Share of other comprehensive
HEmazm(BRH) KA (expense) income of an associate (9,001) 9,163
FEHMzAE (BA) Other comprehensive (expense)
ON income for the year (1,849,225) 1,934,509
FEZMRALEE Total comprehensive income
for the year 6,157,504 5,527,126
ATATEEFE Profit (loss) for the year attributable to:
AR (E8E)
VIN/NCIEZZ =N Owners of the Company 7,975,439 3,616,742
FEFE AR A S Non-controlling interests 31,290 (24,125)
8,006,729 3,592,617
LATALTEEGEFE Total comprehensive income (expense)
2HEWA (BR)®E:  for the year attributable to:
ZIN/NEIEF =N Owners of the Company 6,134,943 5,534,977
IEE Non-controlling interests 22,561 (7,851)
6,157,504 5,527,126
BRERZF (Br) Basic earnings per share (HK$) 14 1.179 0.554
—E-NEFR
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RN E
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R-Z—)\E+=-HA=+—H At 31 December 2018

—E-N\F —E—tF
k=3 FE&xT T
2018 2017
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
EMBEE Non-current assets
EEEE Fixed assets 15 28,489,788 30,902,575
BHEERIE Prepaid lease payments 16 2,846,024 2,816,137
"EYE Investment properties 17 137,761 131,176
EREE Intangible assets 18 2,197,455 2,335,214
A RN Interests in associates 20 5,463,446 5,535,302
Radnaliks Interests in joint ventures 21 1,409,378 1,425,223
BERETEER® Deposits for acquisition of fixed
assets 497,157 706,307
EEFRIBEE Deferred tax assets 22 208,358 256,361
K HE W s IE Long term receivables 23 354,740 464,008
EERRITER Pledged bank deposits 31 80,089 59,250
41,684,196 44,631,553
MENEE Current assets
rE Inventories 24 1,970,629 1,717,455
JEUNE 5 BRFR Trade receivables 25 2,367,299 2,593,819
H b pE U 308 Other receivables 26 841,005 854,752
%—%H/%WEQETE’U Loan to a fellow subsidiary
- 27 - 718,214
F—KEEIERAFA  Loan to an intermediate holding
B company 28 801,316 -
JE Y 2 R B FRIE Amounts due from associates 29 514,404 503,933
eI A & R B FHIR Amounts due from joint ventures 30 2,631 13,821
AR TR IE Taxation recoverable 23,401 108,033
BEHIRITER Pledged bank deposits 31 - 928
Be MIRTTA R Cash and bank balances 32 12,301,501 5,384,094
18,822,186 11,895,049
mENaE Current liabilities
FETE SRR Trade payables 33 3,460,355 3,374,633
H B FRIE Other payables 34 5,007,969 4,966,250
FERTRE IR Taxation payable 1,272,802 443,893
RITER Bank loans — amount due
—R—EREIH within one year 35 4,531,678 6,572,157
14,272,804 15,356,933
mEEE (ABE)FE Net current assets (liabilities) 4,549,382 (3,461,884)
EELERRBAE Total assets less current liabilities 46,233,578 41,169,669
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

MZZ—N\F+_A=+—H At31 December 2018

—E-N\E —E—tF
it FET FHET
2018 2017
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
ERBEE Non-current liabilities
IRITER Bank loans — amount due
——F1& 58 after one year 35 4,556,946 6,990,479
MR R HA R Unsecured medium term notes 36 3,423,870 3,588,900
ERAEN A Other long term payables 8,297 13,491
FEIERIBEAE Deferred tax liabilities 22 349,303 94,358
8,338,416 10,687,228
37,895,162 30,482,441
A& I Capital and reserves
[N Share capital 37 698,294 653,294
& Reserves 36,992,984 29,655,675
KRBEE AEILELZ  Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 37,691,278 30,308,969
PR Non-controlling interests 203,884 173,472
WS AR RE Total equity 37,895,162 30,482,441

FIS3HEF23BMGEAMBIHRERE N -Z  The consolidated financial statements on pages 153 to 263 were
—NE=ZAN\BEEERIERKEETZE I  approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 8 March

HTNIATRERERE: 2019 and are signed on its behalf by:
JE# 1L ZHOU LONGSHAN 2|5 LAU CHUNG KWOK ROBERT
B % DIRECTOR B % DIRECTOR
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MR SEE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HE-Z—N\F+_A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018

LN LN

R

#Ritd NEEL
k& EfER BE  ARRE B RERE HAbRR  REEA B FRREE  REER
TR TR TR TR TR THTL TERL TERL TEL TERL TERL

(Hita)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Long term
award Property Non-
Share Share scheme Merger  revaluation  Translation Other Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserves profits Total interests equity
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
(Note 46)
RZE—tF At 1 January 2017
—-A-H 653294 5662831 (139,206) (35,193) 21317 (1,019421) (31361) 20894507 26,006,768 245101 26,251,869
Ef2EBA Other comprehensive income
-EjzE - exchange differences - - - - - 1909072 - - 1909072 162714 195346
—ElE-FHERT ~ share of other
Efp2ELA comprehensive income
of an associate - - - - - - 9,163 - 9163 - 9163
EREH (BR) Praft (loss) for the year - - - - - - - 3616742 3616742 (24125) 3592617
FR2EUA (BR)EE Total comprehensive income
(expense) for the year - - - - - 1909072 9163 3616742 5534977 (781) 5527126
ZE-RAERERE 2016finel dividend - (49970 - - - - - - (49970 - (489970
“E-ERERE 2017 interim dividend - (751,283) - - - - - - (751,283) - (751,283)
WE-FREHBLTE  Acquisiion of additonal inerest
EoMER of an existing subsidiary - - - - - - 8482 - 8482 (67,184) (58.702)
FERBEFNERLE  Capial contibution by anon-
controlling shareholder - - - - - - - - - 3406 3406
RZZ—t%F At 31 December 2017
+-A=1-B 603294 4421573 (139,206) (35,193) 21317 839,651 (13716) 24511249 30308969 173472 30482441
Ef2E (BR)KA  Other comprehensive
(expense) income
-EHEE - exchange differences - - - - - (1,831,49%) - - (1,831,49) (8729)  (1,840,224)
-l -REE LT ~ share of other
E2EER comprehensive expense
of an associate - - - - - - (9,001) - (9,001) - (9,001)
FRAR Profit for the year - - - - - - - 796439 7975439 31290 8006729
FELE(BE)WALE Total comprehensive (expense)
income for the year - - - - - (13314%) (9001) 7975439 6134943 2561 6,157,504
ZE-ERERE 2017 findl dividend - (1,012605) - - - - - - (1012605) - (1012608)
- \FRERE 2018 interim dividend - (1,920308) - - - - - - (1920308 - (1920308
BEkH Issue of new Shares 45000 4,140,000 - - - - - - 4185000 - 4185000
MROBARA Issue costs of new Shares - (4,721) - - - - - - (4,721) - 4,721)
FBRRBEMERLE  Caplal contribution by
a non-controlling shareholder - - - - - - - - - 7851 7851
RZB-NE At31 December 2018
+-fA=1+-H 698294 5623939 (139,206) (35,193) 21317 (941,844) 22717) 3248688 37691278 20384 378%,162
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE-_T—N\F+_A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018

—E2-N\F —E—+tF
FET FAT
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
REKEEENIEESME  Cash flows from operating activities
bR A &R Profit before taxation 11,335,215 4,884,038
TS EIEL AR : Adjustments for:
BEEEENE Depreciation of fixed assets 1,986,076 1,850,884
TafS T E SRIAHE Release of prepaid lease payments 78,376 73,568
R R 8 8 Amortization of mining rights 89,182 85,447
HEMENTFEEE Gain on changes in fair value of
EAMES investment properties (7,200) (17,800)
B A Interest income (133,646) (68,596)
FEREZ Interest expenses 643,768 638,342
it NI Share of results of associates (181,939) (20,643)
LA ERAHEE Share of results of joint ventures (220,941) (78,317)
e CRERLE)RE (Reversal of impairment)
impairment of inventories (4,132) 4,204
REER (BEEE)#HK (Reversal of allowance)
allowance for doubtful debts (16,902) 35,633
Hoth fE R IA R I R Allowance for doubtful debts of other
BE receivables 27,169 93,346
& W E A Rk Es Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (3,245) (683)
[EESNERIE Impairment of goodwill - 78,934
HEETEEERIE Loss on disposal of fixed assets 43,226 32,022
EEERE Impairment of fixed assets 42,625 152,809
IR R E Impairment of mining rights 15,860 -
FENHERERE Impairment of prepaid lease payments 20,482 -
PE 5 5 Exchange gain (252,219) (190,643)
EEECEEAN Operating cash inflows before movements in
KBRS MA working capital 13,461,755 7,552,545
FE (8 mEd (Increase) decrease in inventories (341,356) 345,625
FEUSE 5 BR FURL Decrease in trade receivables 128,456 26,191
Lt U SR IE R Decrease in other receivables 47,248 160,262
JERTE SERFIE I (JRL)  Increase (decrease) in trade payables 250,574 (27,404)
o FE A SRIEIE AN Increase in other payables 487,932 344,744
KEEBELENE S Cash generated from operations 14,034,609 8,401,963
EREBFEH Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (21,309) (38,031)
ENFBEAEESH  Chinese Mainland Enterprise Income Tax paid (2,039,213) (1,113,347)
EfRFE Interest paid (643,064) (637,638)
KETEEELSMIRS TS Net cash generated from operating activities 11,331,023 6,612,947
—E-NFEFER
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REMEREXR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE-_ZT—)\H+_A=+—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018

—EB-N\F —E—+F
FET FAT
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
REREEESHNMIEESME  Cash flows from investing activities
U EEE E & Em S Purchases and deposits paid for
MIBEFIENE® acquisition of fixed assets (1,068,819) (1,043,277)
T -RKEEZERAA Loan to an intermediate holding company
HER (801,316) -
TEfH AR S FR I AN Additions to prepaid lease payments (261,138) (35,369)
K HA e R IE 42 0 Additions of long term receivables (66,194) (74,633)
Wy S BT Acquisition of mining rights (36,312) (135,782)
B2 RIRITIF 538 00 Increase in pledged bank deposits (23,589) (23,131)
R—KBLE R IE Capital injection in an associate (18,217) (17,228)
RiBAEFEURE Payment for acquisition of subsidiaries in
N NEIEOES B prior years (2,999) (146,962)
KB (F)—RARHB Repayments from (loan to) a fellow subsidiary
NEIHEZ () 747,176 (717,780)
KEAENFUWERALE  Dividend received from joint ventures 192,036 181,890
B U H B Interest received 133,646 68,162
EERBEWFIA Repayments of long term receivables 83,938 14,346
RE—XKEZARUENE)  Dividend received from an associate
@SN 18,864 65,492
HEEEEEMSNRIE Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets 13,218 22,135
BERAIRER (B3 Repayment from (advances to) joint ventures 11,200 (2,875)
&N RIMER (B0 Repayment from (advances to) associates 3,548 (8,304)
WHE—RW B AT Acquisition of a subsidiary
(INBEWERe X (net of cash and cash equivalents acquired)
REEEY) - (34,929)
REREFAAMIR S FE  Net cash used in investing activities (1,074,958) (1,888,245)
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ReREREXR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE T \F+-A=+t—HILFE

For the year ended 31 December 2018

—E2-N\F —E—+tF
FET FAT
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
RERMEEFSHNIESME  Cash flows from financing activities
RS Dividends paid (2,932,913) (1,241,258)
BERHETER Repayments of long term bank loans (2,909,213) (2,358,890)
RERIRITE K (Decrease) increase in short term bank loans
ORi ) 1&g (1,791,597) 1,743,119
ST EM R AR IR Settlement of other long term payables (10,095) (6,088)
BATHRR D P15 F 5 Net proceeds from issuance of new Shares 4,180,279 -
g RERITER Long term bank loans raised 652,355 2,897,225
KB —RIFERAR R Capital contribution from a non-controlling
EE shareholder 7,851 3,406
EiRERTES Repayment of unsecured bonds - (3,124,496)
EE—KRAZR Repayment to a fellow subsidiary
MR EFRIA - (1,756,173)
EEEHES Repayment of commercial paper - (592,710)
WHE—IRAMEATA  Acquisition of additional interest of an existing
BIMER subsidiary - (58,702)
KE—RKEFR Loan from a fellow subsidiary
MEARER - 1,703,100
REEBFTAMIREFEE  Net cash used in financing activities (2,803,333) (2,791,467)
FERENRESEEY Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
SFEE N for the year 7,452,732 1,933,235
FNRELRSFEY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
the year 5,384,094 3,158,684
ME R EIRNE MIRTT Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on
EHR R cash and bank balances (535,325) 292,175
FRAGMRSEEY Cash and cash equivalents at end of
g e MIRTTH R the year, representing cash and bank
balances 12,301,501 5,384,094
T NEEH
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1.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

For the year ended 31 December 2018

GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Company
Law (2002 Revision) of the Cayman Islands on 13 March 2003
and its shares were listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited on 6 October 2009. Its immediate holding company is
CRH (Cement) Limited, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands. Its ultimate holding company is China Resources
Company Limited, a company established in the Chinese
Mainland.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries (together with the Company hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
manufacture and sale of cement, concrete and other related
products and services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$") while the functional currency of the Company
is Renminbi (“RMB”). The Company has adopted HK$ as its
presentation currency because the management considered
it is more beneficial to the users of the consolidated financial
statements.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for
the first time in the current year:

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKAS 40

HK(FRIC)-Int 22

Annual improvements
2014-2016 cycle

Classification and measurement
of share-based payment
transactions

Applying HKFRS 9 “Financial
instruments” with HKFRS 4
“Insurance contracts”

Financial instruments

Revenue from contracts with
customers and the related
amendments

Transfers of investment property

Foreign currency transactions
and advance consideration

Amendments to
HKFRS 1 and HKAS 28

Except as described below, the application of the new and revised
standards has had no material impact on the consolidated

financial statements.
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Hz—_Z2—N\F+=-_A=+—HLIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018

2. ERAHITKRKIEETEHEBE 2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

BHEER ([BEBMBR HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
HEA]) =) STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (Continued)
ERVBBEEAFEIREMTA HKFRS 9 Financial instruments
BTIEHREAERIER [SMmT A N = HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments” replaces HKAS 39 “Financial
T— ) \F— A —Hsk 2 BB FEERE instruments: recognition and measurement” for annual periods
BB ERE0 (£ T A 1# beginning on or after 1 January 2018, bringing together all three
REFE] ERELE=BEFENESET aspects of the accounting for financial instruments: classification
BettiEe  nEKETE  RERE . and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting.
T ERIE Classification and measurement
A TEREH SRR E B B mEERE9 The following information sets out the impacts of adopting HKFRS 9
SRETARE ISR R E - on the consolidated statement of financial position.
NZF—\F—H—B BESFELNE A reconciliation between the carrying amounts under HKAS 39
399RIE T AREE AR A I TS5 2RI 9 and the balances reported under HKFRS 9 as at 1 January 2018
SRIE T 2E T BRI T - is as follows:
= EBVKRE
X H| 53955 XE B 5E95%
FTESE BEWoE SRS
FET FTER FTER
HKAS 39 HKFRS 9
Measurement Measurement
amount Re-classification amount
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

BTIZETFER Trade receivable measured and
PHENEWRE SRR classified as

B R EY RIS Loans and receivables 2,593,819 (2,593,819) -
BN Amortized cost - 1,511,837 1,511,837
LA EEF AEM  Fair value through other

2E W comprehensive income - 1,081,982 1,081,982
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BRI REBITERBY 2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers

HKFRS 15 and its amendments replace HKAS 11 “Construction
contracts”, HKAS 18 “Revenue” and related interpretations and
it applies, with limited exceptions, to all revenue arising from
contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-
step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with
customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognized at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects
to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services
to a customer. The principles in HKFRS 15 provide a more
structured approach for measuring and recognizing revenue. The
standard also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue,
information about performance obligations, changes in contract
asset and liability account balances between periods and key
judgements and estimates. The disclosures are included in
Note 5 to the financial statements. As a result of the application
of HKFRS 15, the Group has changed the accounting policy
with respect to revenue recognition in Note 3 to the financial
statements.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 using the modified
retrospective method of adoption. Under this method, the
standard can be applied either to all contracts at the date of initial
application or only to contracts that are not completed at this date.
The Group has elected to apply the standard to contracts that are
not completed as at 1 January 2018.

—E-NFEER
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2.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

The cumulative effect of the initial application of HKFRS 15 would
not involve an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits as at 1 January 2018 and the comparative information was
not restated and continues to be reported under HKAS 11, HKAS
18 and related interpretations.

Before the adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group recognized
consideration received from customers in advance as deposits
from customers which is included in other payables. Under
HKFRS 15, the amount is classified as contract liabilities which is
included in other payables. Therefore, upon adoption of HKFRS
15, the Group reclassified HK$813,817,000 from deposits from
customers to contract liabilities as at 1 January 2018 in relation
to the consideration received from customers in advance as at 1
January 2018. As at 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2018,
under HKFRS 15, HK$802,117,000 and HK$813,817,000 were
reclassified from deposits from customers to contract liabilities in
relation to the consideration received from customers in advance
for the sale of goods, respectively.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs") (Continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 28

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Annual improvements

Definition of a business?
Prepayment features with negative
compensation’
Sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and
its associate or joint venture?
Leases!

Insurance contracts’

Definition of material

Plan amendment, curtailment or
settlement!

Long-term interests in associates
and joint ventures?

Uncertainty over income tax
treatments?

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11,

2015-2017 cycle HKAS 12 and HKAS 237
! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.
i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

Except for the new HKFRS mentioned below, the Directors do not
anticipate that the application of other new and revised HKFRSs
and Interpretations will have material impact on the consolidated

financial statements of the Group.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 “Leases”, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
“Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease”,
HK(SIC)-Int 15 “Operating leases — incentives” and HK(SIC)-
Int 27 “Evaluating the substance of transactions involving the
legal form of a lease”. The standard sets out the principles for
the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of
leases and requires lessees to recognize assets and liabilities
for most leases. The standard includes two elective recognition
exemptions for lessees — leases of low-value assets and short-
term leases. At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will
recognize a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability)
and an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset
during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-of-
use asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses unless the right-of-use
asset meets the definition of investment property in HKAS 40, or
relates to a class of property, plant and equipment to which the
revaluation model is applied. The lease liability is subsequently
increased to reflect the interest on the lease liability and reduced
for the lease payments. Lessees will be required to separately
recognize the interest expense on the lease liability and the
depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees will also
be required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence
of certain events, such as change in the lease term and change
in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate used to determine those payments. Lessees will generally
recognize the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability
as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting
under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from the accounting
under HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases using
the same classification principle as in HKAS 17 and distinguish
between operating leases and finance leases. HKFRS 16 requires
lessees and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than
under HKAS 17. Lessees can choose to apply the standard using
either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

The Group will adopt HKFRS 16 from 1 January 2019. The Group
plans to adopt the transitional provisions in HKFRS 16 to recognize
the cumulative effect of initial adoption as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained earnings at 1 January 2019 and will
not restate the comparatives. In addition, the Group plans to apply
the new requirements to contracts that were previously identified
as leases applying HKAS 17 and measure the lease liability at
the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted
using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial
application. The right-of-use asset will be measured at the amount
of the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid
or accrued lease payments relating to the lease recognized in
the statement of financial position immediately before the date
of initial application. The Group plans to use the exemptions
allowed by the standard on lease contracts whose lease terms
end within 12 months as of the date of initial application. During
2018, the Group has performed a detailed assessment on the
impact of adoption of HKFRS 16. The Group has estimated that
right-of-use assets of HK$156,396,000 and lease liabilities of
HK$183,818,000 will be recognized at 1 January 2019 with a
corresponding adjustment to the opening balance of retained
earnings.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for investment properties and certain
trade receivables, which are measured at fair value, as explained
in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair
value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope
of HKAS 17, and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realizable value in HKAS 2
or value in use in HKAS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorized into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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(Continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

Income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having
a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line

with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

—E-NFEER
Annual Report 201¥8 1 69




=\
el

1% R R B 5T

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Hz—_Z2—N\F+=-_A=+—HLIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018

3.

BEREFEE @)

mEEE(HE)

FEERBEERE L AR EE S
HY 42 By

A SE iU IEEYNCIE IR S 2 S L
TEHREE S H BRI H4E - 157 EE
MR HIZE - ANEE R R BIF
R R s O RRIE & BRI T S A RBR 1% 5
RIBRRIMEREEENE S BHEAE
BRI < MR R A IRIE AR E
KRR s O L IR e EE TSR B

BAEE KR E B A R AR IR
ZMBARMEENR AR MIFERED
() BURTER - BENBE AR - X
7 (BRRELAFEEREMIRE#ER
N EERBENEE (BEHE)RT
AIARE(E S M A A B (B S AT IR
Rz MHEEAE AR AR
EWERZ B A RHERNSRE TUA
iR BIAKE D BRI EZMB A RN
HEEEXEE (AEREEVHHRE
RERIEVRTE /Fro B0 A IR s
ER—ERR) -NAREIEHIRE BER
MBARURENEMRENLTFEE &
RIBEBMBREERNESR  EEHERA
RSB R ER N A FEE 3 (1
BR) ERERN B E R RHAE QAN
BERRA

ERIRZERER AR

170

3.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group’s relevant components of equity and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant
reserves between the Group and the non-controlled interests
according to the Group’s and the non-controlling interests’
proportionate interests.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognized. A gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (i) the previous carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and
any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognized
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted
by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded
as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under HKFRS 9 or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition
of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.



R OIS Kb sE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WRE TS SR U A IR - A5 A BHEV P
ERAERAFEEE MAETER
RIS BEE R B ANER A A O ST
WEETT AR AR BB R AR B AN
Ui 77 PR I T 357 T AR A UK B A
HI R HEER AR - BRLE AR —R
RELRNBEPHER -

PR B HA - FTURRE &Y A] 38051 B E S P
ENREIREAFEERR HEATIS
SLERIN

. EEHBEEEXBBENEEER
MZHRENEERBED BIZ
BB g ERIE125 [FrEH ] &
R GRTERIZE19R [EE R
HERLATE:

. B BT AR D A ERE RO 1 5R
L YRR B SA P RT SL AR 5= B LAY
17 RERER ML B AR R
T3 AR AR M ERE RN R BB 7R
BBESERT A HRKER S
WE B IREER B2 [ LA
DRERNZK]GE: R

. RIBE B I 15 S RIS [45
EHERIERBEEN DR ILEE
5 DR RFHEHENEE (X
HEARD RIFZ LR E -

5

2T N\F+_A=+—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred to the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognized at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognized
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income
taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee benefits” respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
“Share-based payment” at the acquisition date; and

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current assets
held for sale and discontinued operations” are measured
in accordance with that standard.
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3.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any),
the excess is recognized immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity's net
assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either
at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share
of the recognized amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for
which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted during the measurement period, and additional
assets or liabilities are recognized, to reflect new information
obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognized at that date.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there is
an indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognized directly in profit or
loss. An impairment loss recognized for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal.
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Z=H
1 74 China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Fixed assets

Fixed assets including land and buildings held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than construction in progress as described below)
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Construction in progress including fixed assets in the course of
construction for production, supply or administrative purposes are
carried at cost, less any recognized impairment loss. Construction
in progress is classified to the appropriate categories of fixed asset
when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognized so as to write off the cost of items
of fixed assets other than construction in progress less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis. The estimated useful lives of fixed assets other
than construction in progress are as follows:

Land and buildings Over the unexpired lease terms

Plant and machinery 310 40 years
Logistics equipment 10 to 40 years
Others 3 to 35 years

An item of fixed assets is derecognized upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal
or retirement of an item of fixed assets is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognized in profit or loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their fair values. Gains or
losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment property
are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognized upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in
which the item is derecognized.

Mining rights

Mining rights acquired separately or acquired in a business
combination and with finite useful lives are carried at costs
and at their fair value at the acquisition date, respectively, less
accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment
losses. Amortization for mining rights, which have finite useful
lives, is recognized on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortization method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

A mining right is derecognized on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gain or
loss arising from derecognition of mining right is measured at the
difference between the net disposal proceed and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or loss in the period
when the asset is derecognized.
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3.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

For the year ended 31 December 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates and joint ventures used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognized in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognize the Group’s share of the profit or loss and
other comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture.
Changes in net assets of the associate or joint venture other than
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted
for unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership
interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of
an associate or joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that
associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognizing its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognized only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognized
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognized immediately in profit
or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the
date when the investment ceases to be an associate or a joint
venture, or when the investment is classified as held for sale.
When the Group retains an interest in the former associate or
joint venture and the retained interest is a financial asset, the
Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in
accordance with HKFRS 9. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture at the date the equity
method was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained
interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in
the associate or joint venture is included in the determination of
the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognized
in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint
venture on the same basis as would be required if that associate
or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognized in other
comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets
or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to
profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal or
partial disposal of the relevant associate or joint venture.
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3.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

For the year ended 31 December 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment
in an associate. There is no re-measurement to fair value upon
such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or
a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method,
the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or
loss that had previously been recognized in other comprehensive
income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain
or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate or joint venture are recognized in the Group'’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in
the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Prepaid lease payments

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group,
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in
which case the entire lease is accounted as an operating lease.
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building element of the
lease at the inception of the lease.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Prepaid lease payments (Continued)

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortized over
the lease term on a straight-line basis except for those that are
classified and accounted for as investment properties under the
fair value model. When the lease payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the land and building elements, the entire lease is
generally classified as a finance lease and accounted for as fixed
assets.

Impairment (other than goodwill)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss, if any.

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
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3.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Impairment (other than goodwill) (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in
use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is
recognized immediately in profit or loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognized for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit
or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value.
Cost of inventories are determined using the weighted average
method. Net realizable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.



R OIS Kb sE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BEAEHEHE 8
WARRZ (HE=B—NF—H—B#&
B

BEEAKUA

P A KIS Sk IR e e

EEPRER HeBRRAKER
RpZEEmMIRGMARES ZKE-

(a) EHmiH&
KEEmHERNBAREETH
ROBBEEEPEER —RIER
TREFPEMNE M-

(b)  FELIRTF
K EREREWARE REER
SHEEREER - REREPRE
BB OB R BATIR A et -

Bt A KR

THEW AN E F PR L | B

Ao

FEMA 2 FABEBRFIRO AR IE R 3 AL
R MERFXRII AR RE R T AR
Hisk B 8 (AiE ) i b st AR AR &
WAEREYTRE S BE E REFEAF)
o

5

2T N\F+_A=+—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 January 2018)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

(a) Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized at the
point in time when control of the asset is transferred to
the customer, generally on acceptance of the goods by
customers.

(b) Provision of services

Revenue from the provision of services is recognized over
the scheduled period on a straight-line basis because
the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognized on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms.

Interest income is recognized on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life
of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable before 1 January 2018)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold and services provided in the normal course of business
and net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when the goods are
delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the following
conditions are satisfied:

° the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the goods;

o the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

° the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

° it is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the transaction will flow to the Group; and

° the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Service income is recognized when services are rendered.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognized when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is
accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset's net carrying
amount on initial recognition.



R OIS Kb sE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BEAEHEHE 8

ENERE(BE=2-N\E-A—-HE
EA)

BHNEERARBREEREF WEKE
(HKREFECEH)  MAATFEREE
RO RE - HEFPRAKEE RS
RS TP RSN RUE - RIRELAT
RN RENHE (ARPBEE RE)
RENEE AHNEERAEEETAELD
PR RERR AUl et

BERE

[EERAERNDERE BERLES
BREE (REFRAAERFENEZHEL
EREK A HHEENEE) R AKX
FEENRA BEEECEBZEER
BERBRHERRLE-

HARARABIREENEREFEHIR
ERBERA  REBRENMEE
BERAR IR -

PR EERATREEEWHIRER

5

2T N\F+_A=+—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Contract liabilities (applicable from 1 January 2018)

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to
a customer for which the Group has received a consideration (or
an amount of consideration that is due) from the customer. If a
customer pays the consideration before the Group transfers goods
or services to the customer, a contract liability is recognized when
the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier).
Contract liabilities are recognized as revenue when the Group
performs under the contract.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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3.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation” as reported in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income because it
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group'’s current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognized for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilized. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognized if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from
the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognized if the temporary difference arises from internal
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognized to the extent
that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilize the benefits of the temporary differences and they
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realized, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner
in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities and deferred
tax assets for investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale.

Current and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognized in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognized in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.
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3.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Government grants

Government grants are not recognized until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognized in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognizes as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that
the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-
current assets are recognized as a deduction from the carrying
amount of the relevant asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic
and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognized in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the group entities are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period, and their income and expenses are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the year, in which case, the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognized in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on acquisitions of group entities are treated as assets
and liabilities of that group entities and retranslated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognized in other comprehensive income.
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3.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognized in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Financial assets (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from

1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as

subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial assets (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from
1 January 2018) (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset's contractual cash flow characteristics
and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the
exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables
are measured at the transaction price determined under
HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition (applicable from 1 January 2018)” above.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortized cost or fair value through other comprehensive income,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognized on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.
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3. EXESHBEm®m 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

ctREE(BEZZE—N\F—HAF—HE Financial assets (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from

BRAZEBVBREENFIRETNZ 1 January 2018) (Continued)

BE) (&)

H#GE Subsequent measurement

KA EN B EE (EFET Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments)

A)

fish o 2 BA T R RG-S S [ 42 A S K The Group measures financial assets at amortized cost if both of

TErEEmEE: the following conditions are met:
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ERMENEFEAPIFEFNSH the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
BE- contractual cash flows.

. TRIEEME QG IEE B H . The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
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RESE AT EN S MEERRERER Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured

MLt 8 WA RETE BEE using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.

TR ST ORI ER - e KB ER Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the asset is

B R derecognized, modified or impaired.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial assets (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from
1 January 2018) (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(debt instruments)

The Group measures debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income if both of the following conditions are met:

° The financial asset is held within a business model with
the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling.

° The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognized in profit or loss and
computed in the same manner as for financial assets measured at
amortized cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognized
in other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the
cumulative fair value change recognized in other comprehensive
income is recycled to profit or loss.

Financial assets (policies under HKAS 39 applicable before
1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
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3.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial assets (policies under HKAS 39 applicable before
1 January 2018) (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group’s financial assets are classified as loans and
receivables. The classification depends on the nature and purpose
of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial
recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognized and derecognized on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade receivables, other receivables, long term receivables, loan to
a fellow subsidiary, amounts due from joint ventures/associates,
pledged bank deposits and cash and bank balances) are
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method,
less any identified impairment losses.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortized cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all
fees and interests paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018)

The Group recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognized in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a 12
month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018) (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification.
At each reporting date, the Group evaluates whether the debt
investments are considered to have low credit risk using all
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort. In making that evaluation, the Group
reassesses the external credit ratings of the debt investments.

The Group may consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is
unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018) (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortized cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are classified
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12 month ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for

Stage 1 -

Stage 2 —

which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss

Stage 3 -

allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established
a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018)

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the
end of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to
be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial
assets have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or
° breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in

interest or principal payments; or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organization.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a
collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of
receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in
the portfolio past the average credit period, as well as observable
changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate
with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognized is the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective
interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable
is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off
are credited to profit or loss. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognized in profit or loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018) (Continued)

For financial assets measured at amortized cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and
the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognized, the previously recognized
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent
that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment
is reversed does not exceed what the amortized cost would have

been had the impairment not been recognized.
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognizes a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when
it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognized in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in
an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables, other
payables, unsecured medium term notes and bank loans.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement
Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, bank loans are subsequently measured
at amortized cost, using the effective interest rate method unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the
effective interest rate amortization process.

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortization
is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognizes financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognized and the consideration paid and payable is
recognized in profit or loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Employee benefits

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
government-managed retirement benefit schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognized as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Provisions for other employee benefits are recognized when the
Group has a present obligation to provide such benefits to its
employee and are measured at the Directors’ best estimate of
the future obligations discounted to their present value where the
effect is material.

Long term award scheme

The cost of acquisition of the Company’s shares pursuant to the
long term award scheme is recorded as shares held for long term
award scheme. The shares held for the long term award scheme
will be disposed of for cash which will be distributed to the eligible
employees.

When the shares held for long term award scheme are disposed
of and the resulting proceeds from disposal are distributed to the
employees, the proceeds distributed to employees are recognized
as expenses (staff costs), and the difference between the proceeds
received and the cost of the shares is credited to retained profits.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of
the value in use of the CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated.
The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGUs and a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value. The
estimation uncertainty mainly included gross margin, discount rate
and growth rate.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the carrying amounts of
goodwill were HK$1,193,827,000 and HK$1,214,697,000,
respectively. Details of the recoverable amount calculation are
disclosed in Note 19.

Deferred tax assets

The realizability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on
whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences
will be available in the future. In cases where the actual future
profits generated are less than or more than expected, a reversal
or a recognition of deferred tax assets would be recognized in
profit or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income for the year in which such a reversal or recognition
takes place. As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the carrying
amounts of deferred tax assets were HK$208,358,000 and
HK$256,361,000, respectively (see Note 22).



R OIS Kb sE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE2-_F—NF+-_A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018

Est ABHBEEMEER 4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

R ()
FE U 5 BE kA5 R

REEE BB BERE ERKE SRR
MIRHEEEE - BB R A B RLUEE
RN TREF S (ARtE  EmE
B XPRALER) ZREASGTE-

B REN A S ENE L BSED
T REBKRBRABEEARBRESLE
EERAREAEIEER - Pl 1RTE
AEEA R (AN RN ELRE) B AERK
—FARIL ERREEHRERENHE
B BERRBOXESRAR - ERRE
B BELBRIBNTBEWEN I
DITARKE A LR AR L

HFE S BRB|E R  TERIREAR R
KIBEHEEEE 2 MR ISR —
BEEHGT - FEREEEENSEEIR
B RIE R A B AR R BURK - AR5
BRE S (5 BRI ER R S R R /078
Bt AT AR R KRR EPNERIEL
BRAAEEREKE SREFNEREEESR
ME R B BRI IR R MIEE25 - A=
T \ER-T—+F+-A=1+—HE
U B 5 IR TRV BRE (B 5 Bl A2,367,299,000
78 7T (S 30 B R 12 BR 1 #8247,297 00074
7T) }2,593 819,000/ 7T, (&4 IR
272,986,000/ 7T )

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated impairment of trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on the aging days for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geography, product type, customer type and
rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e.,
GDP) are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can
lead to an increased number of defaults in the manufacturing
sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group’s
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of customer’s actual
default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in Note 25 to the financial
statements, respectively. As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the
carrying amounts of trade receivables were HK$2,367,299,000
(net of allowance for doubtful debts of HK$247,297,000) and
HK$2,593,819,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts of
HK$272,986,000), respectively.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated impairment of fixed assets

The carrying amounts of fixed assets are assessed for impairment
when facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amounts
of the fixed assets may exceed their recoverable amounts.
The Group’s determination as to whether the fixed assets are
impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of
the assets. The Directors exercise their judgement in estimating
the recoverable amount. Where the recoverable amount is
less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise. The
Directors conducted a review of the Group’s production assets
and determined that the assets of certain subsidiaries were
fully impaired because it is expected that these assets will not
generate future benefit to the Group. During the year ended 31
December 2018, an impairment loss of HK$42,625,000 (2017:
HK$152,809,000) has been recognized in respect of those fixed
assets (see Note 15).

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION

Segment information has been identified on the basis of different
products in internal management reports which are prepared in
accordance with accounting policies conformed with HKFRSs,
that are regularly reviewed by the chief executive officer in order to
allocate resources to the operating segments and to assess their
performance.

The Group's operating and reportable segments are as follows:
Cement — manufacture and sale of cement and related products
Concrete — manufacture and sale of concrete and related products

Turnover represents the amounts received and receivable for
goods sold to outside customers.
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TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment results represent the profits earned by each segment
without allocation of central administration costs, Directors’
salaries, share of results of associates and joint ventures, interest
income, finance costs and exchange differences.

All of the revenues in cement segment and concrete segment
are from sale of goods, which are recognized when the goods
are transferred at a point in time. The performance obligation is
satisfied upon delivery of the goods.

The information of segment results is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2018

K pi=y da ¥4 Fob ]
TET TET TET TET
Cement Concrete Elimination Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

BEE—SEUWE  TURNOVER - SEGMENT

REVENUE
HIMNEE External sales
DEbz BHE Inter-segment sales

DB EIHE TMRRITH S ERE

¥ RESULTS
DEPELE Segment results
FBUA Interest income
B 5 e Exchange gain
MsER Finance costs

RO AFNERMY  Unallocated net corporate

expenses

JE(RERENT)ELE  Share of results of associates
MBS ATIELE  Share of results of joint ventures

BRE AR Profit before taxation

32,533,483 6,257,987 38,791,470
1,028,919 2,078 (1,030,997) -

33,562,402 6,260,065 (1,030,997) 38,791,470

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market prices.

11,545,916 311,417 - 11,857,333

133,646
104,532
(643,768)

(519,408)
181,939
220,941

11,335,215
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5. EEXBERIHER 5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)
BHE_Z—+F+-A=+—HILLEFE For the year ended 31 December 2017
K AL $4H k]
FHBIT FHBIT FHBIT TR
Cement Concrete Elimination Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BXW-78WE  TURNOVER - SEGMENT
REVENUE
HIMEE External sales 24,901,082 5,057,346 - 29958428
DE 2 FEHE Inter-segment sales 782,817 2,024 (784,841) -
25,683,899 5,059,370 (784,841) 29,958,428
DEb 2 RSHE THRRITTIGERTE Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market prices.
E RESULTS
DEBELE Segment results 5,519,145 274,054 - 5,793,199
FBWA Interest income 68,596
B 5 e Exchange gain 263,697
bt =g Finance costs (638,342)
OB ARFRY  Unallocated net corporate
expenses (702,072)
FEIGEE S A RIZES  Share of results of associates 20,643
fEEAEATIELSE  Share of results of joint ventures 78317
BT & F Profit before taxation 4,884,038
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE2-_F—NF+-_A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018

5. EXHERTBER @ 5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)
NEEERED A FENERESIAT Information of segment assets and segment liabilities is as follows:
R+=—A=+—H
—E-N\F —E—tF
FET FET
As at 31 December
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
BE Assets
DESEE Segment assets
IKJE — Cement 35,217,865 37,864,638
N — Concrete 2,810,803 2,967,297
38,028,668 40,831,935
i /NS L= o Interests in associates 5,463,446 5,535,302
REERRIMNER Interests in joint ventures 1,409,378 1,425,223
EERIEE E Deferred tax assets 208,358 256,361
AR R IE Taxation recoverable 23,401 108,033
RAOBRATERE (ia)  Unallocated corporate assets (note a) 15,373,131 8,369,748
SEBEMBT Consolidated total assets 60,506,382 56,526,602
afE Liabilities
nEaE Segment liabilities
—7KE — Cement 6,104,461 6,029,224
— Rt — Concrete 1,450,541 1,330,895
7,555,002 7,360,119
EEBREAE Deferred tax liabilities 349,303 94,358
FERT R 1A Taxation payable 1,272,802 443,893
KPBAFIEE (7b) Unallocated corporate liabilities (note b) 13,434,113 18,145,791
IRABERE Consolidated total liabilities 22,611,220 26,044,161

2 notes:

a. KAOTARIEERR @ MRITHEH BER a. Unallocated corporate assets represent cash and bank balances, pledged
BITER T-RKRARMBARNER T bank deposits, loan to a fellow subsidiary, loan to an intermediate holding
—RKEEERARNER LB EE- company and assets of the headquarters.

b. KOBARIBERRITER  EIKHP R b. Unallocated corporate liabilities represent bank loans, unsecured medium

IR RABES R E AL R - R RTTE R
EERTHRERARESBHHPIRPE
B MRS TRE D ARD AR AE.

term notes and other payables of the headquarters. The bank loans and
unsecured medium term notes are classified as unallocated corporate
liabilities because they are managed centrally by the treasury function of the
Group.

—E-NFEER
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BE-_ZT—)\H+_A=+—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018

5, EXHBERPHER 5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)
H fth 55 30 & H Other segment information
BE-Z-N\F+-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December 2018
K BRL NG =AE REHME
BT BT BT BT
Corporate  Consolidated
Cement Concrete level total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
NEETEE Additions to fixed assets 925,896 130,441 73 1,056,410
R Additions to mining rights 36,312 - - 36,312
FENHEERELI  Additions to prepaid lease
payments 161,363 99,775 - 261,138
BERETEES  (Decrease) increase in deposits
CR) 1 for acquisition of fixed assets (212,933) 3,783 - (209,150)
REREE Allowance (reversal of
(A E) allowance) for doubtful debts 2,479 (19,381) - (16,902)
H At fE IR Allowance for doubtful debts of
RIZREE other receivables 23,169 4,000 - 27,169
RIEEE Amortization of mining rights 85,784 3,398 - 89,182
ETEENE Depreciation of fixed assets 1,849,692 135,792 592 1,986,076
EEERE Impairment of fixed assets 28,283 14,342 - 42,625
ANHEEZIERMME  Impairment of prepaid lease
payments 20,482 - - 20,482
FERERE Reversal of impairment of
inventories (4,132) - - (4,132)
HEBTFEERIE  Loss on disposal of fixed assets 42,510 436 280 43,226
TBNTEERESES  Release of prepaid lease
payments 71,490 6,886 - 78,376
HEMENTFEME  Gainon changes in fair value of
BEELHK S investment properties - (7,200 - (7,200)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5.

HE2-_F—NF+-_A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018
EEENR T EHBER (&) 5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)
HibpHER (F) Other segment information (Continued)
BE_ZT—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2017
Ke JE R NG =] RE B
FHIT FHIT FHIT FHIT
Corporate Consolidated
Cement Concrete level total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
NEEBETEEE Additions to fixed assets 959,136 175,153 637 1,134,926
ERAEAELE AN Additions to mining rights 135,582 200 - 135,782
FEFAEFRTEIE AN Additions to prepaid lease
payments 20,809 14,560 - 35,369
SR Addition to goodwil - 1,041 - 1,041
BERBTEEERS (Decrease) increase in deposits
Om) for acquisition of fixed assets (46,854) 1,153 - (45,701)
RIZER (Reversal of allowance)
(K@) 3K  allowance for doubtful debts (484) 36,117 - 35,633
H Ath FE YR IR Allowance for doubtful debts of
RIZREIE other receivables 93,062 284 - 93,346
PR RS 5 Amortization of mining rights 81,542 3,905 - 85,447
EERENE Depreciation of fixed assets 1,715,734 134,483 667 1,850,884
EEERE Impairment of fixed assets 124,923 27,886 - 152,809
EERE Impairment of goodwill 78,934 - - 78,934
GFERE Impairment (reversal of
CRERm) impairment) of inventories 4,624 (420) - 4,204
HEBTEERTE Losson disposal of fixed assets 22,302 9,625 95 32,022
TEFAEFRTEEESE  Release of prepaid lease
payments 68,366 5,202 - 73,568
B E N F(EE  Gain on changes in fair value of
HEELEMWE  investment properties - (17,800) - (17,800)

FHIEEFHNESR

R MIEFRER - NEEEERE P 8
SRR AN EHEEEENI0% -

& & R

AEENRBEBRARIFRBEEETN R
(AR B A e & o

Information about major customers

No sales to an individual customer contributed over 10% of the
total sales of the Group for both years.

Geographical information

All revenue and non-current assets of the Group are arisen in and
located in the Chinese Mainland and Hong Kong.

- \EEH
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Hz—_Z2—N\F+=-_A=+—HLIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018

6. HkA 6. OTHER INCOME
—E2-N\F —E—tF
FET THT
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
T 5ER (27) Government incentives
(note) 180,900 84,622
FLEA Interest income 133,646 68,596
& R R R BE R Sales of raw materials and
scrap 115,755 77,424
ARAE U A Service income 3,216 5,502
el A Rental income 55,135 49962
KB IR A EEE Compensation received
from insurance 14,753 19,498
REHERREPHEE Compensation received
from suppliers and
customers 18,111 12,444
HAith Others 52,808 52,872
574,324 370,920
it AT RN 2T BT HIRT - B note:  Government incentives mainly represented tax refunds, operating subsidies
K BeFER Y B2 - and energy reduction incentives from local governments.
7. HMBEEHR 7. FINANCE COSTS
—E-N\F —EF—tF
FET FHT
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
NTEIERMFE : Interests on:
RITER BEPES BEMEHRESK  Bank loans, unsecured
EEPPEBER bonds, unsecured
commercial paper and
unsecured medium
term notes 643,064 614,859
KE—KRAZR Loan from a fellow
) PNCIE =S subsidiary - 22,780
Ho b = HAFE < 5B Other long term payables 704 703
643,768 638,342
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HE2-_F—NF+-_A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018
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8. BREAER 8. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
—E-)N\F —T 4
F#&xT T
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
BREAIZFE Mk Profit before taxation has
(BT AV AT &IE: been arrived at after
charging (crediting):
FEME (HFE9) Directors’ emoluments
(Note 9) 16,666 15,374
BT (TEEES)RREKEAR Pension costs and
SR B AR HK mandatory provident
fund contributions for
staff, excluding Directors 305,115 168,448
HAh 8 TR Other staff costs 3,343,831 2,957,254
B TR A 458 Total staff costs 3,665,612 3,141,076
RZER (EHEEDE) HE (Reversal of allowance)
allowance for doubtful
debts (16,902) 35,633
H W IE R R Allowance for doubtful
debts of other
receivables 27,169 93,346
s (Bt A—MRRITHER) Amortization of mining
rights (included
in general and
administrative expenses) 89,182 85,447
1% 85 R 27 B Auditor's remuneration 5,456 6,444
TEENE Depreciation of fixed assets 1,986,076 1,850,884
EEEERE Impairment of fixed assets 42,625 152,809
[EESDERED Impairment of goodwill - 78,934
FE ORERR)RE (Reversal of impairment)
impairment of
inventories 4,132) 4,204
FIERERE Impairment of mining rights 15,860 -
TEfHHE IR A Impairment of prepaid
lease payments 20,482 -
HEETEEERE Loss on disposal of fixed
assets 43,226 32,022
AT S BRI LMK Operating lease payments
in respect of
—HEWE — rented premises 62,106 47,069
—)_E — motor vehicles 519,110 406,719
AR E R IEHEIH Release of prepaid lease
payments 78,376 73,568
T NEEH
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BE-_ZT—)\H+_A=+—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018

9. EEME 9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
EEZMe Directors’ emoluments
BE-Z—\F+ZA=1+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2018
RKERAE
R % R
EZHE HoREE  DBREHR HiERa e @it
TET TET TET TEL TEL TEL
Pension
costs and
mandatory Long
Salaries provident term
Directors' and fund  Discretionary award
E=pg Name of Director fees allowance  contributions bonus scheme Total

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

HiTEE Executive Directors
L ZHOU Longshan 80 2,191 211 3,924 - 6,406
2Ra JI'Youhong 80 1,539 144 3,013 - 4,776
28R LAU Chung Kwok Robert 80 1,449 145 2,770 - 4,444
g Sub-fotal 240 5,179 500 9,707 - 15,626
HRTEE Non-executive Directors
B CHEN Ying - - - - - -
IE WANG Yan - - - - - -
BER WAN Suet Fei* - - - - _ _
RHE JING Shiging* - - - - - -
X R? DU Wenmir? - - - - _ _
AR WEI Bin* - - - - - _
Nt Subotal - - - - _ _
BUFHTEE  Independent non-executive Directors
0 IP Shu Kwan Stephen 260 - - - - 260
REF SHEK Lai Him Abraham 260 - - - - 260
R ZENG Xuemin 260 - - - - 260
MR LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 260 - - - - 260
1N Sub-total 1,040 - - - - 1,040
1,280 5,179 500 9,707 - 16,666

* R-F—NFOA+—HEZT * Appointed with effect from 12 May 2018

# R-F—NFALA+—HLEIT # Retired with effect from 11 May 2018

# REZFE-NF—AFTLHAEF # Resigned with effect from 19 January 2018
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HE2-_F—NF+-_A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018

9. EEME & 9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
BEEME (8) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)
BHE_Z—+F+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2017

R =4
EEHE  HelElM  ABREHH Higa A HE] i
T T T T THL FEL
Pension
costs and
mandatory Long
Salaries provident term
Directors’ and fund  Discretionary award
ML Name of Director fees allowance  contributions bonus scheme Total

HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000

HITEZE Executive Directors
L ZHOU Longshan 80 2,185 211 3311 - 5,787
iR JI'Youhong 80 1,515 144 2,709 - 4,448
28R LAU Chung Kwok Robert 80 1450 145 2,544 - 4219
N Sub-total 240 5,150 500 8,504 - 14,454
HRTEE Non-executive Directors
HXE DU Wenmin - - - - - -
e CHEN Ying - - - - - -
IE WANG Yan - - - - - -
i WEI Bin - - - - _ _
1N Sub-total - - - - - -
BUFHTEE  Independent non-executive Diectors
=310 P Shu Kwan Stephen 230 - - - - 230
hER SHEK Lai Him Abraham 230 - - - - 230
Lay ZENG Xuemin 230 - - - - 230
MEE LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 230 - - - - 230
N Subtotal 90 - - - - 920
1,160 5,150 500 8,064 - 15374
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Hz—_Z2—N\F+=-_A=+—HLIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018

9.

10.

EEME (@

EEMS (F)
FXFRRBITE RS T ER RS
BEAATRAEEEEA RSN

EXFRBMFATTE SRS T B2
FRAEARREEORBEM A -

& & %

R-ZT—\F AEE=HMEASTER
Z(ZT—F:ZR)EF KENM
BN LXK R BERN N T A%
i F N ELA B AR 5 -

9.

10.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were paid for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company and the Group.

The emoluments of the independent non-executive directors
shown above were paid for their services as directors of the
Company.

EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATIONS

The five highest paid individuals in 2018 included two Directors
(2017: three) whose emoluments are included in the disclosures
in Note 9 above. Total remunerations paid to the five highest paid
individuals are:

—E-N\HF —E—tF

FET FAT
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
=ik Directors’ fees 160 240
e EMREIBIEL Salaries, allowances and
discretionary bonus 25,358 21,445
RIRER A Rg 6 ATER K Pension costs and
mandatory provident
fund contributions 735 759
26,253 22,444
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HE2-_F—NF+-_A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018

10. EEHFM & 10.

BENHMN FLATHE:

EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATIONS (continued)

Their remunerations were within the following bands:

—E-N\F —T—+tF

2018 2017
3,500,001 7t 24,000,000/ 7T HK$3,500,001 to
HK$4,000,000 - 1
4,000,001 T 24,500,000/ 7T HK$4,000,001 to
HK$4,500,000 - 3
4,500,001 7T 25,000,000/ 7T HK$4,500,001 to
HK$5,000,000 3 -
5,500,001/ 7t 26,000,000/ 7T HK$5,500,001 to
HK$6,000,000 1 1
6,000,001 7T 26,500,000/ 7T HK$6,000,001 to
HK$6,500,000 1 -
5 5
11. $1E 11. TAXATION
—E-N\F —E 4
FHET THET
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
BN EAF IE Current taxation
BEFEH Hong Kong Profits Tax 13,876 27,156
AR A 1 FE TS B Chinese Mainland
Enterprise Income Tax 3,056,941 1,203,117
3,070,817 1,230,273
RiBTFEBEREE Overprovision in prior years
AR A T FE TS B Chinese Mainland
Enterprise Income Tax (41,568) (16,057)
EEFEIE (H1222) Deferred taxation (Note 22)
BE Hong Kong 6,523 (3,822)
A Chinese Mainland 292,714 81,027
299,237 77,205
3,328,486 1,291,421

—2— \FEH
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1% R R B 5T

= — &

BHEZT

11.

BIE ()

BB ST R A AR BRI
BA16 5% Bt E

RN RS BIERIET B RiE
[ R P [E 4 T P O R AR B I e #2025 % T
BHPTSH - ARIRI0% B/ B A
B A RALS By B A TR S B A
Y EE S R 2l N [ A U

P A 7 52 (B 3R A 128 ) B e 22 BE A1) J88 [ 55
A BEGRERE R fe T e ] T8 R AR IR
BE - PR B A RN
—N\F+ZA=+—BABIEI A IRIR
B8 2 ) 15 Y B BRF 2 §829,506,035,00078
70 ( ZZF—+4: 25739,174,000/7T) * I
BRSBTS IR R P ARER B A E L
B

ERIRZERER AR
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—\F+-F=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018

TAXATION (Continued)

Hong Kong Profits Tax was calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years.

Chinese Mainland Enterprise Income Tax includes the income
tax which is calculated at 25% on the taxable income of the
group entities in the Chinese Mainland, and the withholding tax
in the Chinese Mainland for dividends and the deferred tax on
the intended distribution profits from subsidiaries in the Chinese
Mainland to a holding company in Hong Kong, which are
calculated at 10%, for both years.

No deferred tax liability has been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of the temporary
differences attributable to the undistributed retained profits
of HK$29,506,035,000 as at 31 December 2018 (2017:
HK$25,739,174,000) earned by the subsidiaries established in
the Chinese Mainland as the Group is able to control the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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HE-_Z—)\E+_-_A=+—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018

11. BB (&) 11. TAXATION (Continued)
RFFERIB S r] BEARR TR B4 & B S BR a0 The charge for the year can be reconciled to the consolidated
T profit before taxation as follows:
—E-)N\F —tF
FET FET
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fx 35 i 22 5 Profit before taxation 11,335,215 4,884,038
&P B AL 1 2 TS B A K25 % Tax at the Chinese
Mainland Enterprise
Income
Tax rate of 25% 2,833,804 1,221,010
EEEABENSARNROERN Tax effect of expenses that
Mg B are not deductible
in determining taxable
profit 116,672 136,944
ETERERABRFETTREHBALY Tax effect of income
M E that is not taxable in
determining taxable
profit (100,906) (123,268)
ETHRBEAHMEAREREEREN Tax effect of tax exemptions
Mg E granted to certain
Chinese Mainland
subsidiaries (6,930) (10,496)
RERBEENREZE Tax effect of tax losses not
recognized 123,276 147,211
AP A REROTIFEED Tax effect of utilization of
Mg e tax losses not previously
recognized (60,913) (20,265)
SMEBE N T EENT B E Tax effect of share of results
of associates (45,485) (5,161)
DhEERAEENRGTE Tax effect of share of results
of joint ventures (55,235) (19,579)
FEEMREREREENNB AR Effect of different tax rates
TR ERFZE of subsidiaries operating
in other jurisdictions (8,039) (10,396)
3K AR B PR i B /B 8 B A ) Y Tax effect of distributable
Mg profits of Chinese
Mainland subsidiaries 573,810 -
73k — K A B A B & §Y Tax effect of distributable
W2 profits of a Chinese
Mainland associate - (8,522)
KRBT FE B E Overprovision in prior years (41,568) (16,057)
REERNBHZ Taxation expense for the
year 3,328,486 1,291,421
T NEFH
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—\F+-F=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Employees in Hong Kong may be offered to participate in the
Group’s defined contribution retirement schemes or to join the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF”). The assets of the
defined contribution retirement schemes are held separately in
independently administered funds. The amount of contributions is
based on a specified percentage of the basic salaries of employees
and is charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. Any forfeited contributions in respect of unvested benefits
of staff leavers will be used to reduce the Group’s contributions.
There was no significant amount of unutilized forfeited
contributions at the end of each reporting period. The assets
under the MPF are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of the trustee. The Group and each of the
employees make monthly contributions to the MPF.

The employees of the Group in the Chinese Mainland are
members of government-managed retirement benefit schemes
operated by the respective local government in the Chinese
Mainland. The Group is required to contribute a specified
percentage of payroll cost to the retirement benefit schemes
to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to these schemes is to make the specified contributions.
Employees of the Group in the Chinese Mainland are also offered
to participate in the Group’s defined contribution retirement
schemes.
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HE2-_F—NF+-_A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018

13. RE 13. DIVIDENDS
—E-N\F —E—+F
FET FHETT
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
FACERIED RARE. Dividends recognized as
distribution during
the year:
ZE-N\FHHRE - FR0.2755 T 2018 Interim — HK$0.275
—ZE—+t%:8R0.115%T) per share (2017:
HK$0.115 per share) 1,920,308 751,288
ZE—tFRERKRE -FR0.155E T 2017 Final — HK$0.155 per
(ZT—RF: 800758 7T) share (2016: HK$0.075
per share) 1,012,605 489,970
2,932,913 1,241,258
RBERRE 82— \F+=H Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, final dividend
=+ —BIFEMNRAR B S0.273 in respect of the year ended 31 December 2018 of HK$0.273
BT (EHEZE—+F+=-A=+—H per share (HK$0.155 per share in respect of the year ended
IFFEFROISETL)EHEFERZIK 31 December 2017) has been proposed by the Directors and
- MEEFREREERRES K £ is subject to approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming
HfER - FAEE - IRIBEARBRAFR annual general meeting. The total amount of HK$1,906,342,000
HEAR 1T B B st E &3 R (2017: HK$1,012,605,000) of the proposed final dividend,
B 48%81906,342,0008 70 (ZF —+ 45 calculated based on the Company's number of shares issued at
1,012,605,000/8 7T ) I A 4R A B A AR R the date of this annual report, is not recognized as a liability in the
KANERE—IHAE- consolidated statement of financial position.

—E-\EFRF :
Annual Report 201¥8 21 7




R OIS Kb 5T
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Hz—_Z2—N\F+=-_A=+—HLIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018

14. SRER 14. EARNINGS PER SHARE
KA EHER NEMRERREAZEF THEFA The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to the
TEERTE M : owners of the Company is based on the following data:
—E-N\F —T—+F
FET FHIT
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
27 Earnings
TRERERZFMENAAE Earnings attributable to the
HEAEIERT owners of the Company
for the purpose of basic
earnings per share 7,975,439 3,616,742
—E-N\F —E—+tF
2018 2017
R EE Number of shares
RERERBF TS ORO MEFLHEE Weight average number of

shares for the purpose
of basic earnings per share  6,767,184,392 6,532,937,817

AR A RN EEG TR BT LB No diluted earnings per share is presented as the Company did
&t thr 2 5 SIS AR - not have any potential ordinary shares outstanding.

2‘] 8 ERORERABR AR
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HE2-_F—NF+-_A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018

15. EEEE 15. FIXED ASSETS
Tk
BEY BERRE MiR&E Hity HEIR ot
TET TET TET TET TET TET
Land and Plant and Logistics Construction
buildings machinery  equipment Others in progress Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
KA COST
RZZ—+5—A—H At 1 January 2017 11516893 24,023,485 2,358,141 1,483,073 2,007992 41,389,584
NE Additions 57,216 82,211 35,747 72,398 887,354 1,134926
WE—-RMB AR Acquisition of a subsidiary - 1,510 1,550 179 24.200 27439
ERIRRTIGER Transfer upon completion of
construction in progress 768,826 812,940 22,289 17538 (1,621,593) -
HE /M Disposals/written off (24596)  (124,755) (68,192) (12,949) (6,553)  (237,045)
B 5 % Exchange adjustments 790,858 1,674,958 161,033 101,393 141,941 2,870,183
RZZ—+F At 31 December 2017
+-A=1+—-H 13,109,197 26,470,349 2,510,568 1,661,632 1433341 45,185,087
WE Additions 9,824 123817 2,163 22,340 898,266 1,056,410
ERTIRRTGER Transfer upon completion of
construction in progress 394,158 375,316 595 20,302 (790,371) -
HE /s Disposals/written off (107,795) (291,104) (91,936) (18,319) (24,267) (533,421)
fE AR Exchange adjustments (591,979)  (1,211,272) (112,580) (74,402) (65,865)  (2,056,098)
R-Z-N\%F At 31 December 2018
+-A=+—H 12,813,405 25,467,106 2,308,810 1,611,553 1,451,104 43651978
ZItERERE ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
AND IMPAIRMENT
RZE—tF—H—H At 1 January 2017 1,890,989 8,059,734 931,452 546,930 176810  11,605915
FERAX Charge for the year 397,008 1,238,457 121,514 93,905 - 1,850,884
PIEEABERMREESE  Impaiment loss recognized
(i) in profit or loss (note) 12,413 37,405 9,301 239 93,451 152,809
HE /i Disposals/written off (10393)  (102,944) (52,997) (10,135) (6419  (182:883)
R Exchange adjustments 140,631 59,325 64,163 39,008 15,665 855,792
RZE—+tF At 31 December 2017
+-A=1+—-H 2,430,648 9,828977 1,073,433 669,947 279507 14282512
FERAX Charge for the year 361,396 1,397,850 130,881 95,949 - 1,986,076
RIEZAEZRREEE  Impairment loss recognized
(i) in profit or loss (ote) 7743 34,882 - - - 42,625
HE /s Disposals/written off (58,818) (264,219) (82,975) (16,016) (23,349) (445,377)
B 5 % Exchange adjustments (118,839) (492,097) (48,530) (32,229) (11,951) (703,646)
R-Z—-N\%F At 31 December 2018
+-A=1+—H 2,622,130 10,505,393 1,072,809 717,651 244207 15,162,190
REE CARRYING VALUE
RZZ-N\F At 31 December 2018
+-A=+—H 10,191,275 14,961,713 1,236,001 893,902 1,206,897  28489,788
RZZ—+F At 31 December 2017
+-A=+—H 10678549 16,641,372 1,437,135 991,685 1,1563834 30,902,575

—E-NFEER
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15.

16.

BEE&EE &) 15.

Hip T2 EERARMEREREEEE

{5

it BEZ)\F+-_A=t—RLFEAN"
EFHUARENEETEELETER BT
ETHBARMEEMNERYZSEE
BT g RAREEL RS BBORE
At g FETEECHRREBRS
42,625,000 7T (== —+ 4 : 152,809,0000
BIL) °

R-ZE—NF+_A=1+—HitALEZ

TRENERMENBR32930008 7T (—F
—+t 5 :517200087T) °

BAEERE 16.

FIXED ASSETS (Continued)

Others mainly comprise office furniture and equipment and
leasehold improvements.

note: During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Directors conducted a
review of the Group’s production assets and determined that the assets
of certain subsidiaries were fully impaired because it is expected that
these assets will not generate future benefit to the Group. Accordingly, an
impairment loss of HK$42,625,000 (2017: HK$152,809,000) has been
recognized in respect of those fixed assets.

Included in construction in progress at 31 December 2018 was
interest capitalized of HK$3,293,000 (2017: HK$5,172,000).

PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

—EBE-N\NFE CT—+F

TR TET
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000

BN ERIAER
TR HAEE L

R R — R IR AR
(FH AR A EURIER)

220 ERORERABR AR

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Total prepaid lease payments:
Medium-term leasehold
land in the Chinese
Mainland 2,926,241 2,894,115
Less: Amount which will be
charged to profit or
loss within one year
(included in other
receivables) (80,217) (77,978)

2,846,024 2,816,137
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HE2-_F—NF+-_A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018
16. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS (continued)

Movements of prepaid lease payments are as follows:

—B-N\F —E—tF

F#&xT T

2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAEER Balance at beginning of

the year 2,894,115 2,742,809

NE Additions 261,138 35,369
F R 5 Release for the year (78,376) (73,568)
R EEE Impairment loss recognized (20,482) -
IE W R Exchange adjustments (130,154) 189,505
FRER Balance at end of the year 2,926,241 2,894,115

BN SRR HAE N N35F £50F

T

17. #EYWHE

The lease terms over which the prepaid lease payments are
amortized ranged from 35 to 50 years.

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

—E-N\F —F—+F

F&xT T
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000

FUEEH Balance at beginning of
the year 131,176 112,499
NEEEE S Change in fair value 7,200 17,800
IE 5 Exchange adjustments (615) 877
FREERR Balance at end of the year 137,761 131,176

—E-\EEH
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17.

—\F+-F=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

All of the Group’s leasehold interests in land held under operating
leases to earn rental are classified and accounted for as
investment properties.

The Group held investment properties in both Hong Kong and
Chinese Mainland. For the property located in Hong Kong, the fair
value as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 has been
arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on the respective
dates by Cushman & Wakefield Limited, an independent qualified
professional valuer not connected to the Group.

The fair value was determined based on the market sales
comparable approach. There has been no change from the
valuation technique used in the prior year.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best
use of the property is their current use.

Details of the Group’s investment properties and information
about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2018 and 31
December 2017 are as follows:

AFEE

Fair value
—E-N\F —T—+tF
FET T
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000

DERE_RHIREYE Investment properties

classified as Level 2 137,761 131,176

RER WEBE _RPEAREL -

ERIRZERER AR
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

There were no transfers into or out of Level 2 during the year.
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18. B EE 18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
BmE iR Feby
FET FHEx FHExT
Goodwill Mining rights Total
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
2% COST
RZE—+F At 1 January 2017
—HA—H 1,260,688 1,367,437 2,628,125
NE Additions - 135,782 135,782
Wi —KK B R A Acquisition of a subsidiary 1,041 - 1,041
PE—KMBAF Disposal of a subsidiary (148) - (148)
bE 3 B Exchange adjustments 36,094 95,896 131,990
RZE—+F At 31 December 2017
+=—A=+—H 1,297,675 1,599,115 2,896,790
NE Additions - 36,312 36,312
ME H, 38 Exchange adjustments (25,330) (73,556) (98,886)
RZZE—NF At 31 December 2018
+=—A=+—H 1,272,345 1,561,871 2,834,216
2 EENRE ACCUMULATED
AMORTIZATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
R_T—+F At 1 January 2017
—H—H - 364,441 364,441
FERX Charge for the year - 85,447 85,447
NERED Impairment 78,934 - 78,934
PE 5 Exchange adjustments 4,044 28,710 32,754
RZE—+F At 31 December 2017
+-—A=+—H 82,978 478,598 561,576
FERX Charge for the year - 89,182 89,182
BB Impairment - 15,860 15,860
M 5 S Exchange adjustments (4,460) (25,397) (29,857)
RZE—NF At 31 December 2018
+—-—A=+—H 78518 5b8,243 636,761
IREE CARRYING VALUES
R-ZE—N\F At 31 December 2018
+=—A=+—H 1,193,827 1,003,628 2,197,455
R_ZTE—+tF At 31 December 2017
+=—A=+—H 1,214,697 1,120,517 2,335,214
FRUERE ) O] A 4F BT 7105 2505 1 The useful lives of mining rights ranged from 10 to 50 years.

A o

—B— \EEH
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19.

R E R =

EREETHRATEEMAEEHENASE
EENREFEME-

REITRENR HEE A REAKEL
BN SRR L E D EHER IR S EE
B DK RRTHIREGESE
BRIAEM S EIREE S 51141,145,739,000
BT (ZT—+4F 1 1,164,342,00087T) &2
48,088,000/ 7T ( =% — -+ 4F : 50,355,000
ETT) ©

BE_T )/ \Ft-_A=1T—HILFE"
ERECETAMD A REKERENE
(ZZ—+F:789340008 7T) MR R £
DE(ZF—F B NRSELEUA
BB ERE-

NORMER TR e EE BAARN A EE
BIREREEEEET UREEEEM
ENPHREBERANRSRED HIRA
FHRES% (ZT 1% : 5% ) R ER
13% (ZZ—+t5F : 12% ) TR EGH
ZIERERDENTRERFENET - T8
BEBITERNHFTHRBERE - AFHE
MRS MERATEEREE FHEEA
BENEIZHRIIIAEEN R ZEFE
REMHBERE M EEBHMSRER
BHIMETE

EREE HSBR A EAAR0
BB TR RRLEE S
BB A B T A o

ERIRZERER AR

19.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

—\F+-F=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL

The management regularly determines if there is impairment of
any of its CGUs containing goodwill.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has been
allocated to the groups of CGUs comprising the cement
operating segment and concrete operating segment. The
carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to the groups of CGUs
of cement and concrete operations are HK$1,145,739,000
(2017: HK$1,164,342,000) and HK$48,088,000 (2017:
HK$50,355,000), respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the management has
determined that there is no impairment for the groups of CGUs
of the cement segment (2017: HK$78,934,000) and concrete
segment (2017: nil) containing goodwill.

The recoverable amounts of the groups of CGUs of cement and
concrete operations have been determined based on the value in
use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections based
on financial budgets approved by the management covering
a five-year period with a growth rate of 5% (2017: 5%), and a
discount rate of 13% (2017: 12%). This growth rate is based on
the industry growth forecasts and does not exceed the average
long-term growth rate for the relevant industry. The cash flows
beyond the five year period are extrapolated using zero growth
rate. The key assumption for the value in use calculation is the
budgeted gross margin, which is determined based on the unit's
past performance and management’s expectations for the market
development.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change in
any of these assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying
amount of cement and concrete operating segments to exceed the
aggregate recoverable amount of cement and concrete operating
segments.
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REE RTINER 20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
—E-N\F —ZE—tF
FET FAT
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000

IE TS - FRAAR Unlisted shares, at cost 5,654,927 5,636,710
M 5 B Exchange adjustments (324,156) (106,013)
HYEEHENREMEEWA  HRE Share of post-acquisition

profits and other

comprehensive income,

net of dividends 132,675 4,605

5,463,446 5,535,302

FELEMIRERA BN ER S A RIPELS
BB RE1,173553 0008 7T (T —+
£ :1,194,191,000%7T) ©

REE T ZHENRINFBOT

Included in the cost of unlisted investments is goodwill with a total
amount of HK$1,173,553,000 (2017: HK$1,194,191,000) arising

on acquisitions of associates.

Details of the Group’s principal associates are as follows:

AEEER
BHENRER ALK 32 40 26 HEfER EMEREENELH TEEH
—B-N\F “T—tF
Proportion of
nominal value of
Place of registered capital
Name of associate incorporation Registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
2018 2017
AEERAKERGERATF RE A, AR #600,000,0007T 40.6% 406% KEREETEESEE
Inner Mongolia Mengxi Cement Co., Chinese Mainland RMB600,000,000 Manufacture and sale
Ltd. of cement and concrete
BRAERM (BR)EREELR  FEMM AR¥329,411,7007¢ 49% 49% KRRBRTHEREE
Fujian Building Material (Holdings) Chinese Mainland RMB329,411,700 Manufacture and sale
Company Limited of cement and concrete
ERKERMEEERAR RE R AR #1,321,220,0007T 50% 50% KERERTEEREE
Yunnan Cement & Building Materials ~ Chinese Mainland RMB1,321,220,000 Manufacture and sale
Group Co., Ltd. of cement and concrete
—E-NFEFER
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20. REtE RTINS (8 20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
EERA LRV ENASE/NEE AT The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
HFEXEREEY EYBNASRNE opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results of the year
EFEEEE D - S B A EH or form a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
FHBEERRILE details of other associates would result in particulars of excessive
length.
EERA NEBENEE QR 2 EMER L In the opinion of the Directors, the associates of the Group are
REEME A TEKe E@ﬁ%%fﬁﬁi all individually not material to the Group. Aggregate financial
ZE N FIMEE REMEERANE D information in respect of the Group’s shares of these associates’
B ERE N e 2ERER results and other comprehensive income is set out in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

21. AEE QAT ER 21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
—E-)N\&E —F— ‘ti
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
RE &R A Cost of unlisted investments
JEETIREKAR in joint ventures 1,146,600 1,146,600
PE R % Exchange adjustments (62,308) (17,558)
B ERN AR E Share of post-acquisition
profits net of dividends 325,086 296,181
1,409,378 1,425,223
RZZE—N\F+-A=1+— EI BERT As at 31 December 2018, included in the cost of investment
E’\J&ﬁﬁk$¢@%luﬁlﬁ ENRIFTE in joint ventures was goodwill of HK$141,235,000 (2017:
AP ER141,2350008 7T (ZE—+ 5 HK$141,235,000) arising on acquisitions of joint ventures.

141,235,000/ 7T ) °

22 6 ERORERABR AR

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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REEQXTNER # 21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)
AEEFEZESERARMFBOT Details of the Group's principal joint ventures are as follows:
N1
RENFEHE EA Ak 3L 3t B BRTEAREE FEROEENL A TEEK
ZE-N\E —T—+F
Proportion of
Nominal value nominal value
Place of of issued of shares
Name of joint venture incorporation ordinary shares held by the Group Principal activities
2018 2017
Bt ORBR AT BHRE 26,290% 7T 50% 50%  KERBELTAEREE
China Century Cement Bermuda US$26,290 Manufacture and sale of
Limited cement and concrete
FIEKEERAF e 10,000 7T 50% 50% KOREEREE
Squareal Cement Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Manufacture and sale of
cement
BEERA LRI AEBRNEGE QR The above table lists the joint ventures of the Group which, in
HFEXEREEXES BN ARENE the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results of the
EFENEZE S o #F B S E AT year or form a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.
EednItRe To give details of other joint ventures would result in particulars of
excessive length.
BEERA AEENMEEERARERA In the opinion of the Directors, all the joint ventures of the Group
TER BENEEELZSEERFN are individually not material. Aggregate financial information

L EM2EBARN S FREERER

FAEmlER-

in respect of the Group’s share of these joint ventures’ results
and other comprehensive income is set out in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

—E-NEER
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22. EEBIE 22. DEFERRED TAXATION
AR AREE RN EZELERE (8 The following is the major deferred tax (liabilities) assets
&) EERHENARFERNHNEE) - recognized by the Group and movements thereof during the year.
REM%E
MEHE EBEHE AVEE BEFSE
wE ATEERE L) REf Sl @t
TR TR TR TR TR TR
Change
Fair value in fair
Accelerated  adjustments value of Tax
tax  on business investment losses  Withholding
depreciation  combinations properties and others taxes Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZZ—tF—A—H At January 2017 (25,558) (51,042) (13,499) 325,525 (8,121) 227,305
KEEFA (H05) Credit (charge) for the year
(Biet11) (Note 11) 670 1,531 (2,937) (84,991) 8,522 (77,205)
fE A% Exchange adjustments - (3,523) - 15,827 (401) 11,903
RZE—tF At 31 December 2017
+-A=+—H (24,888) (53,034) (16,436) 256,361 - 162,003
AEEFA (F05) Credit (charge) for the year
(M) (Note 11) 793 1,574 (1,188) (37,818) (262,598) (299,237)
EHAR Exchange adjustments - 2378 - (10,185) 4,09 3,711)
RZE-N\5F At 31 December 2018
+-A=+—H (24,095) (49,082) (17,624) 208,358 (258,502) (140,945)

—E-N\&E —T—+tF

FET FHET

2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$'000

BRI EE Deferred tax assets 208,358 256,361

EEIBEEE Deferred tax liabilities (349,303) (94,358)

(140,945) 162,003
RZE-—N\F+ZA=+—H *& As at 31 December 2018, the Group had unused tax losses of
AHKERRBF AR ARIE HK$3,971,426,000 (2017: HK$3,913,983,000) available to offset
E518 /453,971,426,0008 70 (Z T — + against future profits. Deferred tax assets have been recognized
F:3,913,983,0008 7T) Bz S5 & in respect of HK$833,433,000 (2017: HK$1,025,444,000)
$8833,433,0008 L (=& —tF: of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognized
1,025,444,000/8 70) E R IE LR B E in respect of the remaining tax losses of HK$3,137,993,000
B o 82 T i TE B 183,137,993,0008 7T ( — (2017: HK$2,888,539,000) due to the unpredictability of future
£ — 4 :2,888,539,000/8 7T ) BN &R profit streams. Included in unrecognized tax losses are losses of
R Z T SO 48 A TR R - 3 W R AT (A HK$630,050,000 (2017: HK$907,866,000) which will expire
BRERIBEE T ARERBIBEIE within 5 years from the year of origination. Other losses may be

Y /§518630,050,000/% 7T (=T — £ 4 : carried forward indefinitely.
907,866,000 C) R BEAFERASF
MEIER - E b ESIE A] e MR IR BAS e -

2 2 8 ERIRZERER AR

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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23. REIEWFIE 23. LONG TERM RECEIVABLES
BB AR R A BEE L The amount mainly represented advances paid to the local
T B AR T YRR N R R A AR governments in Chinese Mainland for facilitating the transfer of
FEIRIBISE A NIES - R—FRFEH land to the Group and deposits paid for environmental restoration
FIBE R AR EUGRIE - in relation to the construction of production lines. The amount due

within one year was included in other receivables.

24, & 24. INVENTORIES
—E-N\F —T 4
FEx FHET
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000

R R R B R Raw materials and
consumables 1,242,153 1,045,906
ER Work in progress 426,364 387,901
BURK G Finished goods 302,112 283,648
1,970,629 1,717,455
25. EWE ZBRF 25. TRADE RECEIVABLES

—EBE-N\NFE —T—+F
FET T
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000

JEWE=FHE SRR Trade receivables from
third parties 2,335,812 2,545,810

JEURE:EA THE SR Trade receivables from
related parties 31,487 48,009
2,367,299 2,593,819

REBBGHTHRP B HER A e The Group has a policy of allowing an average credit period of O to
0Z60H I EEHIRIER - 60 days from the date of issuance of invoices to its customers.

—E-\EER
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25.

—NF+ZA=+—HIEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables (net of
allowance for doubtful debts) presented based on the invoice date

at the end of each reporting period.

—E-N\F —E—tF
FET TET
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
0%90H 010 90 days 2,163,763 2,327,362
91£180H 91 to 180 days 128,347 140,690
181%365H 181 to 365 days 75,189 125,767
2,367,299 2,593,819
RERBENES Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts
—E-N\E —E—tF
FHET FAT
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
FYEEH Balance at beginning of
the year 272,986 221,655
RIZER (HIEEE) HIK (Reversal of allowance)
allowance for doubtful
debts (16,902) 35,633
FRE WA Amount recovered during
the year - 764
HHEE S AT U 21 3038 Amount written off as
uncollectible (268) (159)
TE & % Exchange adjustments (8,519) 15,093
FREH Balance at end of the year 247,297 272,986

RIZE—NF+-_B=+—H KE»
EIR B EAANETEM R IE 5B ER
TH 1B £128,586,0007% 7t H #187,556,000
BTN —F RN FBHREEBHEN 8%
£15%  M41,030,0007% 7T A& — F LA+
FEEEEEIE R A100% -7 —ZF— )\
F+_A=+—H Rt ok
MAGFENEKE FRELREES
1,520,110,0007%8 7T * H #1,373,765,00078
TNR—FR BHEEBFENN3%E
5% 146,345,000/ T4 —F LA L - T8 51
EEEEEAI00% °

ERIRZERER AR

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

As at 31 December 2018, the gross carrying amount of trade
receivables measured at amortized cost for cement segment
was HK$128,586,000, of which HK$87,556,000 was within one
year with expected credit loss rate ranging from 8% to 15% and
HK$41,030,000 was over one year with expected credit loss rate
of 100%. As at 31 December 2018, the gross carrying amount
of trade receivables measured at amortized cost for concrete
segment was HK$1,520,110,000, of which HK$1,373,765,000
was within one year with expected credit loss rate ranging from
3% to 5% and HK$146,345,000 was over one year with expected

credit loss rate of 100%.
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25. EWE Z R (5) 25. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)
BHERBENERE S RAXWIRER Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired

—E-N\F —T—+tF

F#&xT FHET
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
#HI1Z=90H Past due 1 to 90 days 359,052 374,467
#1HA91 £ 180H Past due 91 to 180 days 127,156 130,746
#Hi181%365H Past due 181 to 365 days 74,305 103,647
560,513 608,860
REE[E I MRS L S i B A A A (AR The Group does not hold any collateral over the balances which
an are past due.
26. HihEWRIA 26. OTHER RECEIVABLES
—E-N\&E —T—tF
F&xT T
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
AR KRR ® Prepayment and deposits 36,156 34,465
B RMEHEEE G & Deposits paid to suppliers of
raw materials 182,730 228,447
BE R E MW R Value-added tax and
other tax recoverable 196,661 244,169
A HEERERBVERE S Current portion of prepaid
lease payments 80,217 77978
= HA FE WK TE & BN BB 1 Current portion of long term
receivables 132,970 65,808
At Others 212,271 203,885
841,005 854,752

—E-NFEER
Annual Report 2014&8 231




==\
eSS

1% R R B 5T

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Hz—_Z2—N\F+=-_A=+—HLIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

1232

T—XERMEATMWE 27. LOAN TO A FELLOW SUBSIDIARY

e
TA

HZEFTETAKEZ —RKFE R B AR
EHEWREARAT MAEER 1R
FHMZEABUA B RER T~ \FMOA

rh Yoo
B2= °

The loan was made to China Resources Land Investment Limited,
which is a fellow subsidiary of the Group, and was unsecured,
bore interest at 4.35% per annum and was repaid in April 2018.

F—-XEFERLATMNE 28. LOAN TO AN INTERMEDIATE HOLDING
ESN COMPANY
ZERTFEBROERARNERSEIER The loan was made to CRC was unsecured, bore interest at 4.35%
B IRFREABRTERER ZE—N per annum and was repaid in January 2019.
F—RAEE-
FE UL B & N R FR 1B 29. AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES
FEUESE & N BRI AEER R EEKE The amounts due from associates are unsecured and repayable
18 Hh st BEBo A442,749,0007 7T (— on demand, of which HK$442,749,000 (31 December 2017:
T—+F+ = f=+—H 464,326,000/ HK$464,326,000) is interest-bearing.
JL) °
EWEE QAT RIE 30. AMOUNTS DUE FROM JOINT VENTURES
WA ENFIFIEATT B - EIEIH L e The amounts due from joint ventures are interest-free, unsecured
EREE- and repayable on demand.
EEHBITER 31. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS
—E-N\E —ZE—tF
FExT FHET
2018 2017
HK$’'000 HK$'000
IERE Non-current 80,089 59,250
M ED Current - 928
80,089 60,178
ZEHKRIERBRAR]
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HE2-_F—NF+-_A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018

32. BEeRiB1T4eR 32. CASH AND BANK BALANCES
ARG MR TR R B EBEETEH Included in cash and bank balances are the following amounts
Tae S AN E-EEHER KA T © denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of

the respective group entities.

—B-\F Tt~

TR TET

2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT HK$S 1,763,654 268,075
ET Us$ 4,028 2,995

—E-N\F —ET—tF

2018 2017
% %
RITEE R FF R [E Range of interest rates of
the bank balances
(per annum) 0.01-4.75 0.01-10.00
33. ENHEZ KRN 33. TRADE PAYABLES
—E-N\E Tt
FET FHET
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
ENE=FNB SRR Trade payables to third parties 3,443,056 3,366,942
JERRI:EATHE SRR Trade payables to related
parties 17,299 7,691

3,460,355 3,374,633

—E-NFER
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33. ENEZRR (#) 33. TRADE PAYABLES (continued)
REEREREHEFNS0ENEEER The Group normally receives credit period of 30 to 90 days from
B o AR AR S IS SRR R A 7 its suppliers. The following is an aged analysis of trade payables
THIENE SRR HIARE AT o presented based on the invoice date at the end of each reporting
period.

—E-N\F —ET—+tF

FET FAT
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
0z290H 010 90 days 3,353,059 3,219,897
91F180H 91 to 180 days 61,444 78,484
181&365H 181 to 365 days 17,190 34,337
HBi#E365H Over 365 days 28,662 41915
3,460,355 3,374,633
H b fE ¥ IR 34. OTHER PAYABLES
ZBE-NE T LF
FHET FAT
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
JENEERRBERKEERTEEDN Payables to constructors and
FERTFRIA for the acquisition of fixed
assets 816,338 1,012,514
WHEHB AR HEARRAEERAN Consideration payables for
ERRE acquisition of subsidiaries,
associates and joint
ventures 276,873 292,825
RKARFMNRT & Deposits from customers 802,117 813,817
FETFERT TE& RIEAT Accrued wages and bonus
payables 1,089,630 835,545
REHERHRES Guarantee deposits from
suppliers 383,151 382,880
JEfT ERTE 85 X IE Accrued transportation
payable 339,362 382,632
H b SR IE Other tax payables 739,266 639,763
Hit Others 561,232 606,274
5,007,969 4,966,250
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35. IRITER 35. BANK LOANS
—E-N\F —ZE—tF
FET FHETT
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
AR T HEEED Bank loans are repayable as
IRITEK: follows:
—FRA Within one year 4,531,678 6,572,157
—FREMFEAN After one year but within
two years 1,573,384 4,394,721
MFEREBERFA After two years but within
five years 2,983,562 2,595,758
9,088,624 13,562,636
JBEFAREIBER —F AR ERFIR Less: Amount due within one
year included in
current liabilities (4,531,678) (6,572,157)
—F B HN IR Amount due after one year 4,556,946 6,990,479
BT B RZBLHRIRITERIT Bank loans were arranged at fixed and variable rates as follows:
—E-N\E —ET—tF
F#&xT T
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
TE BB Fixed rate borrowings 4,788,624 8,637,286
FRER Variable rate borrowings 4,300,000 4,925,350
9,088,624 13,562,636
HE-_ZT—)\F+-A=1—HItFE" The effective interest rates of the Group’s bank loans ranged from
REBEKBRITERNERFEFENF1.8% 1.8% to 4.8% per annum for the year ended 31 December 2018
FA8% (—E—tF 1 12%FE48% ) ° (2017: 1.2% to 4.8%).

—E-NFEER
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35. RITER (@) 35. BANK LOANS (Continued)
STASRITERNUS EE TR Included in bank loans are the following amounts denominated in
LASNY & ETHERFIET currencies other than the functional currencies of the respective

group entities:

—B-\F Tt~

FE& T FAT
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT HK$ 4,300,000 4,300,000
ETT Us$ - 625,350
4,300,000 4,925,350

REEMMARITERE AEET- All of the Group’s bank loans were unsecured.

36. BMIKWPHERE 36. UNSECURED MEDIUM TERM NOTES
RZE—RFNLARB KR AETE On 5 September 2016, the Company issued medium term notes
HIZ % - 8558 A A R #3,000,000,0007T in the aggregate amount of RMB3,000,000,000 (equivalent to
(FBZE R 493,423.8700008 7T ) ° 7% R HIZ approximately HK$3,423,870,000). The medium term notes are
BAERIR IREE35% s ZE AR A unsecured, bear coupon interest at 3.5% per annum and are

MR- —F(Ei8- repayable in 2021.
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37.

38.

HE-_Z—\F+-_A=+—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018
B 2 37. SHARE CAPITAL
KA EE o}
TFAT
Number
of shares Amounts
HK$'000
SRR EE0. 1078 Y I B A% Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
JETE Authorized:
RZE—+tF—HA—H" At 1 January 2017,
—E—tEERZT-N\F 31 December 2017 and
+=-—A=+—8H 2018 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
BETREE: Issued and fully paid:
RZFE—+F—HA—A8K At 1 January 2017 and
—E—+tF+-_H=+—H 31 December 2017 6,532,937,817 653,294
RZZE—-N\FA=-+HH Issuance of Shares on
BT’ 25 June 2018 450,000,000 45,000
RZE—NF+-_A=+—H At 31 December 2018 6,982,937,817 698,294

RZZT—\FRHAZ+HAH 450,000,000
IR B ARG AR9.308 TR B S 31T 5
HEE (IR BRAT]

EXEBRER

AREERLES  LRRARENER
T A A B S RS
BEBRABHESKBALDRHAESF
RS BET TS e

AEENEAZBRIEER (A aEH
AE3BHYERTT B - MY SE36HY SRR B
B RAREER ARL#ED (BRE%
TIRA R ©

ARFERESL TR RARER -
IERLERN— 35 EFRERE AR
R RERERRIE AR ER - A%E
IR E IR B BB RS 3T
BT « BRIEIRRAD DA R B T (A o
R B AT -

38.

On 25 June 2018, 450,000,000 Shares were allotted and issued
at HK$9.30 per share to CRH (Cement) Limited.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to stakeholders through the optimization of the debt and
equity balance. The Group'’s overall strategy remains unchanged
for both years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
includes the bank loans in Note 35, unsecured medium term
notes in Note 36 and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The management of the Company reviews the capital structure
on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each
class of capital. Based on recommendations of the management,
the Group will balance its overall structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debts.

—E-NEER
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39. IARERE 39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
—E-N\F T4
FET FAT
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEE N R ERNIRITEREE MM Guarantees given to banks, in
RITIR AR respect of banking facilities
granted to associates
—ERERE — amount guaranteed 2,072,172 2,052,383
—-EBAeHE — amount utilized 1,871,915 1,993,715
EERE BRAEL B BNAFEET In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values of the guarantees at
TEKe grant dates were not significant.
40. REFR N EE 40. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
AEEERHEEA The Group as lessor
REREIR  AEERBETATREBEAOL At the end of each reporting period, the Group has contracted
B ER] NARRSEEEFTIENE for the following future minimum lease payments under non-
4 cancellable operating leases:
—E-N\F —ZT—tF
FHET FAT
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
—F AR Within one year 18,500 22,765
F_FEFRF (BEEEMRSF) In the second to fifth year
inclusive 7,506 22,606
26,006 45371
EYFEDIEETEELET SBEETIN The investment properties have been rented to outside parties at
AAT - KEWERR—ZMF- fixed predetermined amounts with unexpired tenancy for one to
two years.

2 3 8 ERORERABR AR
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41.

HE2-_F—NF+-_A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018

KREPHEE &) 40. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
(Continued)
AEEEREEA The Group as lessee

REREHR  NEBRIBET ATHEHNL
BB REITAIERR THIHIRZE -

At the end of each reporting period, the Group had outstanding
commitments under non-cancellable operating leases which fall
due as follows:

—B-\F Tt~

FET THT
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
—F LR Within one year 44,623 45,754

BEFEFRFT (REEEMT) In the second to fifth year
inclusive 73,620 97,675
BRAF Over five years 110,090 112,552
228,333 255,981

AT 77 2 E Represented by:

T3 R R EEY) Land and buildings 227,683 251,321
YRE Motor vehicles 650 4,660
228,333 255,981

RERHOENETFIRE R Fo

B AR AR 41.

HEE REEETEEMNSREPR
REITOE RSN

Ik

Operating leases are negotiated for an average term of six years.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments for purchase and construction of fixed assets
outstanding at the end of each reporting period are as follows:

—E-N\F —E—tF

FET T
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
SHEENEE L Contracted but not
provided for 1,186,422 1,555,533

—E-NFEER
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—NF+ZA=+—HIEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018
€MI A 42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
SRIAENER Categories of financial instruments
—E-N\F —ET—+tF
FHET FHET
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
SREE Financial assets
RN R SRVEE Financial assets at
amortized cost 15,589,050 9,803,875
UWAFEEFAEMEAKE Y Financial assets at fair
TREE value through other
comprehensive income 965,900 -
16,554,950 9,803,875
cREE Financial liabilities
B SHR R Amortized cost 17,449,211 22214,388
cREREENEZRBUR Financial risk management objectives and policies

AEENIZSREENMABERREER
B HRM - EMERKIE  F— KR FH
BARMNER T HKERERARNE
o B S R RFIR - [BIA B AR
I8 REEUGIR - BEIRRITER e
KARTTHESR - R B ZRRIR - H BB R
B EEEPRRERRITER ZEE
BT AMFIRE BRI A EE - X
F& @ T AR SRR ER
R BCRER T3 - BB E IR M B a%
FEBR - LAREIRAE R R A RO EREUE E

i ©

ERIRZERER AR
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The Group’s major financial assets and liabilities include trade
receivables, other receivables, loan to a fellow subsidiary, loan to
an intermediate holding company, amounts due from associates,
amounts due from joint ventures, long term receivables, pledged
bank deposits, cash and bank balances, trade payables, other
payables, unsecured medium term notes and bank loans. Details
of these financial instruments are disclosed in the respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments and
the policies about how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.
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42. €T B (&)

TREBREENEERBEE (&)
FIE 7 Bz

FEEAT-RERMEARNER T
—REEERRRINER - EEFKIEIT
ER R EERPIRE (BEFE R
27 ~28 ~35%36) il A e A FEEF K&
& o AEE B R AR RIS
BFBYFI IR o ZNER B30 I I A I SR AR R
oA BIEESEEMERRR  WiFR
VERE EEREXNFRRR

AEEmRE BN RRITERERS
MENEEE (GRS RIS

AEEFL S REE N BB A mRA R
REBRRA RS E SR E I — AR
it AEENR SREN KRBT EEP
RASBABTTAHENBFEENEE
RITRIZEIFSIRE SRARDE D P IRIAA
REHEMIERPTEENPBEARRITE
RN X B -

BRI

RER BN R O BURE TR HR S HIR A
AMEBRITEFOFIXRRRMERE

R F R _EF /T FERS0E E 24w A H b
FEHFIE AAEEEE-_Z—N
F+-A=+—BLLFERF B
HEHN#919,603 000/ 7T (— B —+ 4
20,563,000/ 7T ) °

RS PR HO B BEF B A R IRTTAE SRRV
BEMENEEBRI AEA  F Lt - I
AR R BURE AT o

5
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42.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to loan to a fellow subsidiary, loan to an intermediate holding
company, fixed-rate bank loans and unsecured medium term
notes (see Notes 27, 28, 35 and 36 for details). The Group aims
at keeping as much of its borrowings at variable rates as possible.
The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy.
However, the management monitors interest rate exposure and
will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should the
need arise.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate bank loans (see Note 35 for details).

The Group's exposures to interest rates risk on financial assets and
financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate arising from the Group’s Hong Kong dollar and to
a much lesser extent, People’s Bank of China Base Rate arising
from Renminbi denominated borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group's sensitivity to interest rate risk has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for bank loans outstanding
at the end of the reporting period.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit for the year
ended 31 December 2018 would be decreased/increased by
approximately HK$19,603,000 (2017: HK$20,563,000).

The Group’s exposure to cash flows interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate bank balances is insignificant. Accordingly, no
interest rate sensitivity analysis is prepared.
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LREAREENEERRE (&)
T

AEEHEABEERIGEEEINE
BB IRITAE B R ERTT B SR Pe 2R Y
EEME (FHIERMEE325%35) - NEER
PRy I A B SN EK e\ i 7 R O I NS SRR
R ERBENERABINE S REE
@ WAL REFE P EANE R

B o

TRAJAEEHARS BT NETTIE
KREFFERNBRE - GREDE BRI
AEEMAINEHENERIAR - TR
FRINEE KRR ZENFHEARIRE - T
E#RTRARYE BT MR TTIHES%FT
BHHRBRBMIEN - WMARE BT
KSETTRZ(B5% - RIS HR IR BN EKSE
BERHEREE-

42.

—NF+ZA=+—HIEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Currency risk

The Group's exposure to currency risk is attributable to the bank
balances and bank loans which are denominated in the currencies
other than the functional currency of the entity to which they are
related (see Notes 32 and 35 for details). The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of
foreign currency exposure. However, management monitors
the related foreign currency exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant currency exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
exchange difference in RMB against HK$ and US$. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at year end for a
5% change in foreign currency rates. A positive number below
indicates an increase in post-tax profit where the RMB strengthens
5% against HK$ and US$. For a 5% weakening of RMB against
HK$ and US$, there would be an equal and opposite impact on
the post-tax profit.

—E-N\F —ET—+tF
FET FHAT
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000

i AR W BT AHE If RMB strengthens against
HK$ 107,306 168,280

MARE L ETTHE If RMB strengthens against
uss$ (188) 28,596

ERIRZERER AR
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MERABE - REREE BRAR
FEEFARMEERETENEKES
AR ELth R ROR %*%Iﬁ%ﬂﬁ%"

AIER - T —KERIERQFNER
FEWES & N BIRR - B A B R RIFIAR
R HARE UK IE\* EET%EHTM&EE%&
RITRERT S - REDBRBREEER
AAEE-EERA-

nBESEERRER  RERNEEN
RITREBRDFENASEEFRORT

AEENEERRD RS ERZETF R
BEF BUEEBAETOEERR -
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42.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of
the counterparties failure to perform their obligations at the end
of each reporting period in relation to each class of recognized
financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position, while the Group'’s
maximum exposure to credit risk due to financial guarantees
provided by the Group is the amount of contingent liabilities in
relation to financial guarantees issued by the Group as disclosed in
Note 39. In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of
the Group has formulated a defined credit policy and delegated a
team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts.

The Group applies the simplified approach for impairment of
trade receivables measured at amortized cost. For financial
assets including trade receivables measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income, other receivables, loan to a fellow
subsidiary, loan to an intermediate holding company, amounts
due from associates, amounts due from joint ventures, long term
receivables, pledged bank deposits and cash and bank balances,
they are classified within stage 1 for measurement of ECLs.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the Group’s bank
balances are deposited with banks of high credit ratings.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties and customers.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group’s operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management
also regularly monitors the operating cash flows of the Group
to meet its liquidity requirements in short and long term. The
management monitors the utilization of bank borrowings and
ensures compliance with loan covenants. As at 31 December
2018, the Group had available unutilized banking facilities of
approximately HK$9,991,081,000 (2017: HK$8,529,619,000)
to meet the Group's future expansion and satisfy its existing
liabilities. The management is also in the process of negotiating
with the banks to refinance its short term banking facilities to
long term. In addition, the Company has an intra-group lending
agreement among companies of the China Resources Group
whereby borrowings may be made which will be guaranteed by
its intermediate holding company. Taking into account the cash
and bank balances, the unutilized banking facilities, the unissued
registered amount of medium term notes, the expected future
internally generated funds, the new banking facilities and other
sources of financing to be obtained, the management is confident
that the Group will be able to meet its financial obligations when
they fall due to the foreseeable future.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. The maturity dates for other non-derivative
financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.
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42. TR T A (®) 42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
CREMREENEERBEE (&) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
HEBELEE (F) Liquidity risk (Continued)

B & % R F 5 2 2 Liquidity and interest risk tables
—FHE MENLE  EHRRER
TgF = —ERx EFEBME (EFRALE RERELE BREE
% TET AL TAT FHL FHL
More than More than Total
1 year but 2 years but contractual
Average Within less than less than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 2 years 5 years cash flow amount
% HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZF-N\F As at 31 December 2018
+ZA=1+-6
LS Trade payables - 3,460,355 - - 3,460,355 3,460,355
Hit MR Other payables - 1,476,362 - - 1,476,362 1,476,362
BITER Bank loans
R IES — Variable rate 3.2 2438102 1,004,234 1,004,234 4,566,570 4,300,000
—EE A= - Fixed rate 46 2451604 690,816 2,074,661 5,217,081 4,788,624
EEATHER Unsecured medium
term notes 35 119,835 119,835 3,505,292 3,744,962 3,423,870
9946258 1874885 6644187 18465330 17449211
RZE—tF As at 31 December 2017
+-A=+-H
EREZER Trade payables - 3,374,633 - - 3,374,633 3,374,633
Hi MR Other payables - 1,688,219 - - 1,688,219 1,688,219
BITER Bank loans
e INIES — Variable rate 24 741,693 2401572 2,094,485 5,237,750 4,925,350
—EEHE - Fixed rate 42 6,306,346 2,206,716 620,557 9,133,619 8,637,286
EEAPRER Unsecured medium
term notes 35 125,612 125,612 3,799,858 4,051,082 3,583,900

12,236,503 4,733,900 6,514,900 23,485,303 22,214,388
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43.

44.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Trade receivables classified as financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income as at 31 December 2018 are
included in Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities of the
Group are determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortized cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in
the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows
from financing activities.

RE-R
FRKELR EER
EX EHREr RERES BITEX hHERE @t
THAT THAT THT THET FTHT THAT
(#1i£35) (H13236)
Loan from Unsecured
a fellow Commercial Unsecured medium
subsidiary paper bonds Bank loans term notes Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Note 35) (Note 36)
RZZE—+F At 1 January 2017
—A—H - 558,965 3,102,032 10,845,435 3,353,790 17,860,222
BERERE Financing cash flows (53,073) (592,710 (3,124,496) 2,281,454 - (1,488,825)
EXHE Foreign exchange translation 53,073 33,745 22464 435,747 235110 780,139
RZE—+5F At 31 December 2017
+-A=+—-H - - - 13,562,636 3,588,900 17,151,536
BERERE Financing cash flows - - - (4,048 455) - (4,048 455)
[ERBE Foreign exchange translation - - - (425,557) (165,030) (590,587)
RZE-N\F At 31 December 2018
+-A=+—H - - - 9,088,624 3,423,870 12,512,494
2 46 ZEHKRIERBRAR]

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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45. BEALR S 45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) BRALRE TS TRERIBRATIFEE R (@  Apart from the transactions and the balances with related

FREALHIR 5 SRAERRFITIN - AN
SERAFEICEBEEALE
TR TERRZ S :

parties disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the Group also entered into the following
significant transactions with related parties during the year:

—®-NEF T tF
THET THET
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
mAETHE ATEEED Sales of goods to
certain associates 3,786,092 2,708,725
REFALANRNEES Sales of goods to certain
joint ventures 494,568 408,028
mEaETRRMBARKEEM Purchases of goods from
certain fellow subsidiaries 34,511 15,262
mETRRKBARREER S Purchases of electricity from
certain fellow subsidiaries 990,875 817,193

(b)

(c)

RZE—tF+HA=Z+H X2
A ERFE BRI TR BRRAR]
([ZERERIT] ) AT L BRRE & VE TR

& B EERITERAEEIR
H—ARERITIRTS (R IEFER R EAD
SREVRTS) - BRE S EIRZE A HIR
A=%—/\F—A—BiEHE=
T_EF+-_A=1t—HILAH
=F R\ FE+=ZA=1—
B - AEEREBIRITOT RS
#8158 5276,155,00087T (—ZT—+
4 1 569,652,000/ 7T ) ©

TEEEEARERREES X
TR E AR A I FEOh 4R R -

B Lt 2 S5 - AN E A TR
B RABBHER L RFEEAR
5 T REH MARBEER
HP R HERAEA L -

(b)

(c)

On 20 October 2017, the Company entered into a
strategic cooperation agreement with China Resources
Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. (“CR Bank”), pursuant to which,
CR Bank shall provide general banking services including
deposit and other financial services to the Group. The term
of the strategic cooperation agreement was three years
from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020. As at 31
December 2018, the Group had an aggregate balance of
deposits of HK$276,155,000 (2017: HK$569,652,000)
with CR Bank.

The key management personnel includes solely the
Directors and the compensation to them is disclosed in
Note 9.

Apart from the aforementioned transactions, no other
significant transactions, arrangements and contracts to
which the Company was a party and in which a director of
the Company had, directly or indirectly, a material interest
at any time during the year.
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45. BEA TR F (@)

(d)
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45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(d)

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Transactions/balances with other state-controlled
entities

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies
under China Resources Company Limited, which is
controlled by the government of the Chinese Mainland.
Apart from the transactions with the parent company and
its subsidiaries which have been disclosed in other notes
to the consolidated financial statements, the Group also
conducts businesses with entities directly or indirectly
owned or controlled, jointly controlled or significantly
influenced by the Chinese Mainland government (“state-
controlled entities”) in the ordinary course of business.
The Directors consider those entities other than the China
Resources Company Limited group are independent third
parties as far as the Group’s business transactions with
them are concerned. In establishing its pricing strategies
and approval process for transactions with other state-
controlled entities, the Group does not differentiate
whether the counter-party is a state-controlled entity or
not. The Group is of the opinion that it has provided, in the
best of its knowledge, adequate and appropriate disclosure
of related party transactions in the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group has bank balances deposited in and entered
into various transactions, including sales, purchases,
borrowings and other operating expenses, with other state-
controlled entities during the year in which the Directors
are of the opinion that it is impracticable to ascertain the
identity of the controlling parties of these counterparties
and accordingly whether the counterparties are state-
controlled entities.
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46.

LONG TERM AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a share award scheme on 2 September
2009. The share award scheme does not constitute a share
option scheme pursuant to Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and
is a discretionary scheme of the Company. The purpose of the
share award scheme is to recognize the contributions of officers
and employees of our Group, excluding any Director, towards the
development of our Group in the past or as incentives to selected
grantees to achieve higher than target profits for our Group and
to align the interests of the selected grantees with sustainable
growth and development of our Group. The share award scheme
is effective for a term of ten years until 2 September 2019 unless
terminated at the discretion of the Board at an earlier date.

Pursuant to the share award scheme, a trust has been set up
and BOCI-Prudential Trustee Limited has been appointed as
the trustee. The trustee may purchase Shares from the public
market out of cash contributed by the Company from time to
time. The aggregate number of Shares purchased under the
share award scheme shall not exceed 2.5% of all issued shares
of the Company. The aggregate number of Shares which may be
awarded to a selected grantee under the share award scheme
shall not exceed 0.1% of the issued share capital of the Company.
Shares purchased under the share award scheme will be held
in trust for the eligible employees until such Shares are vested in
accordance with the provisions of the rules relating to the share
award scheme. There were 160,000,000 Shares acquired under
the share award scheme at the price of HK$3.90 per share, which
was funded by the Company, in October 2009.

On 17 November 2010, the Company amended the terms of the
share award scheme to include Directors as eligible grantees and
such that payments under the Scheme will be made in form of
cash rather than Shares. According to the Scheme, the Company
can utilize the proceeds generated from the disposal of the Shares
purchased and held by the trustee for awards to be made under
the Scheme. Grantees do not have any right to the Shares.

In 2018 and 2017, no grant was made and no Shares were
disposed of. As at 31 December 2018, the trustee held
35,176,000 Shares (35,176,000 Shares as at 31 December
2017), representing approximately 0.504% of the issued Shares
(0.538% as at 31 December 2017), and cash of HK$87,245,000
(HK$72,413,000 as at 31 December 2017) on trust under the
Scheme.
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47. T EKHE A T 47. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
RABRZE—)\FRZE—tF+=A

=+ B 2MBRARNFENT

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December
2018 and 2017 are as follows:

AR R BERTRBRRE/
WEARER EBHELE &R ARRREAERENLA TTEH
“E-N\E e
BE & E# fi
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2018 2017
Directly Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
ERKE(BL)ERATY HREM AR 520,750,007 - 98.4% - 984%  KEEERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB520,750,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Changjiang) Limited? cement
ERKE (RB)ERRA? HEIRH AR #280,000,0007C - 72% - 7%  KREEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB280,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Changzhi) Ltd.# cement
EHKE (M8 BRARY RER, 15,000,000/ 7. - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$15,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fangchenggang) Limited” cement
ERRE (F)ERAT? HEM AR 280,000,000 - 72% - 2% KEEERHEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB280,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fangshan) Limited? cement
EROR (HE)ERARY RER 205,961,300% T - 100% - 100%  KEEESEEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland 1S$205,961,300 Manufacture and sale of
(Fengkai) Limited” cement
Z2EKE (BN BRARY RER, 261,848, 00078 7¢ - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$261,848,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fuchuan) Limited” cement
ERKR (BE)ERATY REIA 55,104,000 T - 100% - 100%  OREEEBE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$55,104,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Guigang) Limited” cement
EEKE (R BRAFY RE R, 50,000,000 7T - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$50,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Hepu) Limited™”
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47. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

A YR BERTRARRE/
KEAR AR EBHELE HEMEA KARBEEERE LA TEER
E-N\E —Zt%
E# B B# %
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2018 2017
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
ERKE (BE)ERLAR? RER A& #230,000,0007T - 100% - 100%  KEEEEEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB230,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Heqing) Limited?’ cement
EEKE (BM)BRARY HEIA, 70,500,000 7T - 100% - 100%  KEREEERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$70,500,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Huizhou) Limited” cement
EEKE OIF) BRARY HREIRH 55,000,000/ 70 - 100% - 100% KREERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$55,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Jiangmen) Limited” cement
EEKE (2D)BRARY HEIRH 43,750,000% 7T - 100% - 100%  KEEEERHEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$43,750,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Jinsha) Limited” cement
EBKE (BT)BRARY HEIA, ARH51,000,0007 - 100% - 100%  KEEEERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB51,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Lianjiang) Limited” cement
RITEHKEERRRY HREIRH AR10,000,0007C - 100% - 100% KEEESREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Lianjiang Fengcheng) Limited” cement
ERKRE (EEER)ERARY HEIRH 480,000,000 7T - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$480,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Longyan Caoxi) Limited” cement
ERKE (BERA)ERARY HEIA, 33,040000%7¢ - 100% - 100%  KEEEERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$33,040,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Longyan Yanshi) Limited”” cement
ZHKE (EE)BRARY HEIR 33,280,000 ¢ - 100% - 100% KREEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$33,280,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Longyan) Limited” cement

ZE-N\FEFR
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. a) (& . ontinue
47. T EH B QB (&) 47. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
MY R ERTRARRE/
WEAREH EBHELE HEMEA KARREMERER LA TEEH
E-N\E —Tt%
E# B B# %
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2018 2017
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
EFR (B ERARY RERL ARH244,190,0007T - 100% - 100% KEEEEEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB244,190,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Luchuan) Limited® cement
EHKE (BE)BRARAY REIR, 280,000,000/ 7¢ - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$280,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Luoding) Limited” cement
ZERKE (BE)ERLRA? REIR AR #230,000,0007 - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB230,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Midu) Limited’ cement
EEKE (BE)BRARY HEIRH 55,200,000 7 - 100% - 100%  KEEEEEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$55,200,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Nanning) Limited” cement
ZEEKE (FE)BRARY REIR, AR H1,080,780,0007C - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB1,080,780,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Pingnan) Limited” cement
ZERKR (RM)BRRAY REIR 3,280,000% 7T - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland 1US$3,280,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Quanzhou) Limited” cement
EEKE(LR)BRARY RE R, AR 415,450,000 - 100% - 100%  KEEERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB415,450,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Shangsi) Limited” cement
ZEKE OsE) BRAR Y REIR, AR 210,000,000 - 100% - 100%  KEREEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB210,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Shantou) Limited” cement
ZRKE (BB ERARY REIR 270,095,0007 7 - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$270,095,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Tianyang) Limited™ cement

2 5 2 ERORERABR AR

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



R OIS Kb sE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

47. T EMME A 7 (&)

HE2-_F—NF+-_A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2018

47. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

A YR BERTRARRE/
KEAR AR EBHELE HEMEA KARREMERER LA TEER
E-N\E —Zt%
E# B B# %
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2018 2017
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
EEKE (RE)BERLARY RER 257,266,000/ 7T - 100% - 100% KeEEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$257,266,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Wuxuan) Limited®” cement
EBKE (BB ERDAY HEIA, ARH25,000,0007 - 100% - 100%  KEEEERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Wuzhishan) Limited” cement
FHKE(BF)BRARY REIA, 350,000,000/ 7% - 100% - 100%  KEEERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$350,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Yangchun) Limited” cement
EEKE GkE) BRARY HEIRH 35,000,000 7T - 100% - 100%  KEEEERHEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$35,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Yongding) Limited” cement
EBKE (BT BRARY HEIA, 22,000,000 7T - 100% - 100%  KEREEERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$22,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhanjiang) Limited” cement
ERKECET)BRRAY HEIR AR 133,600,000 - 100% - 100% KEREEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB133,600,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhangping) Limited” cement
ERKRER (BB)ERAA BE 10,000 7T 100% - 100% - BESFMBLAARE
China Resources Cement Holdings Hong Kong HK$10,000 Holding investments in
(Hong Kong) Limited subsidiaries
ERHKEREERARY HEIA, 1,066,770,300% 7T - 100% - 100% BEZZHELIRE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$1,066,770,300 Holding investments in
Investments Limited” subsidiaries
EEERT (BE)BRARAY HREIRH 20,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RRTAEEHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Baise) Limited” concrete

—E-NFEER
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47. TEH B QT (=) 47. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

MY R ERTRARRE/
WEAREH EBHELE HEMEA KARREMERER LA TEEH
E-N\E —Tt%
E# B B# 3
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2018 2017
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
EEREAT (UE)BRARY RERL 32,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RALAERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$32,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Beihai) Limited” concrete
WEERRRL (BILE)ERARY hERL 20,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% BRTEERHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Beihai Tieshangang) Limited” concrete
EEERLT(BEQTERARY  HEML 24,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RETEEAHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Chengmai Jinjiang) Limited”” concrete
EERAT (REEW)ERATY  REAM AR #10,000,0007 - 100% - 100% RALAERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Chengmai Laocheng) Limited” concrete
EEREL (KE)ERDAY REIR, 30,000,000/ 7¢ - 100% - 100% BRTEERHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$30,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Dali) Limited” concrete
ZRERLT (TR)ERARY REIR AR #10,000,0007 - 100% - 100% RETEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Dingan) Limited” concrete
REEELHRETARAFY RER 20,000,007 7 - 100% - 100% RRTAEEEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Dongguan Fengcheng) Limited” concrete
EEREL (8 BERARY HEIA, 25,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% BRTEERHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fangchenggang) Limited” concrete
ZEREL (HF)FRRAY REIR AR 20,000,000 - 100% - 100% RETEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fengkai) Limited™” concrete
ERRRT (BL)BRARY RER 20,000,007 7 - 100% - 100% RALAERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Foshan) Limited””
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47. T EH B QB (&) 47. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
A YR BERTRARRE/
WEAREH EBHELE HEMEA KARREMERER LA TEER
E-N\E —Zt%
E# B B# %
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2018 2017
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
EHRRL (B)I)ERARY FREl A AR #10,000,0007 - 100% - 100% RRLAERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fuchuan) Limited” concrete
EEREL (RE)ERDAY HEIA, 20,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% BRTEERHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Gaoyao) Limited” concrete
EEERT (BERE)BRARY HREIRH 34,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RRTAEEHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$34,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Guangxi) Limited” concrete
EHRERT (BB)BRARY RER 25,000,000/ 7T - 100% - 100% RRLAERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Guigang) Limited” concrete
EEREL (BL)ERRAY HEIA, ARH25,000,0007 - 100% - 100% BETEERHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Heshan) Limited” concrete
ERRRL(BM)BRRRY HREIRH 25,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RRTAEEHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Hezhou) Limited” concrete
EHRREL (BN ERARY RER 7,000,000% 7T - 100% - 100% RRTAEEEFE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland S$7,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Huizhou) Limited” concrete
EEREL (IF)ERDAY HEIA, 28,000,000 T - 100% - 100% BRTEERHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$28,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Jiangmen) Limited”” concrete
EZEERT (BE)BRARAY HREIRH 24,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RRTAEEHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Jingxi) Limited” concrete
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47. TEH B QT (=) 47. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

MY R ERTRARRE/
WEAREH EBHELE HEMEA KARREMERER LA TEEH
E-N\E —Tt%
E# B B# 3
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2018 2017
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
EHRERAT (RE)BRARY FEIR 20,000,007 7 - 100% - 100% RALAERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Laibin) Limited” concrete
ZEEREL (£R)FRAAY REIR, 24,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% BRTEERHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Ledong) Limited” concrete
EEREL (R ERRAY REIR AR 20,000,000 - 100% - 100% RETEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Lianjiang) Limited”” concrete
EEREL (WM ERDAY RER 20,000,000/ 7T - 100% - 100% RALAERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Liuzhou) Limited” concrete
EEREL ORH)ERDA? REIR, AR 30,000,007 - 72% - 7% RETEEAHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB30,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Lucheng) Limited? concrete
EEREL (B)I)ERARY REIR AR 25,000,000 - 100% - 100% RETEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Luchuan) Limited® concrete
ZERERAT (BE)BRARY FREIR 24,000,007 7 - 100% - 100% RALAERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Luoding) Limited” concrete
EEREL (KB ERDAY REIR, 24,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% BRTEERHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Maoming) Limited” concrete
MEZEERERALARATY  FEAL 20,000,0007 70 - 100% - 100% RETEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Nanning Xixiangtang) Limited”
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47. T EH B QT (=) 47. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

A YR BERTRARRE/
KEAR AR EBHELE HEMEA KARREMERER LA TEER
E-N\E —Zt%
E# B B# %
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2018 2017
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
ZERERT (BE)BRARY FREl A 20,000,007 70 - 100% - 100% RRLAERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Nanning) Limited” concrete
EHERL(BR)BERATY HEIA, 7,200,000% 7 - 100% - 100% BRTEERHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland US$7,200,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Ningbo) Limited” concrete
EEERT (TE)BRARAY HREIRH AR 20,000,000 - 100% - 100% RRTAEEHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Pinggui) Limited” concrete
ERRRT (SN BRARY RER 20,000,000/ 7T - 100% - 100% RRLAERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Qinzhou) Limited” concrete
SMERGEERLARDAY HEIA, 20,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% BRTEERHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Qinzhou Legou) Limited” concrete
ERRRL (RB)ERAAY HEIR AR #25,000,0007 - 100% - 100% RELEEAHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Rongyian) Limited” concrete
FYEEERLERAFY HEIRH AR 125,000,007 - 100% - 100% RRLAEEHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Shenzhen) Company Limited” concrefe
EEREL (BE)ERDAY HEIA, ARH25,000,0007 - 100% - 100% BRTEERHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Suixi) Limited”” concrete
EZEERT (ER)BRAFAY HREIRH 24,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RRTAEEHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Wanning) Limited” concrete
ERRRAT (BN)BRARY RER 24,000,000/ 7T - 100% - 100% RRLAERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Wuzhou) Limited” concrete
—E-NEER
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47. TEH B QT (=) 47. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

HEMELR ERTRARRE/
WEAREH EBHELE HEMEA KAARBEAERE LA TEEH
ZB-N\F —Tt%
E# B B# 3
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2018 2017
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
ZEREAT (BI)BRARY RERL 11,500,000 7 - 100% - 100% RRTAEEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$11,500,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Yangjiang) Limited” concrete
EHERL(EMBERATY REIR, 24,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% BRTEERHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Yulin) Limited” concrete
EHREL (BL)ERARY REIR 20,000,000/ 7T - 100% - 100% RETEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhanjiang) Limited” concrete
ZHRRT (2E)BRARY RER 20,000,007 7 - 100% - 100% RRTEEEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhaoging) Limited” concrete
EHERL (KB BRATY REIR, 33,000,000/ 7C - 100% - 100% BRTEERHEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$33,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhuhai) Limited”” concrete
ERRTKERERERAR ] 150,000,000 7T - 100% - 100%  KEES
China Resources Dongguan Cement Hong Kong HK$150,000,000 Trading of cement
Manufactory Holdings Limited
REEERELERAAY RER 25,000,007 7 - 100% - 100% RRTAEEEEE
China Resources Dongguan Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Co., Limited” concrete
ERRRIEER (FE)ERAR  FA 28T - 100% - 100% HEZEMBRARE
China Resources Environmental Hong Kong HK$2 Holding investments in
Protection Engineering Holdings subsidiaries
(Hong Kong) Limited
ERRRIE (BR)ERARY HREN AR 50,000,007 - 100% - 100%  RHERELR
China Resources Environmental Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 Environmental protection
Protection Engineering engineering
(Binyang) Limited”
ERRRIE (BR)ERAAY REIR AR 50,000,000 - 100% - 100%  RERELR
China Resources Environmental Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 Environmental protection
Protection Engineering engineering
(Midu) Limited™
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47. T EMB AT (@) 47. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
A YR BERTRARRE/
KEAR AR EBHELE HEMEA KARBEEERE LA TEER
ZB-N\F —Zt%
E# B B# %
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2018 2017
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
EERRIE(HR)ERAAY HEIRH AR #10,000,0007 - 100% - 100% HHERELE
China Resources Environmental Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 Environment protection
Protection Engineering engineering
(Nanning) Limited”
REERKERBRATY RER, 199,000,007 7T - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHE
Dongguan Huarun Cement Manufactory ~ Chinese Mainland HK$199,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Co. Ltd.” cement
HEBRAA 2 28T - 100% - 100%  BENE
First Route Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Property holding
BLEEEZ R ARAFY RER 3,500,000% 7T - 100% - 100% RRTAEEEFE
Foshan China Resources Shunan Chinese Mainland S$3,500,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Limited” concrete
SREFBRAR 0 28T - 100% - 100%  HAENE
General Perfect Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Property holding
BRERERIARARY RER 2597 440% T - 100% - 100% RELEEAHE
Guangdong Yuequn Concrete Chinese Mainland 1S$2,597,440 Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. @ concrete
EREBGRLZRHAL HEIA, AR 25,000,007 - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
BREFRAAY
Guangyxi Binyang Kunan Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited @/ concrete
ERERDKTKRERARC HEIA, AR 200,000,000 - 95.8% - %8% KEEERHE
Guangxi China Resources Hongshuihe  Chinese Mainland RMB200,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Cement Co., Ltd.? cement
BREEEREAREARAFY HREIRH 34,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% EREEMEERHE
Guangyxi China Resources Prefabrication ~ Chinese Mainland HK$34,000,000 Manufacture and sale
Construction Limited”” of prefabrication
construction materials
MREEEZERLERARY HEIR 24,000,000/ 7 - 100% - 100% RRTAERHE
Heyuan China Resources Huida Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Limited” concrete

—E-NFEER
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47. TEH B QT (=) 47. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

MY R ERTRARRE/
WEAREH EBHELE HEMEA KAARBEAERE LA TEEH
ZB-N\F —Tt%
E# B B# 3
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2018 2017
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
MREERRERTARAFY RERL AR%22,000,0007 - 100% - 100% RRTAEEEEE
Heyuan China Resources Pengyuan Chinese Mainland RMB22,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Limited” concrete
BNERRMARARY REIR, 8,000,000% 7 - 100% - 100% RETEERHEE
Huizhou China Resources Jiancai Chinese Mainland US$8,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited” concrete
IREBRRLEMNERARY REIR 24,000,000/ 7T - 100% - 100% RETEERHE
Jiangmen China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Muzhou Limited” concrete
IREERELETARAFY RER 20,000,007 7 - 100% - 100% RRTEEEEE
Jiangmen China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Tangxia Limited” concrete
REEREZRRLARAFY REIA, 24,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% BRTEERHEE
Laibin China Resources Xingbin Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Limited” concrete
NEBRLERLERAR REIR AR 31,250,000 - 70% - 0% RETEESHE
Liuzhou China Resources Xijiang Chinese Mainland RMB31,250,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Limited? concrete
HEEERERRLARAAY FREIR 37,000,000 7T - 100% - 100% RALAERHE
Nanning China Resources Liangging Chinese Mainland HK$37,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Limited” concrete
ERNEERERLARLAY REIA 7,000,000% 7 - 100% - 100% RETEERHEE
Ningbo Xiaogang China Resources Chinese Mainland 1S$7,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Limited” concrete
ERERARAA ] 10,0007 7 - 100% - 100%  FEME
Profit Success Development Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Property holding
REEHERERAR Bt 200,0007% 7T - 100% - 100%  EEEMRLEE RER RS
Quality Control Consuttants Limited Hong Kong HK$200,000 Building materials testing
and consultancy
services
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47. T EMB AT (@) 47. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
MR R BERTRARRE/
KEAR AR EBHELE HEMEA KARBEEERE LA TEER
E-N\E —Zt%
E# B L %
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2018 2017
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
HERRLARAR ) 1087 - 100% - 100% BRTEEERHE
Redland Concrete Limited Hong Kong HK$10 Manufacture and sale of
concrete
HENEAEERAR 0 28T - 100% - 100% EREHHES
Redland Construction Materials Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$2 Trading of construction
materials
LEEEERKEERAF? HEIR 90,000,000 7 - 72% - 72%  KEEEEHEE
Shanxi China Resources Fulong Cement  Chinese Mainland US$90,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited® cement
ABHREBRAR ) 28T - 100% - 100%  #HENE
Standard Wealth Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Property holding
HIEEBRRRLARARY HER, 24,000,000/ 70 - 100% - 100% ERT4EERFEE
Zhanjiang China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Pengyuan Limited” concrete
HImEGHEBERRARY RER AR #100,000,0007 - 100% - - BABNMEEAKE
Zhanliang RunYang United Intelligent ~ Chinese Mainland RMB100,000,000 Manufacture and sale
Manufacturing Company Limited®” of prefabrication
construction materials
it notes:
(1) ZENTEREAMIANNGBE N EN S 1) These companies were established in the Chinese Mainland in the form of
VAV wholly foreign-owned enterprise.
2) ZENTEFEANMARING EBRENT (2) These companies were established in the Chinese Mainland in the form of
AV sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise.
EERA FRIEHNRABIHHE D In the opinion of the Directors, the subsidiaries of the Company
AYAEENEE EERBEREEE listed in the above table principally affected the results, assets and
SFEFH | EMHE R AN FEBEEIBINIT liabilities of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would
Ko result in particulars of excessive length.
ARG E RS AREE 2 (AR5 - BEAHT None of subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at the end
BAREBITEMERES of the year or at any time during the year.
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48. X AT 2 M BRR T 48. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

—E-N\F —ET—+tF
FET T
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000

EmENE E Non-current assets
EEE Fixed assets 626 1,145
RIE AR E Interests in subsidiaries 813,467 813,467

P& 2 B /B8 2 R R IR

Amounts due from

subsidiaries 12,786,667 16,534,307
13,600,760 17,348,919
MENVEE Current assets
H b e U SR IE Other receivables 28,462 47737
B MIRTTA Cash and bank balances 3,003,668 394,078
3,032,130 441,815
PEB=NE Current liabilities
Hofth fE A 3RIE Other payables 214,364 254,182
FET BB R R FR Amounts due to
subsidiaries 1,817,484 1,308,863
RITER-—R—F AR Bank loans — amount due
within one year 1,997,258 4,453,510
4,029,106 6,016,555
MENBEFE Net current liabilities (996,976) (5,574,740)
BELERRBDERE Total assets less current
liabilities 12,603,784 11,774,179
ERBEE Non-current liabilities
IRITER-—R—FBEH Bank loans — amount due
after one year 3,369,548 4,093,525
AR R HIE R Unsecured medium term
notes 3,423,870 3,588,900
6,793,418 7,682,425
BEFE Net assets 5,810,366 4,091,754
BEARN Capital and reserves
& A< Share capital 698,294 653,294
1 (H17249) Reserves (Note 49) 5,112,072 3,438,460
TS AARE Total equity 5,810,366 4,091,754
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49, XA R 2 f##E 49. RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
REARE
4 ME T EIRE BRERE -4y 1= @5t
THIL THT THL THL T
Long term
award
Share scheme Translation ~ Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZE—tF—A—H AtlJanuary 2017 5,662,831 (139,206) 488 426 (1,726,475) 4,285 576
EHER Exchange differences - - 231,200 - 231,200
FERF Profit for the year - - - 162,942 162,942
FEZEKRARE Total comprehensive
income for the year - - 231,200 162,942 394,142
ZE-RERPKRE 2016 final dividend (489,970) - - - (489,970)
“E-LFRHRE 2017 interim dividend (751,289) - - - (751,288)
RZE—tF At 31 December 2017
+-A=1+—H 4421573 (139,206) 719,626 (1,563,533) 3,438,460
ERESE Exchange differences - - (339,162) - (339,162)
FEAF Profit for the year - - - 810,408 810,408
FEZHE(EA) Total comprehensive
LNt (expense ) income for
the year - - (339,162) 810,408 471,246
ZT-EEREKE 2017 final dividend (1,012,605) - - - (1,012,605)
ZZ-\EHHRE  2018interim dividend (1,920,308) - - - (1920308)
BIIHRG Issue of new Shares 4,140,000 - - - 4,140,000
BITHR AL A Issue costs of new Shares 4,721) - - - (@,721)
RZE-N\F At 31 December 2018
+-A=1+—H 5,623,939 (139,206) 380,464 (753,125) 5,112,072
—2—- \FER
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
—E—MFE —ZE-—HF T-—RFE —T—LtF ZB-N\F
FHET FET FET FET TR
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
E4 RESULTS
BT Turnover 32,668,910 26,778,671 25,647,464 29,958,428 38,791,470
RNNEEE AFERSE  Profit for the year
& attributable to owners of
the Company 4,206,393 1,014,969 1,325,855 3,616,742 7,975,439
—T-mF ZT-HF ZT—RF ZT—+tF ZB-N\E
FHET FET FET FHET TR
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BE ASSETS
EEEE Fixed assets 33,271,505 31,596,192 29,783,669 30,902,575 28,489,788
ENHERA Prepaid lease payments 2,787,164 2,905,451 2,674,723 2,816,137 2,846,024
BEME Investment properties 91,000 108,346 112,499 131,176 137,761
BEEE Intangible assets 2,272,345 2,394,503 2,263,684 2335214 2,197,455
REE N BIRER Interests in associates 3,284,186 5,620,142 5,212,992 5,535,302 5,463,446
AE LR BN ER Interests in joint ventures 1,594,566 1,542,839 1,484,271 1,425,223 1,409,378
BERETEES  Deposits for acquisition of
fixed assets 1,569,504 1,625,731 752,008 706,307 497,157
BERBEE Deferred tax assets 104,252 365,030 325,525 256,361 208,358
REIE YA Long term receivables 615,166 662,115 440,901 464,008 354,740
DEMRITER Pledged bank deposits 20,558 24,729 32,368 59,250 80,089
MEEE Current assets 11,926,841 7,371,622 9073871 11895049 18,822,186
BEBR Total assets 57,537,087 54216750 52,156,511 56,526,602 60,506,382
=N LIABILITIES
PEINENE Current liabilities 13,130,495 13,402,104 14,816,834 15,356,933 14,272,804
e EIN=N Non-current liabilities 15,691,444 13,828,969 11,087,808 10,687,228 8,338,416
aEeH Total liabilities 28,821,939 27,231,073 25,904,642 26,044,161 22,611,220
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This annual report, in both English and Chinese versions, is available on the Company’s official website for corporate
communications at www.irasia.com/listco/hk/crcement/index.htm (the “Company’s Official Website”).

Shareholders who have chosen or have been deemed consented to receive the corporate communications of the
Company (the “Corporate Communications”) via the Company’s Official Website and who for any reason have
difficulty in receiving or gaining access to the annual report posted on the Company’s Official Website will promptly
upon request be sent the annual report in printed form free of charge.

Shareholders may at any time change their choice of the means of receipt (either in printed form or via the
Company’s Official Website) of Corporate Communications.

Shareholders may send their request to receive the annual report in printed form, and/or to change their choice of
the means of receipt of Corporate Communications by notice in writing to the share registrar of the Company, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong or by sending an email
to the share registrar of the Company at crcement1313-ecom@hk.tricorglobal.com.
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